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Founded in 2001 and listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in 2010, Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. (“Sihuan Pharmaceutical”
or the “"Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (Stock Code:
00460.HK) is an international medical aesthetic and biopharmaceutical company
led and driven by innovation, with a leading independent production, and research
and development (“R&D") technology platform, a rich global product pipeline and a
mature and excellent sales system. Focusing on high-growth therapeutic areas such as
medical aesthetics, oncology, metabolism, diabetes, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular,
modern Chinese medicine and industrial hemp, it adheres to its overall strategic
objective of “Adhering to the full-speed promotion of a two-wheeled strategy of Sihuan
medical aesthetics and biopharmaceuticals” to build a leading medical aesthetics and
biopharmaceutical enterprise in China.



S
CONTENTS

2 REVER 115 BUREBMHRE
Corporate Information Independent Auditor’s Report

4 BREBR 122 BABIRAMZEKRSS
Milestones Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

16 518 Other Comprehensive Income
Awards 124 HZEMBRRE

21 B fi s I Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Financial Summary 126 AR EHE

22 FREgE Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Chairman’s Statement 128 #HREHRLRER

26 SR B RO Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Management Discussion and Analysis 130 BFISERERMIGE

57 EEERE Notes to the Financial Statements
Biographical Details of Directors 280 WIEFE

62 DsasapL Particulars of Properties

Corporate Governance Report

88 BBEEWRE

Report of Directors

O GREER)

Xuanzhu Biopharm

S EREEH000

SonpEBn
20mg (RCaHaNOSH) ‘/\7

° ﬁmim)rﬁt«wﬁnum

99 =

s 9 RARHR 1831 e TRABMIED) S ‘
= ineparide Nateate Injects | T
. ! ‘
- . g




NAEIE R

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Exg((Esg))
HITES

BB ()

i A (BIE ARITRABRD)
Fompee

EREL T BITRERREEHHE)
AR L

BYFHTES
W
R
EmsE

BERNAIME
AR KL
FAEE
REAXR
mAR L
FRAEE
EREES

BENLLE(ZE)
KA E L
TEELE

YMWEES

L ENE)
TEFEE
EE T
TELLE

REZEE
EBEL ()
9545 25

EE T
SRR L

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD")

Executive Directors

Dr. Che Fengsheng (Chairman)

Dr. Guo Weicheng (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEOQ"))
Dr. Zhang Jionglong

Ms. Miao Guili (Deputy CEO and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO"))

Ms. Chen Yanling

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong
Dr. Zhu Xun
Mr. Wang Guan

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Chen Yanling
Mr. Li Kin Wai

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Chen Yanling
Mr. Li Kin Wai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong (Chairman)
Dr. Zhu Xun
Mr. Wang Guan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Zhu Xun (Chairman)
Dr. Che Fengsheng

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong
Mr. Wang Guan

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Guan (Chairman)
Dr. Guo Weicheng

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong

Dr. Zhu Xun

2 PO 35 58 ZEPR AR = B 5 fR 2 & SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



EREEZEES

A L (BRER)
SRBLL (BREER)
ST

EE L

38 3 1% BUED

KB ET A E AT

BRI AR AT Fas B B2 AT
&8 R0H

EEBI7IH

RN — 2718

A MEE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda
ERTELEME
BAELT

PR IE 1 5%
TRESHAKNEL0S5E

FTERODEBFETE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

EBEROBFERLIE
BEBEFELERAA
BEBERIE 165
ERSEFPOT7IE

4 ut

www.sihuanpharm.com

IR A7 X 5%

0460

NREF
CORPORATE INFORMATION

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Ms. Chen Yanling (Co-chairman)
Ms. Miao Guili (Co-chairman)
Dr. Guo Weicheng

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest Entity Audlitor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 4905, Office Tower, Convention Plaza
1 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.sihuanpharm.com

STOCK CODE

0460

FE S ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3



LRER
MILESTONES

—ZE-M 2024

TECNFE+ A ERBEREAR
NE (T2 ) 2 6003 57 A SR IR
EFEE AR - B EYR
ERHARAR (EFAEW]) FEH
SGLT-2 1 1I ) 1) 7 %% i & B2 A0 A% 510
MBHMAKBERERBRRRE  TER
BAMES R EERE 8 (2024 5)) (B
( RER B (2024F) 1) - bR
BIZR B (R B 8% (2024 ) - IR E @
E’am%%ﬁ BAMREMBERL YA
NAEBELERBTE - 550 R
FFRE A RRIE A B R R 18
(2024HR)) » 3 — HEHREE T INAR 5 F £
HERBABEP A FER - AR E
THEEMMIBEE X -

77fﬂi+ A B EmEIERE
EHEYMBEARAR ((REAZED)
Wiﬁimﬁﬁmﬁﬂt$YWWﬁf
(R ATRE] W& BGLP-1 2888
AR ERBIOLGRERBRRES
E-BLEZZ_MNFNAR  ZERM
ERRECETREREREEERER
((BEREER AR - 22ERRiE
JEAE B FERK I ERBR R AR © REEEER(E
BRAEH R IR R EEBRET
M&ﬁﬂiw EBETEHEANRERE
EHBELEEEYE BRERLA -
BEE - ImIfEﬁmﬁﬁﬂF@
RIT - BREEIN=FHBOHETRM@E -

TEINET R RESFHETEYD
RO BRAR (THTEND I RE
BBAXZMARLA (B R
B ETEHAR - B PTE R
AETREN T - AKEMRE AR
FORBEIRCEHMENE TR
BYAHENERERLCFERR A
BEREABERBEEARTS WG
METEMNMBEEEEL IR AEEE
SNEBE R HIEE T A E EBHRE
BEMERLER-

MEREEZEREERFR

In December 2024, Cefoperazone Sodium and Sulbactam Sodium for Injection/
Sodium Chloride Injection developed by Beijing Ruiye Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Beijing Ruiye"”), and SGLT-2 inhibitor innovative drug Proline Ganagliflozin
tablets developed by Huisheng Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Huisheng
Biopharm”), had been newly added into the National Basic Medical Insurance,
Work-related Injury Insurance and Maternity Insurance (2024) (B4 ZR & 7 £ &
R THREBEFMES R SR B 8 (20244))) ("National Reimbursement
Drug List (2024)"). The inclusion in the National Reimbursement Drug List
(2024) is expected to accelerate market penetration of these products, facilitate
their commercialisation, and have a positive impact on the Company’s financial
performance. Additionally, Ganagliflozin was successfully included in China’s
Guidelines for the Prevention and Treatment of Diabetes (2024) during the Year,
further solidifying its role and significance in diabetes treatment while enhancing
sales and its market share.

In November 2024, Huisheng Biopharm and Beijing Meiyan Space Biomedical
Co., Ltd. ("Meiyan Space”) reached an exclusive authorization cooperation for
the long-acting GLP-1 receptor agonist Semaglutide Injection for the indication
of overweight or obesity (“Weight Loss"”) developed by Huisheng Biopharm.
By the end of August 2024, the product has been approved for clinical trial by
the National Medical Products Administration (“NMPA") of the PRC for Weight
Loss indication. The phase Ill clinical enroliment for type 2 diabetes has been
completed. The Group firmly believes that this cooperation will have a positive
impact on enhancing the overall competitiveness of the Group, as well as the
corporate value of Huisheng Biopharm and Meiyan Space respectively, achieving
resource sharing and complementary advantages, and bringing substantial
progress and value enhancement, and ultimately achieving a win-win situation for
all three parties.

In November 2024, the proposed spin-off and separate listing of the H shares of
Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Xuanzhu Biopharm") on the main board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Stock
Exchange has confirmed that the Company may proceed with the proposed spin-
off. The Group believes that the proposed spin-off will further position Xuanzhu
Biopharm as an independent innovative drug R&D and industrialization platform
company with direct access to the debt and equity capital markets, thereby
increasing the financial flexibility of Xuanzhu Biopharm and enhancing its ability
to raise external funds to support the rapid growth and industrialization of its
business.

A &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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In September 2024, the Group entered into the exclusive distribution agreement
with the Korean biopharmaceutical company Hugel, Inc. (“Hugel”) for type A
botulinum toxin for injection (brand name: Letybo®, dose: 100U and 50U), as
confirmed by both parties of the agreement, was renewed until the end of the
year 2030. The Group believes that the close strategic cooperation with Hugel
will help maximize the value for shareholders of both parties, while the Group is
confident that together with Hugel, we will achieve the goal of building Letybo®
into a leading botulinum toxin brand in China in the near future.

In August 2024, the long-acting GLP-1 receptor agonist Semaglutide Injection
for the indication of Weight Loss developed by Huisheng Biopharm obtained
Investigational New Drug (the “IND") approval granted by the NMPA. This is
the second indication of the product approved for clinical trials, following an
indication for glycemic control in adult patients with type 2 diabetes. The product
is also the first Weight Loss drug to obtain IND approval from Huisheng Biopharm.
Semaglutide Injection is currently the largest single product in the field of Weight
Loss.

In August 2024, Insulin Degludec Injection (trade name: Huiyouda), developed by
Huisheng Biopharm, obtained drug registration approval from the NMPA for the
treatment of adult type 2 diabetes. The product is the first domestic biosimilar
of Insulin Degludec Injection that was approved for launch after the original
drug Tresiba®. Diabetes is the key deployment area of Huisheng Biopharm. The
approval for the Insulin Degludec Injection by the NMPA will provide a high-
quality and cost-effective domestically produced glucose control drug for doctors
and patients.

As announced in August 2024, Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection (trade
name: Huiyoujia), developed by Huisheng Biopharm, obtained drug registration
approval from the NMPA for the treatment of adult type 2 diabetes. It is the first
domestic biosimilar of Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection that was
approved for launch after Novo Nordisk’s original drug in China. Insulin Degludec
and Insulin Aspart Injection is a Class B drug under the National Reimbursement
Drug List. The Group believes that the registration approval of the listing of the
product will provide a high-quality and cost-effective domestically produced
glucose control drug for doctors and patients.

FE S ANNUAL REPORT 2024 5
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In August 2024, the Group reached an exclusive distribution agreement in relation
to CartiZol, an intra-articular injection using collagen, with Cellontech Korea,
and obtained the exclusive distribution rights for the product in Mainland China.
CartiZol is the first intra-articular injection using collagen approved in South Korea.
The product can effectively reduce the symptoms of joint swelling and pain, help
repair damaged joints and inhibit inflammation. As there is no intra-articular
injection using collagen approved or under approval in China, the product has
great potential in the osteoarthritis market in China in the future.

In June 2024, Calcium Dobesilate Capsules developed by Huisheng Biopharm
obtained drug registration approval from the NMPA. It is deemed as passing the
consistency evaluation on the quality and efficacy of generic drugs.

In June 2024, Xuanzhu Biopharm and Livzon Group Livzon Pharmaceutical
Factory, a subsidiary of Livzon Pharmaceutical Group Inc. (stock code: 000513.
SZ; 01513.HK), reached an exclusive licensing cooperation on Fadanafil (product
code: XZP-5849), which is a high selectivity phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5) inhibitor,
and independently developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm. According to the licensing
agreement, Livzon Pharma will obtain the exclusive development, manufacture,
and commercialization rights for the Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (API)
and formulations of Fadanafil (XZP-5849) in the Greater China region and non-
regulatory market regions. Xuanzhu Biopharm will retain the development,
manufacture, and commercialization rights of Fadanafil in Europe, the United
States, Canada, Japan, South Korea, Australia, and Brazil. Xuanzhu Biopharm will
receive an upfront payment and has the right to receive milestone payments and
post-marketed tiered franchise sales share.

As announced in May 2024, Dexitinib tablets, which is an anti-tumor class 1
innovative drug independently developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm, submitted a
New Drug Application (“NDA") to the NMPA and was accepted. It is indicated for
the treatment of patients with anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)-positive, locally
advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

VO IR B8 G2 A &2 B B R 2 &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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In April 2024, Huisheng Biopharm participated in the application for the National
Centralized Procurement of Pharmaceuticals (specialising renewal in insulin)
organized by the National Organization Joint Office for Centralized Procurement
of Pharmaceuticals. Three products developed by Huisheng Biopharm, including
Insulin Aspart Injection, Insulin Aspart 30 Injection and Insulin Aspart 50 Injection,
obtained the qualification in the specialising renewal in insulin procurement, and
were proposed to be selected as Class A. The centralized procurement cycle for
insulin is from the date of execution of the selection results to 31 December,
2027. The Insulin Aspart Injection, Insulin Aspart 30 Injection, and Insulin Aspart
50 Injection developed by Huisheng Biopharm were approved for launch by the
NMPA on 26 December, 2023. As a new entrant, this centralized procurement
will benefit the sales of Huisheng Biopharm’s insulin analogues, accelerate product
access, increase market share, and have a positive impact on enhancing Huisheng
Biopharm’s brand influence and future long-term development. Meanwhile, it will
further improve the accessibility of insulin drugs.

In March 2024, the Sylfirm X, a dual-wave radio frequency (RF) treatment device,
which is exclusively distributed by the Group and produced by VIOL Korea,
obtained a Class Ill medical device registration certificate from the NMPA. Sylfirm
X is the world’s first FDA and NMPA registered dual wave RF treatment device.
It can effectively reduce skin wrinkles and treat atrophic acne scars by emitting
high-frequency electrical currents to induce coagulation of skin tissues.

In January 2024, Proline Ganagliflozin tablets (trade name: Huiyoujing), an
SGLT-2 inhibitor and national Class 1 innovative drug, developed by Huisheng
Biopharm, obtained drug registration approval from the NMPA for the treatment
of type 2 diabetes. This is the second self-developed SGLT-2 inhibitor innovative
drug approved in China, which marks the breakthrough progress of Huisheng
Biopharm in the R&D of innovative drugs in the field of diabetes treatment.

In 2024, the Group had a total of 12 generic drugs obtained drug registration
approvals from the NMPA, including cardiovascular and cerebrovascular drugs
such as Ticagrelor Orodispersible Tablets, Rivaroxaban Tablets (new strength:
2.5mg, the third domestically produced), and Dabigatran Etexilate Capsules;
digestive drugs such as Aprepitant Capsules; and neuropsychiatric drugs such as
Rocuronium Bromide Injection. Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular therapeutics
remain-a key focus area for the Group. The approval of these new products
will further benefit a wide range of patients, enhancing drug accessibility,
while enriching the Group’s product portfolio and strengthening its market
competitiveness.

FZ#HE ANNUAL REPORT 2024 7
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In December 2023, Cefodizime Sodium for Injection/Sodium Chloride Injection,
Cefodizime Sodium for Injection/5% Glucose Injection, Cefoxitin Sodium for
Injection/Sodium Chloride Injection and Cefmetazole Sodium for Injection/
Sodium Chloride Injection, four non-PVC solid-liquid dual chamber bag products
developed by Beijing Ruiye, were newly included in the National Reimbursement
Drug List (2023 Edition). Their inclusion in the National Reimbursement Drug List
will increase patients’ willingness to use the products and enhance the market
penetration of dual chamber bag products in China, thus leading to a rapid
increase in sales and a positive impact on the Company’s performance.

In December 2023, the proton-pump inhibitor (PPI) innovative drug Anjiuwei®
(Anaprazole Sodium Enteric-coated Tablets) independently developed by Xuanzhu
Biopharm was included in the National Reimbursement Drug List (2023 Edition).

In December 2023, Insulin Aspart Injection, Insulin Aspart 30 Injection and Insulin
Aspart 50 Injection developed by Huisheng Biopharm obtained NDA approval
from the NMPA. As Huisheng Biopharm’s first insulin (analog) drug that obtained
NDA approval, it will meet the clinical needs of different insulin treatment options
for diabetic patients.

In October 2023, the NDA of Bireociclib monotherapy for HR+/HER2- advanced
breast cancer that has progressed after multi-line treatment (including endocrine
therapy and chemotherapy), developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm, was accepted by
the NMPA, and is expected to become the first and only monotherapy posterior
line treatment with CDK4/6 inhibitor that is effective in patients with HR+/HER2-
advanced breast cancer in China. The phase Il clinical study results of Bireociclib
monotherapy were selected by the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO)
Congress for poster presentation. This was the second time the clinical study
results of Bireociclib monotherapy were presented in an international academic
conference since the 2023 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) Annual
Meeting held in June, which indicates that the clinical study results of Bireociclib
are recognized by international and authoritative academic institutions.

In September 2023, the NDA of Bireociclib (a Class 1 new drug independently
developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm) in combination with fulvestrant for the
treatment of HR+/HER2- advanced breast cancer that has progressed on previous
endocrine therapy was accepted by the NMPA.

VO IR B8 G2 A &2 B B R 2 &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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In July 2023, the Semaglutide Injection developed by Huisheng Biopharm obtained
approval from the NMPA to initiate clinical studies for the treatment of type 2
diabetes. Clinical phases | and Il are being carried out simultaneously. Clinical
studies have been initiated. It was Huisheng Biopharm’s first GLP-1 analog drug to
obtain clinical approval.

In June 2023, the proton pump inhibitor (PPI) Anaprazole Sodium Enteric-coated
Tablets independently developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm obtained drug registration
approval from the NMPA for the treatment of duodenal ulcer (DU). Anaprazole
Sodium is the first and only PPI fully independently developed in China. It was also
Xuanzhu Biopharm's first drug to obtain NDA approval.

The phase Il clinical results of Bireociclib, a Class 1 new drug under development,
were submitted to the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) in February
2023, accepted by ASCO in April, and selected for presentation in the Poster
Session during the 2023 ASCO Annual Meeting held in June.

In June 2023, the drugs Mecobalamin Tablets and Thioctic Acid Injection for the
treatment of peripheral neuropathy and the DPP-4 inhibitor Sitagliptin Phosphate
Tablets for the treatment of type 2 diabetes, developed by Huisheng Biopharm,
obtained drug registration approvals from the NMPA.

In May 2023, the NDA of the Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection
developed by Huisheng Biopharm was accepted by the NMPA. It was the first
biosimilar of insulin degludec and insulin aspart whose NDA was submitted and
accepted in China.

In January 2023, our exclusive products including the Midazolam Oromucosal

Solution and two non-PVC solid-liquid dual chamber bag products were included
in the National Reimbursement Drug List (2022 Edition).
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2022

In response to the changes in the market, industry and policies, and to face
the challenges brought by the development, the Group, following a review
of its business layout and medium- and long-term strategic development
direction, intends to divest and dispose of some generic drugs that do not meet
performance expectations or do not meet long-term strategic development
objectives and other non-core pharmaceutical or healthcare businesses and assets.
Through the reorganization and integration of key businesses and the separation
of non-core businesses, the Group is able to focus more resources on two major
strategic segments, namely the medical aesthetics and biopharmaceuticals and
enhance the efficiency of resource allocation.

The modified sodium hyaluronate gel for injection (product name: Persnica™),
which is exclusively distributed by the Group, obtained Class Il medical device
registration certificate from the NMPA.

Meiyan Space entered into an exclusive distribution agreement in relation to
skin booster injection CELLBOOSTER® series products with SUISSELLE SA from
Switzerland, and obtained the exclusive distribution rights for the products in
mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. Four skin booster injection
products of CELLBOOSTER® series, which is exclusively distributed by the Group.

Meiyan Space has signed an agreement with Bluepha Co., Ltd. on 19 January
2022, whereby the two parties will establish a joint venture to jointly develop
PHA microspheres and bio-manufacturing-based regenerative medical materials,
and the two parties will jointly complete the R&D, compliance declaration and
subsequent commercial promotion of the products.

Meiyan Space entered into an exclusive distribution agreement in relation to
SYLFIRM X™ (golden microneedle) product with South Korea VIOL Co., Ltd.,
and obtained the exclusive distribution rights for the products in mainland
China, Hong Kong and Macau, marking the first layout of the Group in the
optoelectronic equipment market was implemented.
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A total of 20 products independently developed by Meiyan Space obtained the
medical device registration certificate, including self-developed medical skin care
gel and medical skin repair gel, three self-developed recombinant type Ill collagen
gel accessories, three self-developed medical scar repair products, eight self-
developed gynecological dressing products and four self-developed medical skin
care dressing products.

The IND application of phase Il clinical trials for the treatment by Xuanzhu
Biopharm’s self-developed Anaprazole Sodium Enteric Dissolve Tablets for new
indication of reflux esophagitis (RE) in adults and the control of its associated
symptoms (acid reflux, heartburn, retrosternal pain or discomfort, belching reflux,
etc.) has been accepted by the NMPA.

Xuanzhu Biopharm and Shanghai SPH New Asia Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
("New Asia Pharmaceutical”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Pharma"”), reached an
agreement on exclusive license of active pharmaceutical ingredients (“APIs") and
formulations of two new anti-infection drugs, Benapenem and Plazomicin in the
Greater China Territory (including Mainland China, Hong Kong SAR, Macau SAR
and Taiwan) (“Greater China Region”).

Huisheng Biopharm successfully completed its Round A+ financing of RMB580
million and Round A financing of RMB500 million, with a post-investment
valuation of RMB5.58 billion.

Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. was included in the Hong Kong Stock
Connect list under the Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect.

2021

The Group has officially launched and sold its exclusive Korean botulinum toxin
product Letybo® 100U.

PLLA gel (product name: Karlian) (2ml/unit), which is independently R&D
and manufactured by the Group, has formally obtained the medical device

manufacturing license approval from the NMPA.

Acquisition of all equity interests in Genesis Biosystems, Inc. (“Genesis").
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Xuanzhu Biopharm, a holding subsidiary of the Group, completed a Series B
financing of over RMB600 million.

Two indications of Bireociclib, a Class 1 innovative drug for the treatment of
breast cancer, were approved by the NMPA for starting phase lll clinical trials.

Xuanzhu Biopharm and SignalChem Lifesciences Corporation (“SignalChem”)
have entered into a cooperation and licensing agreement for the development
and commercialization interests of SLC-391, a highly potent and highly selective
AXL targeting inhibitor, in the Greater China region. The Group obtained the
exclusive research, development, manufacture and commercialization rights for
each indication of SLC-391 in the field of oncology in the Greater China region
(Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan).

On 26 January 2021, the Group accelerated its integration in innovation layout,
and its subsidiary Xuanzhu Biopharm completed the acquisition of Beijing Combio
Pharmaceutical Inc. (“Combio Pharmaceutical”), an innovation-driven biological
company.

2020

Commencement of Phase Il clinical trial in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") for self-developed innovative patented drug “Anaprazole Sodium” and
inclusion of “Huineng®"” into the National Reimbursement Drug List.

Acquisition of all interests and intellectual property rights of plazomicin, a new
generation of aminoglycoside antibiotics in the Greater China Region.

Capital injection by new investors into Beijing Ruiye (an associate of Sihuan
Pharmaceutical) to accelerate capacity expansion.

Official release of the result of large scale clinical trials after the launch of
cinepazide maleate injection which takes stroke treatment into a new era with its
verified efficacy.

Discloseable transaction — subscription by investment funds under CMG-SDIC
Capital Co., Ltd. in Xuanzhu (Shijiazhuang) Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

Investment in Ascendum Capital Life Technology Fund Phase I.

Approval to launch the Group’s exclusive Korean botulinum toxin product
“Letybo®” in the PRC market.
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2019

The first self-developed anti-diabetic innovative patented new drug janagliflozin
commenced Phase lll clinical trials in China.

The first company in China that has been granted drug registration approval
for “Non-PVC solid-liquid double chamber bag for ceftazidime/sodium chloride
injection”, “Non-PVC solid-liquid double chamber bag for cefodizime sodium/5%
glucose injection”, “Non-PVC solid-liquid double chamber bag for cefodizime
sodium/sodium chloride injection”, and “Non-PVC solid-liquid double chamber
bag for cefuroxime sodium/sodium chloride injection”.

Acquired Phase | to Ill clinical trial approval for the third generation of EGFR
inhibitor XZP-5809.

Post-launch large-scale clinical trials of cinepazide maleate injection were
completed with efficacy verified.

2018

Three self-developed innovative drugs commenced Phase | clinical trials in China,
including selective CDK4/6 inhibitor Bireociclib, third-generation irreversible
tyrosine kinase inhibitor XZP-3621, and PDE-5 inhibitor fadanafil.

2017

Acquired 100% equity interest in Ambest Pharmaceutical (China) Company
Limited (“Ambest Pharmaceutical (China)”) which currently holds the drug
production approvals for monoammonium glycyrrhizinate and cysteine and
sodium chloride injection and floium ginkgo extract with the brand name
“Huineng” and tertram ethypyrazine sodium chloride injection with the brand
name “Mainuokang”.

Established joint venture company (“JV") with Austria-based pharmaceutical
company CROMA-Pharma GmbH (“Croma-Pharma”), expanding into the
aesthetic medicine market in China.

The Croma hyaluronic acid the Group distribute was launched on the market.

The NMPA granted approval of Phase I-lIl clinical trials for “Bireociclib”, a self-
developed innovative patented new drug.
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2016

. The NMPA granted approval for clinical trials of self-developed new drug
janagliflozin for diabetes treatment.

. The NMPA granted approval for Phase I/Il/lIl clinical trials of self-developed
innovative patent new drugs, fadanafil.

2015

o Acquired 39% equity interest in Beijing Ruiye to enrich and expand the Group’s
product resources.

. Phase | clinical trial of Bireociclib, the first self-developed innovative patented
oncology drug commenced in the U.S. The NMPA granted approval of Phase I/II/lll
clinical trials of pirotinib.

2014

o Signed exclusive distribution agreement with South Korean Hugel Inc. on
botulinum toxin and hyaluronic acid products.

o The IND application of Bireociclib was successfully submitted to the U.S. FDA and
the clinical trial approval was granted.

o The application for clinical trial approval of janagliflozin (the self-developed
innovative anti-diabetic drug) was accepted by the NMPA.

o Established cooperation with Chongging Peg-Bio Biotechnology Co., Ltd for
development of insulin products.

2013

o Obtained clinical trial approval for innovative patent drugs anaprazole sodium.

2012

° Acquired the remaining 40% equity interest in Shandong Xuanzhu Pharma Co.,
Ltd. which then became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

2011

o Acquired Jilin Sihuan which owns three exclusive drug products and various
exclusive drug formulations mainly focused on CCV diseases.

° Acquired 80% equity interest in Changchun Xiangtong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Changchun Xiangtong”) which owns both the manufacturing facility and
production license of APIs.
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2010

Listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 28 October 2010.

Ranked No. 4 in the Forbes 2010 list of the most promising enterprises in the PRC

and No. 1 among pharmaceutical companies.
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”2024 ESG Innovation Award” at the 14th China
Philanthropy Festival and ESG Summit

In January 2025, the 14th China Philanthropy Festival and ESG Summit, jointly organized by Syobserve.
com, Gongyi Daily and numerous media outlets, was held in Beijing. Sihuan Pharmaceutical was
awarded the “2024 ESG Innovation Award”. Sihuan Pharmaceutical has always attached great
importance to ESG management, integrating the concepts of sustainable development into its strategic
decision-making and daily operations while actively fulfilling social responsibilities and giving back to
society in diverse methods. The accolade motivates the Group to continue to deepen its strategies for
sustainable development and strive to achieve even higher standards.

The theme of the summit focused on ESG and sustainable development, honoring the leaders of public
welfare and ESG and creating a sustainable future together. It is a highly influential annual event in the
fields of public welfare and ESG in China. After winning the “ESG Pioneer Enterprise Award” in 2023,
Sihuan Pharmaceutical won the “2024 ESG Innovation Award” again at the summit, demonstrating the
widespread recognition of the achievements in Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s ESG efforts by social media and
industry experts.
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“2024 ESG Exemplary Enterprise Award” at the 3rd
International Green Zero Carbon Festival

In July 2024, the 3rd International Green Zero Carbon Festival 2024 and the 2024 ESG Leaders
Summit, jointly organized by Syobserve.com, Gongyi Daily as well as numerous public and financial
media outlets, was held in Beijing. Sihuan Pharmaceutical was awarded the “2024 ESG Exemplary
Enterprise Award”, which is another accolade for Sihuan Pharmaceutical Group after winning the ESG
Pioneer Award in January 2024, fully demonstrating another recognition and affirmation of Sihuan
Pharmaceutical’s ESG efforts from the society and the capital market.

Sihuan Pharmaceutical has always firmly adhered to the goal of green and sustainable development,
actively practicing ESG (Environment, Social and Corporate Governance) concepts and fully
integrating environmental, corporate, social responsibility factors into various operational tasks of
the organization. Through vigorous R&D innovation, continuous process optimization and proactive
technological improvements, Sihuan Pharmaceutical has successfully achieved energy conservation
and emission reduction in various aspects, effectively lowering energy consumption. In the future,
Sihuan Pharmaceutical will continue to uphold its founding mission, and realize ESG concepts with
higher standards and greater resolve to further contribute to the promotion of green and sustainable
development in the global economy.
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"Outstanding Enterprise in ESG Innovation and Practice”
of Gelonghui Jinge Awards

"Transformation Pioneer Enterprise of the Year” of
Gelonghui Jinge Awards

In June 2024, the prestigious 2024 “Jinge Awards"” ESG list initiated by Gelonghui was released. Sihuan
Pharmaceutical won the “Gelonghui Jinge Awards — Outstanding Enterprise in ESG Innovation and
Practice”. Under the general backdrop of globalization and sustainable development, ESG standards have
become critical indicators for assessing corporate social responsibility and long-term value. The Gelonghui
ESG Jinge Awards aims to reward companies that have made outstanding contributions to sustainable
development and ESG (Environment, Social and Corporate Governance) performances. This time, Sihuan
Pharmaceutical was awarded the “Gelonghui Jinge Awards — Outstanding Enterprise in ESG Innovation
and Practice”, which fully recognizes the achievements of Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s ESG efforts.

In December 2024, the “Gelonghui ® Global Investment Carnival 2025"” was commenced. In the
highly regarded Gelonghui “Jinge Awards” — selection of the outstanding listed company in Greater
China Region, Sihuan Pharmaceutical won the “Transformation Pioneer Enterprise of the Year” award.
The “Transformation Pioneer Enterprise of the Year” award focuses on the enterprise’s adaptability
to dynamic environmental changes and its ability to achieve long-term sustainable and high-quality
development; the winner is also a leading enterprise that has truly created value and maintained
innovative vitality through transformation and have had a positive impact on industrial upgrading. The
award recognizes companies with outstanding financial performance, innovation and resilience, as well
as social and economic benefits.
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2024 Top 100 Chinese Pharmaceutical Innovative
Enterprises by Healthcare Executives

In November 2024, the “2024 Top 100 Chinese Pharmaceutical Innovative Enterprises” list selected
by Healthcare Executives has been released. Based on the “three dimensions and four indicators”
selection system, the “Top 100 Chinese Pharmaceutical Innovative Enterprises” are selected every
year as the first camp to represent China‘’s pharmaceutical innovation capabilities. They are a major
force in the transformation and upgrading of China’s pharmaceutical industry and the building of its
competitiveness. They also provide experience and benchmarks for the future generations to learn
from. The fact that Sihuan Pharmaceutical has been ranked in the list for its exceptional R&D capabilities
and innovation ability, represents to a certain extent that its comprehensive strength and competitive
advantages in the innovative drug field have been recognized by the market, and that it has potential
for sustainable development and good investment prospects.
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“Future Healthcare Industry Star Listed Company of
the Year 2024” at the China Listed Company Industry
Development Forum

In June 2024, the second China Listed Company Industry Development Forum was convened in Hefei.
Sihuan Pharmaceutical received the “Future Healthcare Industry Star Listed Company” award of the
year 2024 from the organizing committee, which demonstrated the capital market’s high recognition
of Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s outstanding performance and strong development potential in the
pharmaceutical field.
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“Best Innovation and Practice” Award at the 2024 Listed
Company Selection of Comein Finance

In December 2024, Comein Finance officially released the “2024 Listed Company Section e Annual
Investor Relations Data List”. The results were based on the multi-dimensional investor relations data
aggregated by its platform and combined with the capital market performance statistics of listed
companies. Sihuan Pharmaceutical Group was awarded the title of “Best Innovation and Practice”

for its exceptional performance in investor relations management practices. The “Best Innovation
and Practice” award fully reflected the high recognition of Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s efforts in investor
relations management by the industry and investors.
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“Most Valuable Pharmaceutical and Medical Company”
at the 9th Zhitong Finance Listed Company Selection

In December 2024, Sihuan Pharmaceutical was awarded the “Most Valuable Pharmaceutical and
Medical Company” award at the “9th Zhitong Finance Capital Market Annual Conference” organized
by Zhitong Finance. This award not only demonstrated the great attention from the industry and
investors, but also fully acknowledged the dual engine strategy of “medical aesthetics + innovative
drugs” forged by Sihuan Pharmaceutical. At the same time, it reflected the high recognition of the
Company’s future development potential by the capital market.
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“Annual Drug Innovation Achievement Award” of the
Securities Time

In June 2024, the Class 1 innovative drug Anaprazole Sodium Enteric-coated Tablets (Anjiuwei®)
independently developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm, a subsidiary of Sihuan Pharmaceutical, was awarded
the “Annual Drug Innovation Achievement Award” at the “2024 Biopharmaceutical Innovation
Forum and the 4th Drug Innovation Award Selection Ceremony” organized by the Securities Times.
This award demonstrated the full acknowledgement of Xuanzhu Biopharm’s innovative ability in the
biopharmaceutical field by industry experts and the media.
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Brand Enterprise of the MCC2024 China Medical
Aesthetic EQuipment Annual Selection

In December 2024, the MCC Year-End Gala/the 2nd International Medical Aesthetic Equipment
Conference was held in Guangzhou. The main theme of this conference is “Compliance first,
Innovation driven”, with the pathway of “Continuously driving the industrialization, scalability and
globalization of high-end medical aesthetic equipment”. In the “2024 Medical Aesthetic Equipment
Annual Series Selection”, Sihuan Pharmaceutical won the “Annual Brand Enterprise” award, which not
only acknowledged the technical capabilities of Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s medical aesthetics business,
but also recognized its innovation.
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“Specialized and Sophisticated Small and Medium

Enterprise of Shandong Province” bY the Department

gf Industry and Information Technology of Shandong
rovince

“High and New Technologx Enterprise” by the Beijing

Municipal Science and Tec nologyéc_g_mmlssm_n,_ Beijing

gllun_mpal Bureau of Finance and Beijing Municipal Tax
ervice

In June 2024, Xuanzhu Biopharm, a subsidiary of Sihuan Pharmaceutical, was shortlisted into the
2024 list of “Specialized and Sophisticated” Small and Medium Enterprises in Shandong Province,
published by the Department of Industry and Information Technology of Shandong Province. The
title of “Specialized and Sophisticated” Small and Medium Enterprise is a high recognition of the
specialized, refined, distinctive and innovative developments of Xuanzhu Biopharm. Xuanzhu Biopharm
utilizes its professionalism to deeply cultivate segmented fields, enhancing operational efficiency with
fine management, meeting market demands with distinctive products, and leading industry trends with
new technologies, all of which showcase Xuanzhu Biopharm'’s exceptional capabilities and profound
knowledge of innovative R&D, product quality, field cultivation, fine management, distinctive products
and services, as well as new technology leadership.

In October 2024, Xuanzhu Biopharm, was recognized as a “High and New Technology Enterprise” by
the Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission, Beijing Municipal Bureau of Finance and
Beijing Municipal Tax Service. The title of “High and New Technology Enterprise” is a high recognition
of the comprehensive capabilities of Xuanzhu Biopharm, and an affirmation of Xuanzhu Biopharm in
terms of technological innovation and technical R&D.
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
ARETT ARBTIT AREBTT ARETT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
REXE Operating results
ez Revenue 2,464,226 3,038,391* 2,181,189 1,860,539 1,901,109
EF Gross profit 1,914,449 2,430,488*"  1,487,581* 1,295,644 1,241,710
MR EFAERS Research and development expenses 729,157* 868,069*" 936,581* 577,656 473,925
mEmEN, (E18) Operating profit/(loss) 787,125¢ 771,945%  (1,830,727)* 161,698 (138,131)
BREATE R, (B18) Profit/(loss) before tax 765,844* 496,013*  (2,122,778)* (161,260) (428,288)
KRRHEE AEL Profit/(loss) attributable to
wFl (E18) owners of the Company 502,569* 422,865**  (1,949,590)" (54,017) (216,662)
EEMRR Asset status
BEE Total assets 13,043,926 14,495,623 12,140,551 11,535,430 10,531,517
RAREREEA Equity attributable to equity
FE 7 owners of the Company 9,190,342 8,284,148 4,736,998 4,432,130 4,372,258
BmAaR Total liabilities 3,095,201 5,345,557 6,500,725 6,398,406 5,582,213
* R FRANEAEBETHEBAR  HXE Due to the respective disposal of certain subsidiaries of the Group in 2022, businesses of

BRI BRERIEEEER HE-T - —F
TZA=Zt - RLEFENLEBREFCES -

# EHFECEEBER -

the subsidiaries were classified as discontinued operations. Comparative figures for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been re-presented.

Related to continuing operations only.
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Drive innovation and accelerate efficiency

Strive to build a leading medical aesthetics and
biopharmaceutical company in China gy

TRE IR E B IR A A LERANTTEE

Chairman and Executive Director of
Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd.
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BERABE
Dr. Che Fengsheng

In 2024, China’s life sciences and healthcare industry underwent profound
transformations and presented multi-dimensional development trend, shaped by a
confluence of factors including policy guidance, market reforms, payment innovations
and geopolitics. In terms of industry policies, the government introduced initiatives such
as the Implementation Plan for Supporting Innovative Drug Development Across the
Whole Chain ({2 ## {52 FFEIFT 828 R B 575 %)) to provide comprehensive support
for innovative drugs across the whole chain, and the National Reimbursement Drug List
has been adjusted to include various new drugs, with a high success rate in negotiations
for innovative drugs. In terms of market, the tenth round of national centralised
procurement covered a wide range of drug categories, achieving significant results and
driving industry transformation and upgrading. In terms of payment, the total amount
of commercial health insurance payments for innovative drugs has grown substantially,
with over 70% of mainstream medical insurance products including innovative drugs
as part of their core coverage. In terms of geopolitics, innovative drugs in China have
demonstrated strong performance in global markets, with record-high transaction
volumes and amounts. However, challenges such as international competition and policy
uncertainties continued, prompting more diversified approaches to global expansion.
On the capital front, the primary investment and financing market for innovative drugs
in China faced pressure, despite that areas such as small molecule targeting inhibitors
remained active. These changes have not only reshaped the development trajectory
of the industry but also had a profound impact on the future direction of the global
healthcare industry.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Currently, like many other Chinese pharmaceutical companies, Sihuan Pharmaceutical
Holdings Group finds itself navigating a wave of both opportunities and challenges.
On the opportunity side, factors such as strong policy support for innovative drugs,
the continuous improvement of the healthcare insurance system, the empowerment
of R&D through emerging technologies, the rise of precision medicine, and the aging
population have driven a surge in market demand. International expansion presented
new avenues for growth, and industry consolidation could gather resources to enhance
its competitiveness. However, challenges remained formidable. The centralised
procurement of healthcare insurance has compressed profit margins, while substantial
R&D investments were required alongside rapid technological iterations. As international
competition was fierce along with volatile policies, industry consolidation has faced
difficulties in management coordination, and increasingly stringent regulations have
raised compliance costs. Pharmaceutical companies still confront significant challenges in
achieving comprehensive technological innovation and international expansion.

Opportunities favour the prepared

Based on years of tracking and insights into market trends, over a decade ago, we
proactively initiated a strategic shift and adjustment in the Group’s product development
focus towards innovative and service-oriented medical aesthetics products. After years
of dedicated efforts, Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s innovative transformation has yielded
significant results, and the Company’s business structure has become more diversified,
achieving multiple development breakthroughs in the medical aesthetics and innovative
drug field. In the medical aesthetics field, we have successfully built a pipeline of
over 60 minimally invasive medical aesthetics products through independent R&D
and collaborative partnerships, covering all fundamental categories in this field and
establishing a strong market presence. In the innovative and biopharmaceutical drug
field, we have maintained substantial and ongoing investments in R&D and human
resources over the years, focusing on four major therapeutic areas, such as Digestive,
Oncology, NASH, and Diabetes. Meanwhile, we have advanced about 30 innovative
and biopharmaceutical drug projects to clinical stages, and nearly 10 products obtained
NDA approvals in the past two years. At the same time, we have successfully established
a nationwide marketing network with robust commercialisation capabilities in medical
aesthetics and pharmaceuticals, achieved strategic transformation from a company
mainly engaged in generic drugs in the fields of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular
diseases to a leading medical aesthetics and innovative biopharmaceutical Group in
China.
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In 2024, overseas expansion of domestic innovative drugs has experienced strong
momentum, with over 30 innovative drugs from China successfully launched abroad.
As some of these generated substantial revenues overseas, the NewCo model has
gradually become a hot topic, providing excellent growth opportunities and avenues
for international market expansion for domestic pharmaceutical companies like Sihuan
Pharmaceutical, which boasts multiple independently developed products with global
potential. Looking ahead, we will strive to promote our competitively positioned
innovative drugs on the international stage. Additionally, we plan to establish R&D
centres and collaborative institutions overseas to expedite the introduction and
development of cutting-edge innovative drugs, thereby consolidating our competitive
advantage during the industry’s transformation cycle and creating sustainable investment
value and high returns for our shareholders and investors.

In 2025, we will focus on driving enterprise value growth as our core strategy, with
a particular emphasis on expanding high-growth medical aesthetics and innovative
drug businesses. In terms of the medical aesthetics business, we have developed a
detailed strategic plan encompassing product innovation, brand building, technological
collaboration, and international market expansion. This year, our medical aesthetics
segment is set to achieve revenues exceeding RMB1 billion for the first time, and it is
expected to maintain double-digit growth in the coming years. We aim to enhance
our competitiveness in the medical aesthetics field and seize the historic opportunities
presented by the growing domestic and international medical aesthetics markets
through continuous R&D investment for product optimisation, enhancement of brand
professionalism, wide domestic and international collaborations, and acceleration of
global expansion by leveraging our existing overseas subsidiaries.

In terms of the innovative drug business, we will optimise our R&D pipeline based
on market trends and our strengths primarily by putting resources into advancing
key projects. Through wide collaborations with domestic and international clinical
research institutions, we aim to improve the quality and efficiency of clinical trials. We
will also accelerate the formation and development of specialised teams to enhance
product commercialisation, actively engage with end-market channels, and closely
monitor healthcare policy developments. Furthermore, we will proactively advance our
internationalisation strategy by accelerating investments and introduction in cutting-edge
overseas products, pursuing registration and sales activities abroad, and establishing
R&D centres or partnerships to attract global talents and technological resources. This
will facilitate the global growth of our innovative drug business and further strengthen
Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s overall capabilities and sustainable development potential.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

In the new year, we will focus on and endeavour to develop high-growth new businesses
which sustainably enhance enterprise value. | firmly believe that, as long as we adhere to
our people-oriented philosophy, and continue to build a more diverse and global talent
pool for the innovative transformation and upgrading, our strategic goals of innovation,
transformation, and high-quality development will surely be achieved in the new year.

Here | wish you all forge ahead along the new journey in the Year of the Snake!

Che Fengsheng
Chairman of Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd.
28 March 2025
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Founded in 2001 and listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in 2010, Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. (Hong Kong Stock Code:
00460.HK) is an international medical aesthetics and biopharmaceutical company
led and driven by innovation, with an independent and leading R&D technology
platform, a rich global product pipeline, strong product registration capability, a full
dosage form production platform with high efficiency and low cost and a mature and
excellent sales system. Adhering to the overall strategic objective of “full promotion of
a twowheel drive strategy of its medical aesthetics and biopharmaceutical businesses”,
Sihuan Pharmaceutical endeavours to build itself into a leading medical aesthetics and
biopharmaceutical company in China.
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In 2024, the pharmaceutical industry in China underwent profound transformations
under the influence of multiple factors, including policy guidance, market changes,
payment innovation, and geopolitical elements, demonstrating a multi-dimensional
development trend. Over the past decade or so, Sihuan Pharmaceutical Group has
kept pace with industry trends and actively sought changes. It has evolved from an
enterprise primarily focused on generic cardiovascular and cerebrovascular drugs to
one of the leaders in the fields of medical aesthetics, innovative pharmaceuticals and
biopharmaceuticals sectors in China.

Reflecting on the transformation journey, Sihuan Pharmaceutical has consistently been
market-driven, proactively shifting and adjusting its product development focus toward
innovative and service-oriented medical aesthetics products. In the medical aesthetics
sector, the Group has gradually improved its product line through independent R&D as
well as cooperative introduction, covering all basic categories of non-invasive medical
aesthetics sector and establishing strong market influence. In the realm of innovative
drugs and biopharmaceuticals, the Group has continued to invest heavily in R&D
and human resources, focusing on the treatment of four major diseases: digestive,
oncology, NASH, and diabetes. It has simultaneously advanced multiple innovative
drug and biopharmaceutical projects into clinical stages, with nearly 10 products
obtaining drug registration approval by the NMPA in the last two years. Currently, the
Group has successfully built a product pipeline featuring over 60 non-invasive medical
aesthetics products and more than 40 innovative drugs and biopharmaceutical products,
complemented by a nationwide marketing network with strong commercialization
capabilities for medical aesthetics and pharmaceuticals.

After more than a decade of efforts, the innovative transformation of Sihuan
Pharmaceutical has now yielded remarkable results. The business structure of the
Company has become more diversified and it has achieved multiple breakthrough
developments in the fields of medical aesthetics and innovative drugs.

Looking back at 2024, the pharmaceutical industry in China has undergone accelerated
differentiation under the influence of multiple factors including policy, market, and
competitiveness. On one hand, the increasing burden of aging and chronic diseases
has driven a surge in demand for innovative drugs in areas such as oncology and
metabolic disorders, biosimilars and targeted therapies, entering a phase of intensive
commercialization, and on the other hand, traditional generic drugs faced revenue
contraction due to centralized procurement pressures and the replacement cycle of
existing products, pushing companies to focus on differentiated R&D as well as the
capacity for pipeline iteration. Simultaneously, reforms in medical insurance payment
methods and value-driven clinical access mechanisms opened up broader market
opportunities for innovative drugs with breakthrough therapeutic efficacy.

At the same time, China’s medical aesthetics industry underwent structural reshaping
propelled by dual forces of policy regulation and technological breakthroughs.
Regulatory authorities have significantly upgraded their compliance requirements
regarding raw material purity and production processes, pushing companies to accelerate
technical iterations. Concurrently, innovations of biomaterials such as breakthroughs
in recombinant collagen and regenerative medicine technology restructured the value
chain of the industry. Upstream enterprises with their own R&D capability, international
layout capability, and extensive pipeline coverage capability will continue to solidify their
advantages.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Although the operational indicators of the Group’s generic drug business has
demonstrated a phase of adjustment due to the impacts of industry policy dynamics
adjustment such as centralized procurement and price reductions, it is under the
background of market transformation and innovation that the Group has achieved
several business breakthroughs by focusing on “innovation-driven + resource
integration”, including the medical aesthetics platform securing the registration
application for the exclusive distribution of the radiofrequency treatment device Sylfirm
X and the renewal of the exclusive distribution rights for the botulinum toxin Letybo®,
thereby continuously solidifying products advantages. Throughout the Year, the Group’s
innovative drug subsidiaries, such as Huisheng Biopharm and Xuanzhu Biopharm, have
advanced the progress of R&D and registration of over ten drugs, covering major diseases
such as diabetes (Insulin Degludec/Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection/SGLT-
2 inhibitors/GLP-1 receptor agonists/DPP-4 inhibitors, etc.) and tumor (ALK inhibitors).
Among these, the innovative drug Proline Ganagliflozin tablets, the first biosimilar of
Insulin Degludec Injection, the first biosimilar of Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart
Injection have been approved in rapid succession, creating a competitive advantage
through a combination of “innovation + first biosimilar”. In terms of commercialization,
Semaglutide licensed-out for Weight Loss, the commercialization rights of the SGLT-
2 inhibitor innovative drug Proline Ganagliflozin Tablets, have been authorized to
Huadong Medicine in China, expected to accelerate the market entry and penetration of
innovative drug products; being included in the NRDL or selected for national centralized
procurement will significantly improve product accessibility, and this marks the Group’s
successful strategic transformation driven by the dual engines of “medical aesthetics +
innovative drugs”. The continuous enhancement of the development ability of synergy
across the entire industrial chain has laid a solid foundation for the Company’s future
rapid growth.

ANNUAL RESULTS UPDATE

During the Year, the key progress achieved by the Group in R&D as well as
products registration includes:

° In the medical aesthetics field: A total of 7 products were approved, and
among them, the exclusively represented dual-wave radiofrequency treatment
device, Sylfirm X, has obtained a Class Il medical device registration certificate,
has strengthened the layout of medical aesthetic device products.

° In the diabetes field: Huisheng Biopharm has comprehensively promoted the
R&D and registration progress of its product pipeline, including the NDA approval
of the first biosimilar of Insulin Degludec Injection (Huiyouda), the first biosimilar
of Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection (Huiyoujia), forming a complete
solution for long-acting and premixed insulin; and the Class 1 innovative drug
SGLT-2 inhibitor Proline Ganagliflozin tablets (Huiyoujing) was also approved
simultaneously, creating a “innovation + first biosimilar” combination advantage
inthe domestic diabetes field.
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o In the fields of Weight Loss and cardiovascular: The Semaglutide Injection
for Weight Loss received IND approval during the Year and completed Phase Il
clinical trial enrollment for this indication in the first quarter of 2025, signaling an
acceleration in the R&D progress of GLP-1 products; and Cardiovascular treatment
drugs such as the anticoagulant Rivaroxaban Tablets and the antiplatelet drug
Ticagrelor Dispersible Tablets have obtained the drug registration approvals
successively, further enhancing the chronic disease treatment portfolio.

o In the field of innovative oncology drugs: Xuanzhu Biopharm’s independently
developed Class 1 innovative drug, XZP-3621, an ALK inhibitor, has submitted
NDA. It is applicable for the treatment of patients with ALK-Positive locally
advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

In terms of product sales, the Group has made positive progress in both
the medical aesthetics and innovative pharmaceuticals as well as other
pharmaceutical segments, which includes:

o Sales of Medical Aesthetics Products: During the Year, the Group’s medical
aesthetics company, Meiyan Space, has built its operations based on the refined
operation philosophy of a pharmaceutical company, comprehensively optimizing
its marketing network and increasing investment in direct sales regional markets.
In 2024, Meiyan Space expanded its sales coverage to over 1,500 new institutions,
and brought the total coverage to over 6,200 small and medium-sized medical
aesthetics institutions by the end of February 2025. Among them, at the strategic
cooperation level, Meiyan Space signed annual cooperation agreements with
70 medical aesthetics chain groups and 77 key regional standalone institutions,
covering 1,183 key core hospitals, representing an increase of over 400 core
hospitals compared to the same period of last year. In terms of the sales team, the
number of direct sales team members has increased by more than ten compared
to 2023, with over 70% of the team members from major foreign medical
aesthetics and pharmaceutical companies. The number of distributor teams has
grown to over 40, covering all 34 provinces in the PRC. Currently, the product
matrix consisting of botulinum toxin Letybo®, hyaluronic acid Persnica, dual-wave
radiofrequency Sylfirm X and rejuvenation hydrogel Karlian has established a
leading market position, earning customer recognition and approval.

° Sales of Innovative Drugs and Other Pharmaceuticals: During the Year,
the Group’s diabetes platform, Huisheng Biopharm, adopted a “direct sales +
distribution” sales model for its product sales, leveraging a direct sales team of
nearly 40 members and a distributor team of nearly 1,000 members with rich
experience in the field of diabetes. The Insulin Aspart Injection series products
have covered 30 provinces and nearly 2,300 hospitals. Meanwhile, Xuanzhu
Biopharm, an innovative drug platform of the Group, has rapidly established
a commercialization and sales team for products in the digestive system field.
Cooperating with over 80 distributors, the company has quickly expanded its
coverage to more than 1,000 hospitals nationwide, accelerating product sales,
enhancing market access, and increasing market share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the same time, in terms of business expansion, the Group has strengthened
its core area layout through a dual-track approach of product introduction and
authorized cooperation:

o Product Introduction: During the Year, the medical aesthetics segment
successfully renewed the exclusive distribution agreement for botulinum toxin
Letybo® in the PRC, securing long-term advantages in the non-invasive medical
aesthetics market; concurrently, a new exclusive agency agreement was signed
with a Korean company Cellontech for the collagen intra-articular injectable
CartiZol, expanding the application scenarios in regenerative medicine.

° Authorized Cooperation: Huisheng Biopharm has authorized Meiyan Space to
develop the Weight Loss indication for Semaglutide, accelerating GLP-1 product
layout, and reached an exclusive commercialization agreement with Huadong
Medicine on SGLT-2 inhibitor Huiyoujing, by accelerating market penetration
through mature channels; Xuanzhu Biopharm authorized Livzon Pharmaceutical
to develop Fadanafil, an innovative drug of male health, achieving integration of
R&D and commercial resources.

In addition, the Group has made substantial progress in medical insurance access
and centralized procurement during the Year:

° Proline Ganagliflozin Tablets, a SGLT-2 inhibitor innovative drug developed by
Huisheng Biopharm, was included in the National Reimbursement Drug List (2024
Edition) through negotiation, accelerating the market coverage; in addition, it was
successfully incorporated into the “Chinese Diabetes Prevention and Treatment
Guidelines (2024 Edition)” during the Year, further solidifying the position and
role of Proline Ganagliflozin in the treatment of diabetes. This is expected to boost
sales and market share.

° The Insulin Aspart series was selected in the insulin-specific continuation
procurement, allowing this “barefoot” product to rapidly expand its market
presence.

Through the strategic layout of “medical aesthetics + innovative drugs”
as dual driving forces, Sihuan Pharmaceutical has currently established an
industrial layout featuring a rich pipeline of non-invasive medical aesthetics
and innovative drug products, complemented by a mature commercialization
network that fosters synergistic development. This has successfully enabled the
Company to achieve a substantive transformation towards an innovation-driven
enterprise.

Looking ahead at industry development opportunities, it is evident that both the
innovative drug and medical aesthetics sectors will heavily rely on technological
breakthroughs and precise matching of demand. In the field of innovative drugs,
differentiated target development, the expansion of indications and global clinical
deployment will be the directions for breakthroughs; the medical aesthetics industry,
on the other hand, must address the challenges of accelerated technological iteration,
focusing on innovation in biomaterials and the construction of compliant channels. The
commonality between these two major sectors lies in the fact that companies with the
ability to sustain R&D investment and integrate international resources will be more
likely to seize opportunities, while policy dividends and market expansion will provide
structural opportunities for enterprises with clear strategies and efficient execution.
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To further drive the sustained growth of Sihuan Pharmaceutical, in 2025, the Group
plans to implement a development strategy centered on driving enterprise value growth,
deeply focusing on the Company’s high-growth new business, further increasing resource
investment to the expansion of new medical aesthetics businesses and launching of new
diabetes biopharmaceutical products, as well as the introduction and development of
cutting-edge innovative products for oncology. By optimizing the efficiency of resources
allocation, the Group aims to consolidate its competitive advantage during the industry
transformation cycle, thereby creating sustainable investment value and high returns for
shareholders and investors.

In the development of medical aesthetics business, the Group plans to achieve:

o Product Innovation and Upgrade: Continuously increasing investment in R&D,
optimizing existing product formulations based on market feedback and cutting-
edge technology to improve efficacy and safety; accelerating the development and
launch of new product categories to meet emerging medical aesthetics demands
such as anti-aging and fat reduction.

o Strengthening Brand Image: Further intensifying brand promotion efforts by
highlighting the brand’s unique cultural connotations and value propositions such
as professionalism, safety, innovation etc. Collaborating closely with authoritative
institutions and experts in the medical aesthetics industry to enhance the brand’s
professionalism and credibility.

o Deepening Technological Cooperation: Collaborating with top domestic and
international medical aesthetics research institutions and universities to jointly
develop new technologies and new products, maintaining a leading position in
technology. Accelerating the introduction of advanced foreign medical aesthetics
technologies and management practices, and adapting them through localized
innovation and application.

o Expanding International Markets: Closely monitoring trends in the global
medical aesthetics market, and leveraging on the overseas channels and market
expansion capabilities of the Group’s U.S.-based subsidiary, Genesis Biosystems
Inc. (“Genesis”, headquartered in Dallas, USA), to introduce the Group’s leading
medical aesthetics products and mature business models to countries and regions
with high demand for medical aesthetics and favorable policy environments, such
as South Africa, Southeast Asia, and the Middle East. Gradually establishing an
international sales network and brand recognition to promote the Group’s in-
depth global medical aesthetics layout and long-term development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the development of our innovative pharmaceuticals business, the Group plans to
achieve:

o Concentrating R&D resources and optimizing R&D pipeline: Evaluating existing
R&D projects based on market needs and the Company’s strengths, adjusting
key R&D directions and concentrating resources on projects with significant
market potential and good clinical outcomes to accelerate progress, enhance R&D
efficiency and success rates.

o Promoting international cooperation: Establishing close cooperative relationships
with renowned domestic and international clinical research institutions to
expedite clinical trials for innovative drugs, so as to enhance the quality and
efficiency of clinical trials, actively participating in international multi-center clinical
trials to enhance the Company's influence and recognition in the international
pharmaceutical field.

o Enhancing product commercialization capabilities: Building a professional
commercialization team to plan ahead for marketing, promotion and sales
strategies of innovative drugs; strengthening cooperation with hospitals,
pharmacies, and other end channels to establish stable sales network and increase
products’ market coverage; Staying informed about healthcare policy trends and
actively promoting the inclusion of products in the reimbursement drug list to
enhance accessibility and market competitiveness.

o Advancing international deployment: Monitoring global pharmaceutical market
trends, actively pursuing registration and sales efforts in overseas markets to
introduce competitive innovative drugs to the international market. Establishing
R&D centers or collaborative institutions overseas to attract top international talent
and technological resources, thereby enhancing the Company’s international R&D
level and market expansion capability.
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Detailed Progress of Business Segments

)

Progress in the Medical Aesthetics Product Segment:
Leading High-Quality Development of Medical Aesthetics
Business with the Rigorous Ethos of a Pharmaceutical
Enterprise

In 2024, the Group’s medical aesthetics platform, Meiyan Space, continued to
implement its upgraded 3.0 marketing strategy from late 2023. By deepening
channel deployment, strengthening product matrix and academic empowerment,
it has continued to solidify its leading position in the medical aesthetics industry.
During the Year, the revenue of the medical aesthetics segment of the Group
reached approximately RMB744.2 million, representing a year-on-year growth of
approximately 65.4%. Segment results reached approximately RMB251.0 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 173.4%.

The optimization of the product matrix is the core engine of Meiyan Space’s
competitiveness. Through the “self-research + BD"” dual-track strategy, the
platform has formed a portfolio of over 60 products covering filling, shaping,
optoelectronic devices and skin management, satisfying the full lifecycle demand
of beauty enthusiasts. Among them, a total of 7 products were approved during
the Year, including the dual-wave radiofrequency device Sylfirm X, and 3 types of
injection needles which obtained a Class Ill medical device registration certificate,
topical anesthetic Lidocaine and Prilocaine Cream, as well as 2 cosmetics (Aifumei
Skin Tlghtenmg Serum and Scalp Care Hair Essence (M 3 EZHEREREEL

EEYHERENEE SR EERE)
for market launch. Additionally, Meiyan Space has actively advanced its research

These products are currently preparing

pipeline. Among which, the Class Il self-developed pipeline added new products
such as hydroxyapatite, silk fibroin, and recombinant human collagen during the
Year. On the overseas introduction, the Company signed an exclusive agency
agreement with South Korea's Cellontech for the collagen intra-articular injectable
CartiZol. By the end of 2024, 5 regenerative microsphere products and 8 HA
hydrogels or filling products in the Class Ill pipeline under development have
entered the registration phase, providing sustained momentum for the planning
of future new product launches.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, Meiyan Space has comprehensively optimized its marketing
network and strengthened investments in direct sales regional markets based
on the refined operation philosophy of pharmaceutical enterprise. For the
direct sales team, Meiyan Space continuously refined and adjusted its structure,
establishing direct-sales teams in key regions like Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen,
Henan, Xinjiang, and Shanxi etc. during the Year. The number of direct-sales
team members increased by more than ten compared to 2023, with over 70%
from major medical beauty and pharmaceutical multinationals. Simultaneously,
we continued to strengthen the “direct-sales + agency” dual-channel model,
enhancing distribution management during the Year, and with the launch of
hyaluronic acid Persnica and dual-wave radiofrequency Sylfirm X, our distributors
expanded to over 40, covering all 34 provinces in China. At the strategic
cooperation level, Meiyan Space signed annual cooperation agreements with 70
medical aesthetics chain groups and 77 regional core standalone institutions,
covering nearly 1,200 core hospitals, being an increase of over 400 from the same
period of last year. In core regions and top-tier institutions, we comprehensively
promoted Letybo®. In terms of breadth, with the “Spark Plan” launched at the
beginning of the Year, sales coverage of Meiyan Space in 2024 increased by
over 1,500 newly developed institutions, cumulatively covering over 6,200 small
and medium-sized medical aesthetics institutions by the end of February 2025.
Under this upgraded sales layout, the product matrix comprising botulinum
toxin Letybo®, hyaluronic acid Persnica, dual-wave radiofrequency Sylfirm X and
rejuvenation hydrogel Karlian has established a leading industry position, earning
widespread recognition and approval from customers.

Among them, dual-wave radiofrequency Sylfirm X is a dual-wave radiofrequency
treatment device exclusively distributed by the Group and manufactured by VIOL
Co., Ltd. in South Korea (VIOL Korea). The product officially received Class Il
medical device registration certificate from NMPA on 19 March 2024. Sylfirm X is
the world’s first dual-wave radiofrequency treatment device with approvals from
both the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the NMPA. By emitting
high-frequency currents to promote skin tissue coagulation, it effectively reduces
wrinkles and treats atrophic acne scars.
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Since the approval and launch of dual-wave radiofrequency Sylfirm X, Meiyan
Space has conducted a series of marketing activities, continuously expanding its
brand influence, including establishing appropriate Key Opinion Leader (“KOL")
doctors for Sylfirm X tailored to regional attributes, participating in national
aesthetics and dermatology related conferences for academic promotion,
organizing city exchange meetings for doctors discussion, publishing educational
content on Xiaohongshu, strengthening sales teams and increasing clients of
the Group, etc. Through extensive demonstrations, experiencing the efficacy,
safety and comfort of Sylfirm X, it has gained high recognition from KOLs, clinical
doctors, and beauty seekers. Its unique features and the empowerment it brings
to institutions have also earned widespread market and customer recognitions.

For products like Letybo® and Persnica, during the Year, Meiyan Space leveraged a
multi-dimensional marketing system to fully enhance brand influence, institutional
cooperation efficiency and terminal consumption conversion, injecting strong
momentum into business growth. These include hosting 32 B-end meetings at
regional level, covering 23 cities like Xi‘an, Wuhan, and Chongging etc., reaching
nearly 900 doctors, consultants, and operation personals. At the same time,
Meiyan Space launched three major series of activities, namely the “Le Young
Club Goddess Season”, “Le Young Club Experience Officer”and “Le Young
Club Time Season”. Through institutional membership activities, private domain
operations, creating mid-level consultants as brand ambassadors and enhancing
institution satisfaction with anti-aging and injection projects through product
enhancements, the Company increased interactions with institutions, deeply
covering over 200 medical aesthetic institutions while strengthening institutional
empowerment simultaneously.

In addition, deep exploration of academic and medical value is also key to Meiyan
Space’s differentiated competition. During the period, Meiyan Space sponsored
8 academic conferences, conducted over 350 training sessions, covering more
than 8,000 doctors. It also collaborated with authoritative institutions to publish
literatures such as the “Expert Consensus on the Aesthetic Application of
Botulinum Toxin in Asians” and the “Expert Consensus on the Clinical Application
of Dual-Wave Radiofrequency Microneedling”, establishing academic authority.
Through initiatives like establishing the Sichuan University Tanmei Space Injection
Training Base and joining the Adverse Reaction Rescue Center of the Chinese
Association of Plastic and Aesthetic Surgery, Meiyan Space deeply engaged in the
creation of industry ecosystem. In terms of the training system, innovative courses
like micro-droplet injection and large muscle sculpting have been launched,
cumulatively training nearly 3,000 injection and dermatology doctors. At the same
time, it collaborated with leading KOLs to conduct 4 post-marketing investigator-
initiated trial projects and worked with national KOLs to develop and update 25
sets of botulinum toxin and hyaluronic acid training materials, converting product
advantages into clinical solutions, continuously enhancing influence among
doctors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the international deployment of medical aesthetic business, Genesis from
the U.S., which was wholly acquired by the Group at the end of 2021, has
currently become a significant member of Meiyan Space. Genesis focuses on
the development, manufacturing and distribution of beauty equipment, with
its business scopes covering beauty skincare treatments and plastic surgery
fields, providing robust support for the international expansion of Sihuan
Pharmaceutical’s medical aesthetic portfolio. In terms of products, microchannel
system products such as DermaGenesis®, Dermacel®, and DermaFrac™ series
leverage unique microneedle and vacuum suction technologies to create uniform
microchannels in the skin without side effects or recovery time, demonstrating
significant competitiveness in the international medical aesthetic market. The
Lipivage® fat harvesting system, an innovative two-step fat collection, cleaning,
and transfer system, improves upon conventional negative pressure liposuction
techniques, enriching Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s product matrix in the field of
plastic surgery instruments. Genesis's products are sold in the U.S. and other
regions, laying a solid foundation for Sihuan Pharmaceutical’'s medical aesthetic
products to enter the global medical aesthetic market. At the same time, certain
medical aesthetic products of Genesis have also begun product registration
process in Indonesia, Malaysia, and China, with plans to continuously expand into
international markets and will focus on developing markets in South America,
such as Brazil, and the Middle East this year. This will continue to inject new
momentum into the advancement of Sihuan Pharmaceutical’s international
medical aesthetic strategy, promoting the Group’s in-depth layout and long-term
development in the global medical aesthetic sector.

Looking forward, Meiyan Space will focus on “refined operations and medical-
driven strategies” as its core, continuously promoting the development of strategic
cooperation hospitals for Letybo®, and facilitating customized collaborations
between hyaluronic acid Persnica and leading medical aesthetic groups. Sylfirm
X will focus on its positioning as a “problem skin repair expert”, working
synergistically with Persnica to form an anti-aging matrix. For long term strategy,
the platform will continue to optimize channel management, increase investment
in clinical research and consolidate its leading position in the industry through
compliant innovation, leading the medical aesthetic business towards sustained
high-quality development with the rigorous genes of a pharmaceutical enterprise.
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(ll) Progress of innovative drugs and other drugs segment:

Multiple products have passed the review and approval
process and have been gradually commercialized

In 2024, the Group continued to drive the innovative transformation from generic
drugs to the fields of innovative drugs and biopharmaceuticals. During the Year,
the Group officially commenced the commercialization of a number of newly
approved innovative drugs and biopharmaceutical products. During the Year, the
revenue from the business segment of innovative drugs and other pharmaceutical
products of the Group reached approximately RMB57.6 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of approximately 388.1%. However, since there are
still a number of products under development in this segment, the Group has
maintained a high level of R&D expenses in order to ensure the rapid development
of products. During the Year, the loss of this segment reached approximately
RMB948.0 million.

1. Huisheng Biopharm: a total of 9 products were approved during the
Year, rapidly advancing the commercialization process
As a biopharmaceutical company under the Group focusing on the
therapeutic areas of diabetes and its complications, Huisheng Biopharm has
a rich product pipeline of diabetes and complications, and is consistently
accelerating product R&D, registration and commercialization processes.
After ten years development, Huisheng Biopharm’s products have entered a
phase of intensive commercialization. During the Year, Huisheng Biopharm
had 9 products (Strength:14) obtaining drug registration approvals,
including Insulin Degludec Injection (Huiyouda), Insulin Degludec and
Insulin Aspart Injection (Huiyoujia), Proline Ganagliflozin tablets (Huiyoujing)
(monotherapy and in combination with Metformin Tablets), Empagliflozin
Tablets, Sitagliptin and Metformin Tablets, Linagliptin Tablets, Vildagliptin
Tablets, Calcium Dobesilate Capsules, and Epalrestat Tablets. In addition,
the hypoglycemic indication of Semaglutide Injection has completed the
phase Il clinical trial and is currently in the data statistical analysis. The
Weight Loss indication also received IND approval during the Year, and
completed Phase lIl clinical trial enrollment in the first quarter of 2025.
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Rich Product Pipeline, Realizing Full Coverage in Diabetes and Complications
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During the Year, 9 drugs were approved for launch, 2 drugs were in Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA"), and nearly 10 drugs were in
different stages of clinical R&D

Therapeutic Area

BRBRORE

Complications of diabetes

AREE

GLP-1
ZREBDA
GLP-1
RA

SGLT-2

I

SGLT-2
Inhibitors

Re%

(FH)

Insulin
(New type)

BRA
Diabetes

Re%
(B=R)
Insulin
(3rd generation)

DPP-4
A
DPP-4
Inhibitors
RIIFE
Glinide
BREELER
Rt

mechanism

GHEH:BE-_TZ-_RF-A=-t+N\B:

Lk ¥

°§17§£?2*¢

CHEATEENRARERERCENNFERND RE

Rz

2E
Categon

Preferred or commonly used
in clinical, with unique

BNEB
Drug name
AXKEREHR RER)
Semaglutide Injection (diak
AERBREH R (RE)
Semaglutide Injection (obesity or overweight)*
HSPO12C (#2%)

HSP012C (dual targets)

BEEMNEIER (RESC) (ERERBA-RRIR)
Ganagliflozin Proline Tablets (Huiyoujing)

(Single drug, + metformin tablets)

#RIIFR

Dapagliflozin Tablets

BRIIEA

Empagliflozin Tablets

BRARBRISE (REES)

Insulin Degludec Injection (Huiyouda)
BAMLYREREAR (EEN)

Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection (Huiyoujia)
BARBEAUBNISR

Insulin Degludec and Liraglutide Injection

HSP002 (R B ZARH)
HSP002 (Insulin injection once a week)

FERERENE (EFEHe)

Insulin Aspart Injection (Huiyourui)

P& RS %305 (REH°30)
Insulin Aspart 30 Injection (Huiyourui 30)

3% BB 5 50 7% 51 (R E 8 °50)
Insulin Aspart 50 Injection (Huiyourui 50)

BEERIDTR  BRINT ZFEMR - &5850TH - FIKINTH
Sitagliptin Phosphate Tablets, Sitagliptin Phosphate/Metformin Hydrochloride
Tablets, Vildagliptin Tablets, Linagliptin Tablets

WRTIRR
Repaglinide Tablets

Ry PHRRINR  REREIR  SARREBE KNS

Mecobalamin Tablets, Mecobalamin Injection, Thioctic Acid Injection, Calcium
Dobesilate Capsules, Epalrestat Tablets

Note 2: 3 Innovative drugs;

Note 3: OFirst biosimilar;

during the Year

ER PR A BRIS | BRIE | RRNH Bt Ewm
RN FAE R

Note 1: Statistical date: as of 28 February 2025;
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Note 4: * The clinical R&D and commercialization rights in Greater China have been authorized to Meiyan Space
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The Insulin Degludec Injection (Huiyouda), Insulin Degludec and Insulin
Aspart Injection (Huiyoujia) developed by Huisheng Biopharm are the
first biosimilars to be approved after Novo Nordisk. According to clinical
Phase lll research data, the efficacy and safety of Huiyouda and Huiyoujia
are comparable to the original. With the approval by the NMPA, these
drugs will provide physicians and patients with high-quality, cost-
effective domestic options for diabetes management. Insulin Degludec
is a new-generation long-acting basal insulin analog, with a half-
life of up to 25 hours in the human body and a duration of action of
approximately 42 hours. Insulin Degludec Injection is classified as a Class
B National Reimbursement Drug List. It has excellent glucose-lowering
efficacy, ensuring stable and long-lasting blood glucose control, low risk
of hypoglycemia and high safety. It is also the first long-acting insulin
approved for administration at any time of the day (with an 8-hour interval)
for diabetic patients, offering greater flexibility in injection timing and
improved patient adherence.

Meanwhile, Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection is composed
of 70% Insulin Degludec and 30% Insulin Aspart. It is the world’s first
soluble dual-insulin formulation combining a long-acting and a rapid-acting
insulin analog, and it is also classified as a Class B National Reimbursement
Drug List. The Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart components of this
product maintain their respective pharmacokinetic properties in the body,
complementing each other’s advantages, which reduces the potential for
overlap effects of different components in traditional premixed insulin
formulations, thereby more effectively lowering the risk of hypoglycemia.
Insulin Degludec and Insulin Aspart Injection does not require mixing
before injection, significantly simplifying its use and addressing issues
related to inconsistent dosing. Additionally, Insulin Degludec and Insulin
Aspart requires fewer injections, reducing both the treatment costs and
psychological burden for patients, making it a more economical option.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Proline Ganagliflozin tablets (Huiyoujing) is a Class 1 innovative drug
developed by Huisheng Biopharm, targeting the SGLT-2 receptor. After
obtaining the drug registration approval by the NMPA in January 2024, it
is the second domestically developed Class 1 innovative SGLT-2 receptor
inhibitor to receive approval. Phase Il clinical trial shows that it not only
has significant glucose-lowering efficacy but also offers multiple benefits,
including blood pressure reduction, weight loss, and improved lipid profiles.
Additionally, it carries a low risk of hypoglycemia and has a favorable safety
profile. Proline Ganagliflozin demonstrates comparable or even better
results when compared to comparable SGLT-2 receptor inhibitor products
already on the market.

During the Period, Huisheng Biopharm has also made positive progress in
the development of Semaglutide Injection for type 2 diabetes, completed
phase Il experiment and is in data statistical analysis; for Weight Loss, it
has approved for IND within the Year, and has completed Phase Il clinical
trial enrollment in 2025Q1. Semaglutide Injection is a long-acting GLP-
1 receptor agonist administered once weekly, demonstrating superior
efficacy in both glucose-lowering and weight reduction compared to the
classic GLP-1 receptor agonist, Liraglutide. In 2024, the global total sales
of Semaglutide (including injection and tablets) reached US$27.9 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 38.4% compared to 2023. Among
them, sales of the Semaglutide Injection for hypoglycemic indication
reached nearly US$20 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of over
25.4%, and sales for Weight Loss indication reached US$8.05 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 85.7%. In 2024, the sales of
Semaglutide injection (for hypoglycemic) in China reached to approximately
RMB5.8 billion, accounting for only a small portion of its global sales,
indicating significant market potential.

Huisheng Biopharm has made arrangements in advance for both
production and sales. The industrialized workshop put into operation by
Huisheng Biopharm is equipped with two sets of 12,000L fermentation
systems, a high-efficiency purification workshop, a preparation production
workshop with an annual output of tens of millions of injections and a
modern quality testing center. The designed capacity of phase Il of the
industrialized workshop is over 100 million units. The primary production
and testing equipment within the production workshop are sourced from
leading international or domestic brands. The construction standards
comply with Chinese GMP standards while also taking into account EU and
FDA standards, which can meet the export needs in the future for insulin
raw materials and insulin preparations.
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In terms of sales, Huisheng Biopharm is also rapidly advancing its layout.
During the Year, Huisheng Biopharm accelerated the commercialization of
its products, including Insulin Aspart Injection, Insulin Aspart 30 Injection,
and Insulin Aspart 50 Injection, all of which were selected as Class A prices
in the National Drug Centralized Procurement (Insulin Special renewal);
diabetes complication drugs such as Mecobalamin Tablets and Calcium
Dobesilate Capsules, as well as the DPP-4 inhibitor Vildagliptin Tablets,
were successfully bid in provincial alliance procurement; Epalrestat Tablets,
Sitagliptin Phosphate Tablets, and Sitagliptin and Metformin Tablets were
selected in the 10th National Centralized Drug Procurement. Through being
successfully selected in these procurements, it is expected to accelerate
product access, expand product sales, increase market share, and rapidly
enhance the brand awareness of Huisheng Biopharm.

Huisheng Biopharm adopts a sales model of “self-operating+distribution”,
to rapidly expand its product sales layout. At present, Huisheng Biopharm
has a sales team of nearly 40 people and has established partnerships with
nearly 30 distributors. The sales network of the Insulin Aspart Injection
series products have covered 30 provinces, nearly 2,300 hospitals across the
country. For other newly approved products, Huisheng Biopharm is actively
advancing their commercialization and sales efforts.

In addition, Huisheng Biopharm has secured multiple product licensing
agreements both domestically and internationally during the Year,
including authorization for the exclusive commercialization rights for
Proline Ganagliflozin tablets to Huadong Medicine in mainland area of
the People’'s Republic of China, and exclusive commercialization rights
for Semaglutide Injection (Weight Loss indication) was authorized to
Meiyan Space in mainland area of the People’s Republic of China. In
terms of international market expansion, Huisheng Biopharm has initiated
negotiations for exclusive licensing agreements for Insulin Degludec, Insulin
Degludec and Insulin Aspart, and the Insulin Aspart series with renowned
pharmaceutical companies in the UK, India, Brazil, Sri Lanka, and Vietnam.
By the end of 2024, multiple exclusive licensing agreements had been
successfully signed. The signing of these licensing agreements will facilitate
the commercialization of Huisheng Biopharm’s newly approved products
both domestically and internationally. In addition, Huisheng Biopharm’s
Semaglutide API has completed FDA drug master file registration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Huisheng Biopharm is a biopharmaceutical platform that the Group has
carefully incubated for nearly ten years, targeting the huge potential
diabetes and its complications market in China. In the future, with the
gradual implementation of Huisheng Biopharm’s product pipeline and the
continuous emergence of innovative products, Huisheng Biopharm will
become a leading biopharmaceutical leader in China with a full range of
products in the therapeutic areas of diabetes and its complications, thus
realizing a continuous amplification of its value.

Xuanzhu Biopharm: Rapidly advancing product research and
development as well as registration efforts, with capital operations
supporting rapid business growth and industrial development.
Xuanzhu Biopharm is an innovative pharmaceutical subsidiary of the
Group, a China biopharmaceutical company driven by innovation with a
broad vision. Currently, Xuanzhu Biopharm has over 10 innovative drugs in
different stages of development, covering a wide range of types, including
small molecule drugs, fusion proteins, and antibody-drug conjugates
(ADC), etc.. Among the drugs developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm, one self-
developed innovative drug (Anaprazole Sodium Enteric-coated Tablets)
has already entered commercialization, two innovative drugs (with four
indications) are in pivotal clinical trials or under NDA review, four innovative
drugs are in Phase | clinical trials, and four innovative drugs are in IND
stage.
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10+ EETAIREE - BEE( BB NASHEEXRRFARES SFVYOBESTV1EAINMEEANRRKRER  FEAINMER
10+ Innovative Drugs under R&D, Focusing on Major Therapeutic Areas such as Digestive Disease, Oncology, and NASH, at least 1
Drug Candidate on average is Promoted to Clinical Trial every year, with Strong Continuous Innovation Capabilities

1A HECERBRIHE - 2(HE3 5 (4 EEEE) B R EARSRINDARE - 4 EaIF SN ERRIE - 4EERIND
One innovative drug has achieved commercialization, two innovative drugs (four indications) are in pivotal trial or NDA registration stage, four
innovative drugs are in clinical phase I, and four are in IND enabling stage.

wREA | ANEE | B g | BRLR wEE L BXIS | BRIS | BEIS Bt
TA Drug Name Target Self-developed/ rights Indications dinical Phasel | Phasell | Phaselll Approval
License-in

RRAWH ToEBRE
(KBP-3571) s Duodenal ulcer
e Anaprazole PRl /J\Iﬁnzégiﬁ% BT 237
Digestive Sodium Self-developed Global BARRHBE %
I I
(K52571) small molecue drug Adult reflux esophagitis e
HR+/HER2- B A1 (BEFLAR)
HR+/HER2- advanced breast cancer | I
(+ Fulvestrant)
BEEE HR+/HER2- R B2 IR 08 (B & AL EEY) I Y
(XzP-3287) I FEIFE Qe 25 HR+/HER2- advanced breast cancer (+Al)
Bireociclib Tablets  CDK4/6 Innovative Selt-developed Global HR+/HER2- R BB AR EB 1L AR
(XzP-3287) small molecule drug HR+/HER2- locally advanced or metastatic | D
* breast cancer
HR+/HER2- R BH B AR (BE RN D)
HR+/HER2- adjuvant treatment of early breast I
cancer (+endocrine)
TENKBERRFDEREES ]
Ny R X 1st-line treatment for ALK+ advanced NSCLC
XzP-3621 ’ 3
® ALK Innovative Seﬁdfﬁjied G%ja‘ ALKt MRRITES E D& RER
small molecule drug Adjuvant treatment for ALK+ NSCLC following 4
tumor resection
e . | . I
ER KM602 BAEA Innovative El}: 324 EER(RERE FARIHES)
Oncolo (D80 fusion biological di License-in Global Solid tumors (Melanoma, NSCLC, etc) :}
9y protein 9 u9
EYBEINE + HER2+ B HER2-ERE R A (iR - BRS)
KM501 HERﬁg‘g R2- Innovative Se\% dfvﬁfl?e d G%)?a\ HER2+ and HER2- low expression solid tumors I
biological drug P (breast cancer, gastric cancer, etc.)
I FEIHE GEmE 2 TRRARE LB ASIRE RRES)
XZP-7797 PARP1 Innovative Self-developed Global Solid tumors (breast cancer, ovarian cancer, prostate D
small molecule drug P cancer, pancreatic cancer, etc.)
N FEIRE HEFE 2R ERE(ARE WEE DIRE RRES)
XZp-6924 UsP1 Innovative Self-develooed Global Solid tumors (breast cancer, ovarian cancer, prostate | NENNENEND
small molecule drug P cancer, pancreatic cancer, etc.)
en I
N FEIFE 2l B Solid tumor
126-0004 L fnovate License-in Greater China BRRLARGAL/ SEEAANR
small molecule drug Myelodysplastic syndromes/Acute myelogenous 4
leukemia
I FEIHE : a*
| i 2R | XER I
Yp-e871 DNA-PK nnovative Self-developed Global Solid tumors
small molecule drug
N FEIFE ; 4 "
P60 PR mowtve  i0E 28 | HRRREBERA ]
Il molecule d Self-developed Global Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
e smell molecule drug
PETHRE pipg 25 REREEDERL
X2P-6019 KHK Innovative PRSI I
small molecule drug Self-developed Global Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis
RPEIMRER IR E E
Assets licensed out or transferred
R kR | BEBETERR ——
. &R B Erectie dysfunction
1 e roremE | FITE mE wxdz
. PDE-5 Innovative [=Fi -
Others Fadanafil Self-developed RS E
(XP-5849) small molecule drug > T Europe, US, CA, P, | ol ) ]
South Korea, AU, Pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH)
Brazil
H1: SHAH:-HE-T-_RE-_A-+NR: Note 1: Statistical date: As of 28 February 2025;
F2: MRLESR: Note 2: % Core products :
3 HEmAER Note 3: Exemption clinical trials :
g4 [DxmEms Note 4: [__JR&Din US
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, several products developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm made
significant progress. Among them, Bireociclib (product code: XZP-3287),
an oncology drug developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm, successfully passed
the on-site registration inspection and GMP dynamic inspection, the review
process by the NMPA is progressing normally. The product is a core product
of Xuanzhu Biopharm. Currently, two indications’ NDA of Bireociclib have
been accepted by the NMPA, including monotherapy and in combination
with fulvestrant for the treatment of HR+/HER2- advanced breast cancer,
which is a best-in-class CDK4/6 inhibitor with near-commercialization
potential. If the product’s commercialization application is approved,
Bireociclib could become the first and only monotherapy drug targeting
CDK4/6 in China. Breast cancer is the second most common cancer in the
world (after lung cancer), with approximately 2.4 million new cases in 2023,
of which HR+/HER2- patients account for about 75%. CDK4/6 inhibitors in
combination with endocrine therapy are the standard treatment for HR+/
HER2- advanced breast cancer. According to China Insights Consultancy
(CIC) data, global sales of CDK4/6 inhibitors exceed USD10 billion in 2023,
and sales in the PRC reached RMB2.2 billion. It is expected that by 2032,
the sales of CDK4/6 inhibitors in China will reach RMB13 billion.

During the Year, NDA for XZP-3621 was accepted by the Center for Drug
Evaluation (CDE) of the NMPA, it is a class 1 innovative drug developed
by Xuanzhu Biopharm, for the treatment of patients with anaplastic
lymphoma kinase ALK-positive locally advanced or metastatic non-small
cell lung cancer (NSCLC). The Phase Il clinical trial results demonstrated
that for ALK-positive advanced NSCLC patients who previously had not
received ALK inhibitor treatment, XZP-3621 achieved a higher objective
response rate (“ORR") compared to the ORR reported in non-head-to-head
Phase Il clinical trials of approved ALK inhibitors. Additionally, it can serve
as a viable treatment option for patients who have developed resistance
to other ALK-targeted therapies, with good safety, which is crucial for
long-term treatment. Furthermore, XZP-3621 has the ability to cross the
blood-brain barrier, making it effective against brain metastases of tumors.
According to data from China Insights Consultancy (CIC), the market size
of ALK inhibitor drugs for advanced NSCLC in China is expected to increase
from approximately RMB4.2 billion in 2023 to approximately RMB8.7
billion in 2032. In order to further expand the clinical and commercial
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value of the Product, Xuanzhu Biopharm is also exploring new indications,
including its use as adjuvant therapy for ALK-positive early NSCLC patients
following surgery, and the IND application has been accepted by the NMPA
during the Year. According to data from CIC, in 2023, there were 15,800
early NSCLC patients eligible for ALK inhibitor adjuvant therapy, which is
expected to reach 26,200 in 2032, representing a CAGR of 5.8% from
2023.

During the Year, XZP-6924 received IND approval from the NMPA, it is a
Class 1 innovative drug independently developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm.
XZP-6924 is a potent and highly selective ubiquitin-specific protease
1 (USP1) inhibitor, a potential first-in-class USP1 inhibitor that could
overcome both primary and acquired resistance to PARP inhibitors. Studies
have shown that inhibiting the DNA damage response (DDR) pathway can
affect the replication and survival of cancer cells. Drugs targeting the DDR
pathway can effectively treat various types of cancer. For example, PARP
inhibitors have been approved for multiple indications in clinical settings
and have shown good clinical performance. However, due to limitations of
drug resistance, they are not effective for all patients. USP1 also participates
in the DNA damage repair process, the combination with PARP inhibitors
can have a synergistic effect on cancers with BRCA1/2 mutations. We
have observed that XZP-6924 shows good preclinical efficacy and safety.
Currently, no USP1 inhibitors have been approved in China, with three
USP1 inhibitor candidates in early clinical development. Patients eligible for
USP1 inhibitors primarily include those with BRCA mutations. It is estimated
that by 2032, the number of patients eligible for USP1 inhibitors will reach
398,200.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the IND application of XZP-7797 was accepted by the
NMPA and was approved for IND at the beginning of 2025, it is a Class 1
innovative drug developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm. XZP-7797 is a potent,
highly selective, low blood toxicity PARP1 (poly ADP-ribose polymerase
1) inhibitor that can reach brain lesions. The first-generation PARP1/2
inhibitors have been approved for the treatment of various cancers with
BRCA (Breast Cancer Susceptibility Gene) mutations, including ovarian
cancer, prostate cancer, pancreatic cancer, and breast cancer. However,
PARP1/2 inhibitors have caused significant hematological toxicity in clinical
applications. Research data indicates that the synthetic lethality in cancers
with BRCA mutations is mainly due to the inhibition of PARP1, while the
hematological toxicity mainly due to the inhibition of PARP2. Therefore,
as a highly selective PARP1 inhibitor, XZP-7797 is expected to maintain
therapeutic efficacy while reducing hematological adverse reactions
associated with PARP2 inhibition. Additionally, statistical analysis shows
that approximately 20% of patients with advanced cancer experience brain
metastases, and about 44.7% of patients with recurrent metastatic breast
cancer carrying BRCA1 mutations are diagnosed with brain metastases.
However, most first-generation PARP inhibitors cannot cross the blood-
brain barrier, thereby restricting their control over brain lesions. XZP-7797,
with its ability to reach brain lesions, demonstrates an advantage over most
first-generation PARP inhibitors.

In terms of commercialization, 2024 marked the first year of Anjiuwei
(Anaprazole Sodium Enteric-coated Tablets) being included in the National
Reimbursement Drug List (NRDL). During the period, Xuanzhu Biopharm
accelerated the commercialization process for Anjiuwei. By the end of
2024, Xuanzhu Biopharm had established a commercialization sales team
focused on the digestive system field. The Company collaborated with
over 80 distributors, rapidly cover more than 1,000 hospitals. Xuanzhu
Biopharm was able to promote product sales, accelerate market access, and
increase market share. Currently, Xuanzhu Biopharm continues to focus
on expanding its sales network and establishing strategic partnerships. By
prioritizing the establishment of a strong distribution network, Xuanzhu
Biopharm will boost sales of post-product commercialization. This will
enable Xuanzhu Biopharm to optimise the allocation of resources and
promote market penetration, which is crucial for Xuanzhu Biopharm’s
sustainable development as more products enter the market.
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Additionally, Xuanzhu Biopharm has entered into an exclusive development
and commercialization licensing agreement with Livzon Pharmaceutical for
its self-developed Class 1 innovative drug Fadanafil (product code: XZP-
5849) in Greater China and other targeted territories. Fadanafil is a highly
selective phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5) inhibitor independently developed
by Xuanzhu Biopharm, which held independent intellectual property rights
and global rights to the drug.

In terms of capitalization efforts, in November, the Group announced its
proposal to spin off Xuanzhu Biopharm and list its H shares independently
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Stock Exchange has
confirmed that the Company may proceed with the proposed spin-off. The
Group believes that the proposed spin-off will enable Xuanzhu Biopharm
as an independent innovative drug R&D and industrialization platform
company, to directly access debt and equity capital markets, which will
enhance Xuanzhu Biopharm’s financial flexibility and strengthen its ability
to raise external funds, thereby supporting the rapid growth and industrial
development of its business. On 25 November 2024, Xuanzhu Biopharm
has formally submitted its listing application to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

In light of the then objective conditions in the Hong Kong stock market for
pharmaceutical companies, and in order to encourage and express gratitude
to the investors and Shareholders for their steadfast support and continued
trust to the Company during this challenging market period, while ensuring
fair treatment of the previous investors of Xuanzhu Biopharm, the board
of directors of the Group and the board of directors of Xuanzhu Biopharm
have jointly discussed and unanimously resolved to appropriately adjust the
initial valuation of the investments made by previous investors in Xuanzhu
Biopharm. Such adjustment will be made through the gratuitous transfer
and reallocation of 29,791,162 shares of Xuanzhu Biopharm, thereby
reducing the effective investment price of Xuanzhu Biopharm for these
previous investors. Xuanzhu Biopharm and its controlling shareholder will
enter into share compensation and transfer agreements with the previous
investors during the Year. At the same time, in order to promote the future
development of Xuanzhu Biopharm and further motivate the management
and core cadres of Xuanzhu Biopharm, as well as to introduce new
international pharmaceutical management talents to continuously improve
the R&D speed and internationalization of Xuanzhu Biopharm, Xuanzhu
Biopharm has resolved to increase the shareholding ratio of the employee
incentive scheme by another 8%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the future, Xuanzhu Biopharm will continue to promote product R&D and
registration. At the same time, by continuously expanding and optimizing its
internal marketing team and establishing in-depth collaborations with established
external distributors, to achieve rapid market entry for new products. Additionally,
Xuanzhu Biopharm will continue to promote the capitalization operations for
the spin-off and listing, further supporting the rapid growth and industrial
development of its business. At present, Xuanzhu Biopharm has become a Biotech
unicorn with commercialized products, and will continue to move towards its
development goals as “an innovation-driven biopharmaceutical company in China
with a broad vision, leveraging its deep understanding of China’s pharmaceutical
industry and profound insights of its unique clinical needs”.

(lll) Progress of the generic drug segment: being affected
by the dynamic adjustment of industry policies, the
current operating metrics are undergoing a phased
adjustment; with the sequential completion of the
review and approval processes for multiple product
pipelines, a solid foundation is being laid for the
transformation of medium- to long-term growth
drivers
The generic drug business, serving as the Company’s “cash cow”, has
consistently provided the Group with long-term and stable cash flow
supporting the Group in achieving its innovative transformation and
upgrading toward “medical aesthetics + innovative drugs”. However, due
to the impact of centralized procurement price reductions and the inclusion
in key monitoring catalogs of some generic drugs, the revenue from the
generic drug business has undergone a phased adjustment. Nevertheless,
as multiple products within this business segment gradually scaled up and
new products continued to commercialize, a solid foundation will be laid
for the transformation of medium- to long-term growth drivers in the
generic drug business.

During the Year, the generic drug segment achieved revenue of
approximately RMB1,099.3 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 21.4%. The segment results achieved profit of approximately
RMB356.5 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
36.8%.
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The Group’s generic drug business has a rich product pipeline, including nearly
100 marketed generic drug products and approximately 30 generic drug products
currently under research and development. Also, the Group has strong registration
ability and can quickly achieve product registration and marketing. During the
period, the Group’s generic drug business made multiple progress, more than
10 generic drugs obtaining drug registration approvals by the NMPA, including:
Rivaroxaban Tablets (2.5mg), Ticagrelor Orodispersible Tablets, Terbutaline Sulfate
Injection, and Aprepitant Capsules, etc.. Additionally, 11 APIs passed the technical
evaluation carried out by the CDE of the PRC, while the result of their joint
evaluation with preparations was “A".

The Group believes that leveraging the comprehensive, professional, and efficient
academic marketing platform it has built over the past 20 years, as well as 100%
coverage in first-tier and new first-tier cities, the Group will rapidly commercialize
these newly approved products. This will further support the recovery and
subsequent stable growth of the Group’s generic drug business revenue in the
future.

At the same time, the Group will continue to advance and expedite the spin-
off and divestment of certain generic drug products, as well as other non-
core traditional pharmaceutical or healthcare-related businesses and assets that
have not met operational expectations or do not align with long-term strategic
development goals, balancing the development and stability of the generic drug
business as a cash cow. The Group believes that by focusing on the development
of new businesses in medical aesthetics and biopharmaceutical with high growth
potential, while taking into account the stable development of the “cash cow”
business, and always adhering to the people-oriented, continuously cultivating
a more diversified and international talents for the enterprise’s innovation,
transformation, upgrading and development, the Group’s strategic goals of
innovative transformation and high-quality development will undoubtedly be
achieved.

VO IR B8 G2 A &2 B B R 2 &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



Bt % [0 B8
iy 2

FAREBRESARZNAEAREI011H
EBn(ZT=F: AR%1,8058E87T) ' A
b EAL22% (AR 406 EET) ©

HAPWAMmEL REBEXHHBEEREL
BAREIM2EET(ZE_=F: AR
44998 &) - B EA#165.4% (M AR
243 EL)  FEHRFRNEREBSTEHH
BERA HMENEEHERAKNEE R
EINHERHE T ROFTZLA -

REHREEBHEE RN AAREK1,099.3
BELT(ZZZ=F: AR¥1,39888&T) -
B TBEX21.4% (HWARMBE2955ET) -
FTEHRZINERURBOERHBBRERE
FEMAEREER SNF R MGy R
R ERAMEEF NI LI RA TR o

BN REBFEREMEROBZNAAR
Bs76EBT(CE-=F: AR¥1188E
JT) Rk EF49388.1% (K9 AR #458E &
L) EEHREMEMEWNN —BEHETS
NWRR Z T =F N LFEM EMWRARE
ERA - L EHERENEHBEFEEARNE
RIE BN ERE) - ERSINITEBRBE -

$HE R A
FAREENHEK TN A/ARKE94B8E
T(ZZTEZ=F: AR%5Se498 &) ' AL
EAUMSEET  BR167%  Hb—ExE
RERHARFAAEERBXEBHNHEE KB
R - ABEAEEK A KIBIGINATE -

EZF

FRNAEENEFNEBARE 124176887 (=
To=4F: AR¥12956B87T) R TR
HWa2% (MARBS39BET) TBANE
NAEBERHREZEBRERTEE - ek T &
BE AR TEIEE

=R Ei
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Review

Revenue

Total revenue of the Group for the Year was approximately RMB1,901.1 million (2023:
RMB1,860.5 million), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 2.2%
(approximately RMB40.6 million).

Among the changes in revenue, sales revenue from the medical aesthetics business was
approximately RMB744.2 million (2023: RMB449.9 miillion), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 65.4% (approximately RMB294.3 million), primarily due to the
high level of product recognition gained in the market during the Year which drove a
significant growth in sales revenue from its medical aesthetics business, coupled with the
additional income generated from the sales of new products.

Sales revenue from the generic medicine business was approximately RMB1,099.3 million
(2023: RMB1,398.8 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
21.4% (approximately RMB299.5 million), mainly due to the impact of centralized
procurement and the inclusion of certain products in the key monitoring catalogue by
the relevant governing authorities, which led to a larger decline in the overall average
price and sales volume of the generic medicine business during the Year.

In addition, revenue from the innovative medicine and other medicine was approximately
RMB57.6 million (2023: RMB11.8 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 388.1% (approximately RMB45.8 million), mainly due to the launching
and commercialization of the first-class new drug Anaprazole Sodium, which was self-
developed by Xuanzhu Biopharm, and in the second half of 2023, started generating
revenue. The above changing trends in sales revenue are in line with the current industry
policy of “innovation-driven and transformation” in the PRC.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales for the Year was approximately RMB659.4 million (2023:
RMB564.9 million), representing a year-on-year increase of RMB94.5 million or an
increase of 16.7%. One of the main reasons was the significant growth in sales volume
of the Group’s medical aesthetics business during the Year, which led to a corresponding
increase in the cost of sales.

Gross Profit

The Group's gross profit for the Year was approximately RMB1,241.7 million (2023:
RMB1,295.6 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 4.2%
(approximately RMB53.9 million), mainly due to the decrease in the gross profit of
the Group's generic medicine business for the Year, with the decline in revenue being
greater than the decline in costs.
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The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 65.3%, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 4.3% as compared to 69.6% for the last year, mainly because the revenue from the
generic medicine business accounted for 57.8% of the total revenue, and the decrease
in gross profit of the generic medicine business pulled down the overall gross profit
margin.

Other gains — net

The Group's other gains — net for the Year was approximately RMB123.7 million (2023:
RMB216.1 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 42.8% (approximately
RMB92.4 million), mainly due to the decrease in gain on changes in fair value of the
Group's unlisted equity investments.

Distribution expenses

The Group’s distribution expenses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB430.1
million (2023: RMB442.3 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.8%
(approximately RMB12.2 million), mainly due to the decrease in sales volume of the
Group’s generic drugs, which led to a corresponding decrease in selling expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB745.4
million (2023: RMB469.0 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 58.9%
(approximately RMB276.4 million), mainly due to the incentive shares granted by
Xuanzhu Biopharm, an innovative pharmaceutical subsidiary of the Group, during the
Year.

R&D expenses

The Group’s overall R&D expenses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB473.9
million (2023: RMB577.7 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 18.0%
(approximately RMB103.8 million), mainly due to the significant reduction of R&D staff
costs.

Other expenses

The Group’s other expenses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB102.2 million
(2023: RMB59.0 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 73.2% (approximately
RMB43.2 million), mainly due to the increase in the loss on changes in fair value of
unlisted equities for the Year.

Operating (loss)/profit

The Group’s operating losses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB138.1 million
(2023: profit of RMB161.7 million) of which the share-based payments amounted to
approximately RMB418.0 million (2023: RMB89.1 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of RMB328.9 million. This is mainly due to the incentive shares granted by
Xuanzhu Biopharm, an innovative pharmaceutical subsidiary of the Group. Excluding this
impact, the operating profit of the Group basically remained constant as compared to
the last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance expenses

Finance expenses for the Year amounted to approximately RMB274.9 million (2023:
RMB269.3 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 2.1% (approximately RMB5.6
million). The total amount included the interest expenses on the redemption liabilities
on subsidiaries’ shares amounting to approximately RMB228.8 million (2023: RMB211.3
million).

Loss before tax

Loss before tax of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately RMB428.3
million (2023: RMB161.3 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 165.5%
(approximately RMB267.0 million), which is mainly due to the increase of share-based
payments for the Year (reasons analysed as above). Excluding this impact, the Group’s
loss before tax was approximate to that of the last year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately RMB43.3
million (2023: RMB96.4 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 55.1%
(approximately RMB53.1 million). Despite an overall loss for the Year, certain generic
medicine subsidiaries and medical aesthetic segments of the Group still recorded taxable
profit under the PRC tax statutory regime.

Loss for the Year

Given the above, loss for the Year of the Group amounted to approximately RMB471.5
million (2023: RMB257.7 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 83.0%
(approximately RMB213.8 million) in loss, mainly due to the increase in share-based
payments for the Year (reasons analysed as above).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB216.7 million (2023: RMB54.0 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
301.3% (approximately RMB162.7 million) in loss, mainly due to the increase in share-
based payments for the Year (reasons analysed as above).

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB254.9 million (2023: RMB203.7 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
25.1% (approximately RMB51.2 million) in loss, mainly due to the increase in share-
based payments for the Year (reasons analysed as above).
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Liquidity and financial resources

The Group maintained strong financial position. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, wealth management products, pledged deposits
and time deposits amounted to approximately RMB3,976.4 million (31 December
2023: RMB4,610.5 million) in aggregate, representing a year-on-year decrease of
13.8% (approximately RMB634.1 million), which was mainly due to the repayment of
redemption liabilities of RMB785.3 million during the Year. Of the aggregated balance,
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately RMB3,522.4 million (31 December
2023: RMB3,778.7 million), the total wealth management products recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position amounted to approximately RMB110.6
million (31 December 2023: RMB589.0 million), and pledged deposits and time deposits
amounted to approximately RMB343.4 million (31 December 2023: RMB242.8 million).
Net cash inflows from operating activities for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB243.9 million.

In general, the Group places its surplus cash into interest-bearing bank accounts. The
Group may use extra cash for short-term investments for higher returns. Thus, the Group
has entered into agreements with certain banks for surplus cash investment. According
to the terms of the agreements signed, the total amount of investments conducted by
the Group for the Year was approximately RMB8,763.6 million. The investments made
by the Group were short-term in nature and mainly consisted of financial planning
products purchased from certain state-owned banks. At their discretion, issuing banks
for the above-mentioned financial planning products may invest in financial instruments
such as government bonds, discounted bank acceptance bills and commercial
acceptance bills and bank deposits. As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect
of the investments in each bank (after aggregation according to Rules 14.22 and 14.23
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange) separately is less than 5% as at the time of the investments according to Rule
14.07 of the Listing Rules, such investments did not constitute notifiable transactions
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB841.8 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,133.8 million) and other borrowings of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB41.5 million (31 December 2023: RMB40.9
million). Approximately 91.0% of total amount of borrowings were at floating rates and
the remaining 9.0% were at fixed rates (31 December 2023: 75% floating; 25% fixed).
The Group’s borrowings-to-equity ratio, expressed as a percentage of borrowings over
equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 20.2% (31 December 2023: 26.5%).
The Group had sufficient cash as at 31 December 2024.

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group does not have any significant capital risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Inventories

As at 31 December 2024, inventories amounted to approximately RMB417.0 million (31
December 2023: RMB557.3 million), representing a decrease of 25.2% (approximately
RMB140.3 million). The inventory turnover period for the Year was 266 days (2023: 371
days).

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s trade receivables and notes receivable include credit sales of its products
to be paid by its distributors. Other receivables of the Group mainly consisted of
prepayments to suppliers and loans to associates and third parties. As at 31 December
2024, the Group's trade and other receivables were approximately RMB1,424.2
million (31 December 2023: RMB1,134.8 million), representing an increase of 25.5%
(approximately RMB289.4 million). The total of trade receivables and notes receivable
were approximately RMB593.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB397.8 million),
representing an increase of 49.3% (approximately RMB196.1 million), mainly due to
the significant year-on-year growth in sales volume of the Group’s medical aesthetics
business during the Year, which led to a corresponding increase in trade receivables.

Property, plant and equipment

The Group's property, plant and equipment include buildings, production and electronic
equipment, vehicles and construction in progress. As at 31 December 2024, the net book
value of the property, plant and equipment was approximately RMB2,007.5 million (31
December 2023: RMB2,174.6 million), representing a decrease of 7.7% (approximately
RMB167.1 million). For details, please refer to note 13 to the financial statements.

Intangible assets

The Group's intangible assets mainly comprise customer relationships, deferred
development costs, product development in progress and trademark and software. The
deferred development costs and product development in progress mainly related to the
acquisition of several drug R&D projects and self-development of R&D projects. As at 31
December 2024, net intangible assets amounted to approximately RMB841.7 million (31
December 2023: RMB776.0 million), representing an increase of 8.5% (approximately
RMB65.7 million), mainly due to the increase in the capitalization of R&D costs of the
innovative medicine and other medicine business.
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Trade and other payables

The Group’s trade and other payables mainly comprised trade payables, notes payable,
deposit payables, accrued expenses and payables for cost of construction and acquisition
of a subsidiary. As at 31 December 2024, trade and other payables amounted
to approximately RMB1,687.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB1,710.8 million),
representing a decrease of 1.3% (approximately RMB22.9 million).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31 December
2023: Nil).

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had neither entered into any off-balance sheet
arrangements nor commitments to provide guarantees for any payment obligations of
any third party. The Group did not have any variable interests in any unconsolidated
entities which receive financing or liquidity funding, or generate market risk or provide
credit support, or engage in the provision of leasing or hedging or R&D services to the
Group.

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total capital commitment was approximately
RMB181.8 million. It was mainly set aside for purchase of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, notes receivable,
wealth management products and other receivables. All the cash equivalents and bank
deposits are placed in certain PRC reputable financial institutions and high-quality
international financial institutions outside Mainland China. All those irrevocable bank
bills, classified as notes receivable, are issued by banks in the PRC with high credit rating.
There was no recent history of default of cash equivalents and bank deposits in relation
to these financial institutions.

In relation to trade receivables, the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk
and has policies in place to ensure that certain cash advance has been received upon
the agreement of the related sales orders with customers. For those with credit periods
granted, the credit quality of the counterparties is assessed by taking into account their
financial position, credit history and other factors. It also undertakes certain monitoring
procedures to ensure that proper follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group regularly performs ageing analysis, assesses credit risks and estimates the
recoverability regarding such receivables based on historical data and cash collection
history of groups of trade receivables bearing similar credit risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Wealth management products are the bank financial products issued by certain PRC
reputable banking institutions. There was no recent history of default and the executive
directors of the board of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk related to
the investments is low.

In relation to other receivables, the credit quality of the debtors is assessed by taking into
account their financial position, relationship with the Group, credit history and other
factors. Management also regularly reviews the recoverability of these other receivables
and follow up on the disputes or amounts overdue, if any. The executive Directors are of
the opinion that the default by counterparties is likely to be low.

No other financial assets bear a significant exposure to credit risk.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s functional currency is RMB and financial instruments are mainly
denominated in RMB. The Group has some cash balances mainly denominated in United
States Dollar (“USD") and Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"). It is expected that any fluctuation
of these foreign currencies’ exchange rates would not have material effect on the
operation of the Group. In addition, dividend payment in foreign currencies converted
from RMB is subject to foreign exchange rules and regulations promulgated by the
PRC government. The Group would closely monitor such exchange risk from time to
time. During the Year, the Group did not purchase any foreign exchange, interest rate
derivative products or relevant hedging tools.

Treasury policy

The Group finances its ordinary operations mainly with internally generated resources.
The principal objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain its ability to
operate on a continuous basis. The Group regularly reviews its capital structure to ensure
that the Group has sufficient financial resources to support its business operations.

Capital expenditure

The Group's capital expenditure mainly includes purchase of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and intangible assets. The Group’s capital expenditure
for the Year amounted to approximately RMB186.4 million, of which approximately
RMB70.7 million and RMB115.7 million were spent on purchase of property, plant and
equipment and purchase of or self-development of intangible assets, respectively.

Material investment, acquisition and disposal

During the Year, the Group did not have any material investment, acquisition or disposal.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other plans for material
investments and capital assets during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged certain assets to secure banking
facilities granted to subsidiaries. For details, please refer to note 32 to the financial
statements.

Human resources and remuneration of employees

Human resources are indispensable assets to the Group’s success in a competitive
environment. The Group is committed to providing competitive remuneration packages
to all the employees and regularly reviewing human resources policies, to encourage
employees to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and promoting the
sustainable growth of the Company. The Group has also adopted share option scheme
and share award scheme to recognise and reward the contribution of the employees
for the benefit of the Group’s operations and future development. The Group continues
to promote the building of talent training and development system, and conducts
online and offline training based on the competency standards for positions at different
levels to promote the cultivation and development of talents in the Group and ensure
continuous supply of various types of talents.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 2,667 employees. The Group’s total salary
and related costs for the Year were approximately RMB912.5 million (2023: RMB681.1
million), including bonus and non-cash share-based payments of approximately RMB35.8
million and RMB418.0 million (2023: RMB47.6 million and RMB89.1 million). Salary for
employees was determined based on their job nature, personal performance and the
market trends. The Group provides basic social insurance and housing accumulation
fund for company employees as required by the PRC law.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Che Fengsheng, aged 63, is an executive Director, the chairman (the “Chairman”)
and a member of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee"”)
of the Company. He was appointed to the Board on 18 May 2006 and is a co-founder
of the Group. He is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and
business development of the Group and is instrumental to the Group’s growth and
business expansion since its establishment in 2001. Prior to the Group's establishment,
Dr. Che had more than 8 years of experience as a medical doctor/neurologist and more
than 20 years of experience in the sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products
and the management of pharmaceutical companies. From 1997 to 2001, Dr. Che was
a general manager of Hainan Kang Tong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. where he was in
charge of the company’s overall management. From 1995 to 1997, Dr. Che was the
assistant general manager and manager of marketing centre of Shenzhen City New
Special Pharmaceutical Products Co., Ltd. where he was responsible for the marketing
and overall management of the company’s business. Between 1993 and 1995, Dr. Che
was the product promotion manager and East China Regional manager of Shenzhen
City Healthcare Pharmaceutical Company, in charge of sales and marketing. From 1991
to 1993, Dr. Che held the position of neurologist attending physician and lecturer in
First Military Medical University, Zhu Jiang Hospital, Guangzhou, the PRC. Dr. Che was
a neurologist and an assistant lecturer at the Fourth Military Medical University in Xi‘an,
the PRC and at the Fourth Military Medical University, Xi Jing Hospital in Xi‘an, the PRC
from 1984 to 1991 respectively. Dr. Che was the vice chairman of several committees
and associations including China Political Science Training Centre, China Medical
Economics Magazine Board and the Hainan Entrepreneurs Association. Dr. Che is also
a deputy supervisor of the Hainan Food and Drug Working Committee in the Hainan
Entrepreneurs Association as well as a specially appointed research member of the China
Enterprise Reform and Development Research Institute. In 2006, he was awarded the
title of one of the Top 10 New and Enterprising Businessmen in Hainan Province by the
Hainan Province Commerce Association, the Hainan Industry & Economics Association
and the Evaluation Committee of Top 10 Leading Businessmen and Top 10 New and
Enterprising Businessmen in Industry and Commerce in Hainan. He was vice chairman
of the Medical Pharmaceutical Chamber of the All-China Federation of Industry and
Commerce from 2010 to 2011. He won the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur Award for Life
Science Industry of China in 2012. He was awarded the National Labour Day Medal in
2014. He was appointed as the director for the Fourth Session of the board of the Beijing
Society of Biomedical Engineering in 2014. He was recognised as the National Labour
Model in 2015. Dr. Che received his Bachelor of Medicine (Aviation) and Master of
Medicine (Neurology) from the Fourth Military Medical University, Xi‘an, the PRC in 1984
and 1990 respectively. He also received an Executive Master of Business Administration
from China Europe International Business School in 1999.
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Dr. Guo Weicheng, aged 61, is an executive Director, the deputy chairman, the chief
executive officer and a member of each of the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the risk management committee (the “Risk Management
Committee”) of the Company. He was appointed to the Board on 18 May 2006 and
is a co-founder of the Group. Dr. Guo is responsible for the overall operations of the
Group, sales and marketing and our R&D activities, with a focus on strategic planning,
particularly in relation to mergers and acquisitions and product collaborations. He has
also become responsible for the overall operations of Shenzhen Sihuan Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. after it was acquired in 2007. Dr. Guo has been instrumental to the
Group's growth and business expansion since our establishment in 2001. Prior to our
establishment, Dr. Guo had more than 4 years of experience as a general surgeon and
more than 20 years of experience in the sales and marketing of pharmaceutical products.
From 1992 to 1993, Dr. Guo held the position of chief surgeon in Guangzhou Military
177 Hospital. Dr. Guo was a surgeon and an assistant lecturer at the Fourth Military
Medical University, Tang Du Hospital, Xi'an, the PRC from 1986 to 1989. Dr. Guo
received his Bachelor of Medicine and Master of Medicine (General Surgery) from the
Fourth Military Medical University, the PRC in 1986 and 1992, respectively.

Dr. Zhang Jionglong, aged 63, is an executive Director of the Company. He was
appointed to the Board on 20 April 2018 and is in charge of the Group's investment
and mergers and acquisitions. He joined the Group in 2005 and was first appointed
to the Board as a non-executive Director on 18 May 2006 until 8 December 2017. Dr.
Zhang has more than 10 years of experience as a medical doctor. From 1983 to 1992,
Dr. Zhang worked as a medical doctor in Shenzhen People’s Hospital, one of the largest
hospitals in Shenzhen, the PRC. Dr. Zhang obtained an Undergraduate Certificate in
Medical Treatment from Shantou Medical College (il 28 & E2 E &L £ 8% ) (now known
as Shantou University Medical College (JIIZ8 KXE2EE %)) in 1983. In 1992, Dr. Zhang
was conferred the professional title of attending physician by the Shenzhen City Title
Conferment Reform Leadership Group (7RI T B 78 24 2 488/ Al ).

Ms. Chen Yanling, aged 47, is an executive Director, a joint company secretary and a
co-chairman of the Risk Management Committee of the Company. She was appointed
to the Board on 20 April 2018. Currently, her main responsibilities are to manage day-
to-day matters of the Board, the daily compliance matters relating to the listing of the
Company, the ESG and risk control and management matters of the Group and day-
to-day matters on the management of the Group in Hong Kong, Macau and overseas
companies. She joined the Group in March 2006 and has served in the Group for 19
years. Since joining the Group in 2006, she has been working as an assistant to the
Chairman and the Board secretariat. Prior to joining the Group, she worked as an
English translation officer at the information centre of Guangzhou Tourism Bureau in
2001. In 2002, she worked as an assistant to general manager at Yip’s Ink & Chemicals
(Zhongshan) Company Ltd. (Z K@ 2 (L) B R 2 A]) and was in charge of the
daily management of the general manager’s office as well as planning and promotion.
In 2004, she worked as an assistant to the president of Guangzhou Culturecom
Company Ltd. (BN 32{t{E{=EBR A &) and was in charge of the daily management
of the president’s office, planning and budgeting, media resources integration and
development, and maintenance, etc..
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Ms. Miao Guili, aged 51, is an executive Director, the deputy chief executive officer,
the chief financial officer and a co-chairman of the Risk Management Committee of
the Company. She joined the Group in September 2020 and was appointed to the
Board on 17 October 2022. Ms. Miao is mainly responsible for the Group’s accounting
and finance, corporate strategies, overseas direct investment/mergers and acquisitions,
overseas capital market affairs, investor relations, the Group’s risk management, etc..
Ms. Miao has over 15 years of management and investment experience in the PRC
pharmaceutical industry, and had held senior management positions as the general
manager, deputy general manager, chief financial officer, etc., respectively, in various
well-known enterprises, including China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (stock
code: 3320.HK), Top Spring International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3688.HK) and
Edding Group Company Limited ({2 & %8 £ £ [ /5 R 72 7]), for more than 10 years. Ms.
Miao obtained a Master of Business Administration from the University of Hong Kong.
She is a Chartered Certified Accountant (CA) of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants (ISCA), a fellow member of each of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA), the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA) and
the Chartered Global Management Accountants (CGMA).

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong, aged 73, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and a member of each of
the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management
Committee of the Company. He was appointed to the Board on 4 September 2013.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tsang was a former partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
in Hong Kong and China. He has over 30 years of experience in auditing and providing
support for initial public offerings and acquisition transactions. Mr. Tsang is currently
an independent non-executive director of a number of companies, including China
Merchants China Direct Investments Limited (stock code: 133), TK Group (Holdings)
Limited (stock code: 2283) and Shirble Department Store Holdings (China) Limited (stock
code: 312) (all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. Tsang is currently an
independent director of HUYA Inc. (which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
NYSE: HUYA). Mr. Tsang was an independent non-executive director of CA Cultural
Technology Group Limited (stock code: 1566) from November 2014 to November
2022 (a company listed on the Stock Exchange). Mr. Tsang received a bachelor degree
in business administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom.
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Dr. Zhu Xun, aged 67, is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He was appointed to the Board on 20 February
2014. Dr. Zhu is a native of Changchun. From 1995 to 2000, he served as the vice
principal of Norman Bethune University of Medical Science. From 2000 to 2003, he
served as a deputy secretary general of the Changchun Municipal Government and from
2004 to 2006, he served as a special assistant to the mayor of Changchun Municipal
Government. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Zhu has over 20 years of experience in the
pharmaceutical industry. He is currently the chairman of the board of directors of the
Tongxieyi New Drugs Talent Club* ([R5 & % 22 7 {R24:0), the chief of Medicine and
Strategy* (%% BB ) and the honorary principal of Shell University* (B3 AXZ). He is
also a special medical expert of Advantech Capital Investment* (i& 3% & 7<), a senior
consultant of Changchun Jinsai Pharmaceutical* (& & & & % %) and Shenzhen Osa
Pharmaceutical* (& ¥l B & & %%). Dr. Zhu is currently a non-executive director of
HighTide Therapeutics, Inc. (stock code: 2511) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange).
He was also an independent non-executive director of Lansen Pharmaceutical Holdings
Limited (stock code: 503) from September 2022 to December 2023 (a company that was
listed on the Stock Exchange) and an independent director of Shenzhen Chipscreen
Biosciences Co., Ltd. (R U £ ¥ B 320 B PR 2 &) (stock code: 688321) from
March 2021 to April 2024 (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange).

Dr. Zhu founded Changchun Medical Biotechnology Center* (& 7 %8 % 4 ¥ % 17
Lx) in 2001 as the supervisor of the center. In the same year, he founded Changchun
Boxun Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (KREBR AWM A F]) and served as the chairman
of the board. Funded with 8 million US dollars from the British listed company, Cathay
International Pharmaceutical Limited in 2003, he founded Changchunbotai* (K& 3)
as chief executive officer until 2010.

Dr. Zhu has served as a member of the National New Drug Advisory Committee* (BIZX
84 ZE B'E), a member of the expert review group of the Life Science Division of
the National Natural Science Foundation of China (FIR B AR BHE T B @£ mil &
EBE R EFLE A ), a member of the expert advisory group in Biotechnology of the National
Development and Reform Commission (B ZR 2 & AWM MTHE KA :87H), a member
of the review group of the Innovation Fund for SMEs of the Ministry of Science and
Technology of the PRC (Bl R I 2B /N> ZE B T 8l 5T E £ 772 4) and a member
of the China Medical Science Awards Committee* (P 2EERER| E#E T2 BB E), the
foundlng editor of the Chinese Journal of Experimental Diagnostics* (9 Bl & B 52 ki 4

i), the deputy editor of the Journal of Pharmaceutical Progress* (%2833 [R5 %), the
edltorlal board of the Chinese Journal of Cancer Biotherapy* (7 B & 8 & ¥ A B 5 55),
and the editorial board of the Chinese Journal of Immunology* (% Bl % & £ 5 55)

i For identification purposes only
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Mr. Wang Guan, aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
of Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was appointed to the Board on 1 April
2023. Mr. Wang specializes in legal services for securities capital with over 20 years
of experience in legal services for securities capital and is familiar with the laws and
regulations relating to securities capital in Mainland China and Hong Kong. He is able
to provide a wide range of legal services for securities capital. Mr. Wang is a partner of
Zhong Lun Law Firm, an independent director of Guizhou Qianyuan Power Co., Ltd.
(stock code: $Z002039) and a member of the Guizhou Capital Market Disputes People’s
Mediation Committee. Mr. Wang was a lawyer and partner of S&P Law Firm, V&T Law
Firm and Grandway Law Offices. He was also an independent director of Shenzhen
Anche Technologies Co., Ltd. (FIIIT Z E #0081 P {5 B BR A 7)) (stock code: $Z300572),
an external internal auditor of Industrial Securities Co., Ltd. (stock code: SH601377), a
special expert of the strategy and investment advisory committee of Guizhou Airport
Group Co., Ltd. (E /N & #35 £ @B R A 7)) and each member of the State-owned
Assets Law Committee of the 9th Beijing Lawyers Association and the Securities Law
Committee of the 10th Beijing Lawyers Association. Mr. Wang obtained a master’s
degree in law from Renmin University of China. Mr. Wang holds the Certificate of
Independent Director Qualification of Listed Companies issued by the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Chen Yanling, is an executive Director and a joint company secretary of the
Company. Please refer to this section headed “Executive Directors” for her biography.

Mr. Li Kin Wai, is a joint company secretary of the Company. He was appointed on 17
October 2022. Mr. Li is currently a senior manager of the Corporate Services Division of
Tricor Services Limited, an integrated provider offering business, corporate and investor
services. Mr. Li has over 10 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and
has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Mr. Li is a Chartered Secretary, a
Chartered Governance Professional and an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting Period
From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the “Year").

Good corporate governance is favorable for the improvement of the overall performance,
transparency and accountability of the Company and is crucial to the modern corporate
administration. The Board, in the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”), devotes considerable efforts to maintaining and ensuring a high
standard of corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and accountability.
The Company is committed in achieving a high standard of corporate governance and
leading the Group to attain better results and improve its corporate image with effective
corporate governance procedures.

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
during the reporting period.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities of the
Group are the R&D, and the manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical products and
medical aesthetic products in the PRC. By adhering to the core values of “integrity
and responsibility, pragmatism and innovation, cooperation and sharing, and pursuit
of excellence”, we take integrity and responsibility as the foundation of our work,
encourage the work style of staying realistic and daring to make breakthroughs,
advocate openness and cooperation, attach importance to teamwork, seek win-win
cooperation, and constantly pursue excellence. The four interlocking rings represent the
corporate spirit of “staying focused, staying committed, being professional and reaching
a mutual win”, highlighting the Group’s style and features. The code of conduct is a
positive interpretation of the Group’s core values and corporate spirit. The Company
advocates the practice of the cultural behaviors of “being brave, cooperative, tolerant,
passionate, diligent and pragmatic” among employees, in order to reduce internal
consumption and friction, cultivate team spirit, fully mobilize enthusiasm and zeal for
innovation, and enhance the sense of honor and responsibility.

The Company will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, its business strategies
and keep track of the changing market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive
measures will be taken to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster
the sustainability of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises five executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no financial, business, family
or other material relationship among the members of the Board. The biographical
information of the members of the Board are set out on pages 57 to 61 in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors”. During the Year, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer are segregated and such roles are exercised by Dr. Che
Fengsheng as the Chairman and Dr. Guo Weicheng as the CEO.

The Board is responsible for the governance of the Group’s strategic development,
determination of the Group’s objectives, business strategies and policies, and the
supervision and control of the operation and financial performance in pursuit of the
Group's strategic objectives. Our management team, which possesses extensive operating
experience and industry knowledge, has been delegated by the Board with the authority
and responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated certain specific responsibilities to the various Board committees,
namely, the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and risk
management committee. Further details of these Board committees are set out below.

The Board convened seven Board meetings during the Year. All Directors were sent
meeting notices, at least 14 days prior to the regular meetings, with the Board meeting
agendas. The views of independent non-executive Directors were actively solicited by
the Company during Board meetings. Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees
meetings are kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings. All Directors
are provided with Board papers and related statistics in a timely manner, which enabled
the Board to make informed decisions on matters proposed. In addition, all Board
members have regularly reviewed the business documents and information related to
the Group.

All Directors are entitled to access to the advice and services of the joint company
secretaries. The joint company secretaries of the Company are Ms. Chen Yanling, who is
an executive Director of the Company, and Mr. Li Kin Wai. The primary contact person
of Mr. Li at the Company is Ms. Chen.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Ms. Chen and Mr. Li, has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.
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The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, during the reporting
period, is stated below:

HERE,
RERLEZ
EEEERARK
Attendance/
No. of Board
meetings eligible
to attend
HITESE Executive Directors

BHRABRE(ERE) Dr. Che Fengsheng (Chairman) 717
D4 B A (BRI E B FRATIRAR S Dr. Guo Weicheng (Deputy Chairman and CEO) 717
RAEE R Dr. Zhang Jionglong 6/7
PRAIS &L+ Ms. Chen Yanling 717
BREBLLT (BIITHAHFZERNEE) Ms. Miao Guili (Deputy CEO and CFO) 6/7

BYFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
BENKEE Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 717
KUE L+ Dr. Zhu Xun 717
FREE Mr. Wang Guan 6/7

ARFELHABENAERR  UREZEAR
AEBMELANRERRFREBE - RRE
ERESSFETRE -
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The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Directors for
their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed
on an annual basis.

With regards to the code provision requiring directors to disclose the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organizations and other significant commitments
as well as their identity and the time involved in such commitments, the Directors have
agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has currently appointed three independent non-executive Directors. At least
one of the three independent non-executive Directors holds appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. One-third of the members of the Board are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong, Dr. Zhu Xun and Mr. Wang Guan,
being the independent non-executive Directors, have renewed their letters of
appointment with the Company for a term of one year commencing from 4 September
2024, 20 February 2025 and 1 April 2025, respectively. The independent non-executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or re-election in accordance with the
Company’s bye-laws (the “Bye-Laws"). Each independent non-executive Director has
submitted to the Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent and meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

The Board adopted a “Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism” on 29 March 2022
to ensure a strong independent element on the Board of the Company, which allows
the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’
interests. The mechanism includes:

° Nomination Committee is established with clear terms of reference to identify
suitable candidates, including independent non-executive Directors, for
appointment as Directors.

° Nomination Policy is in place with details of the process and criteria of identifying,
selecting, recommending, cultivating and integrating new directorship.

o For independent non-executive directors (“INED(s)"):

o Every INED is required to confirm in writing to the Company his/her
independence upon his/her appointment as Director with reference to such
criteria as stipulated in the Nomination Policy as well as the Listing Rules;

o Each INED has to declare his/her past or present financial or other interests
in the Group’s business as soon as practicable, or his/her connection with
any of the Company’s connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules), if
any;

o Each INED is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there
is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may affect his/her
independence.
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o The nomination committee will assess annually the independence of all INEDs
and to affirm if each of them still satisfies the criteria of independence as set out
in the Listing Rules and is free from any relationships and circumstances which
are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, their independent judgement.
Every nomination committee member should abstain from assessing his’/her own
independence.

o Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED at the
general meeting, it will set out in the circular to Shareholders the reasons it
believes he/she should be elected and the reasons it considers him/her to be
independent.

o A mechanism is in place for Directors to seek independent professional advice in
performing their duties at the Company’s expense.

o Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the Company’s senior
management independently, if necessary.

o An annual review on Board independence (the “Board Independence
Evaluation”) will be conducted, with attention to ensuring that it remains
independent in judgement and continue to present an objective and constructive
challenge to the assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management.

o The Board Independence Evaluation may take in the form of a questionnaire to all
Directors individually and may be supplemented by individual interview with each
Director, if necessary, and/or in any other manners which the Board considers fit
and necessary.

o The Board Independence Evaluation report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for improvement, if
appropriate.

o The results of the Board Independence Evaluation or a summary of the findings

of the said Evaluation will be disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report for
accountability and transparency purposes.

o The aforesaid Board Independence Evaluation will be regarded as an ongoing
exercise of the Company while the Company may seek assistance from external
consultant if an external evaluation on the same subject is needed.

The Board Independence Evaluation in the form of a questionnaire had been sent to all
Directors for assessment and the Board is satisfied with the evaluation on structure, size,
composition and independence of the Board for the Year. The Board also reviewed the
“Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism” on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The Bye-Laws provide that all the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being (or, if the number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and being eligible, can
offer themselves for re-election. In addition, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election. The
retiring Directors are eligible for re-election by the Shareholders at the respective general
meetings.

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws, Dr. Zhang Jionglong, Ms. Miao Guili and Mr. Wang Guan
will retire by rotation and be eligible for re-election as Directors at the annual general
meeting to be held in 2025 (the “2025 AGM").

A Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the Company before the
expiration of his/her period of office (but without prejudice to any claim which such
Director may have for damages for any breach of any contract between him/her and the
Company) provided that the notice of any such meeting convened for the purpose of
removing a Director shall contain a statement of the intention to do so and be served on
such Director 14 days before the meeting and, at such meeting, such Director shall be
entitled to be heard on the motion for his/her removal.

As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been put in place to
ensure our Company’s corporate governance practice in this respect provides sufficient
protection for the interests of Shareholders to a standard commensurate with the
provision of the Code.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. During the Year, the Directors are committed
to complying with the code provision C.1.4 of the Code on Directors’ training. All

Directors have participated in continuous professional development and provided a

record of training they received.

FEER -

HERESERE floms BF

HENmEE - RE¥EER

SERIEY HEAEHNEH

Reading

Attending materials like

seminar, newspapers,

conference journals and

and workshop updates

related to relevant to

Director’s corporate

BEEnE Name of Directors duties governance

HITES Executive Directors

BHISAE Dr. Che Fengsheng v v

20 4 vk B8 Dr. Guo Weicheng v v

SR BE B Dr. Zhang Jionglong v v

PR32 22+ Ms. Chen Yanling v v

BHRBLT Ms. Miao Guili v v
BYkHITES Independent Non-executive Directors

BEREA Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong v v

KaiE+ Dr. Zhu Xun v v

FREEE Mr. Wang Guan v v

BEREES
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee in accordance with the requirements
of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and with its written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board to
provide an independent view on the effectiveness of the financial reporting procedures,
internal control and risk management system of the Group, to oversee the audit process
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as required by the Board. The Audit
Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Tsang
Wah Kwong, Dr. Zhu Xun and Mr. Wang Guan), and is chaired by Mr. Tsang Wah
Kwong who has a professional qualification in accountancy.
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During the Year, three meetings were held by the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee had reviewed the Group’s financial reporting matters, reviewed the internal
control system in relation to finance and accounting and submitted improvement
proposals to the Board. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are consistent
with the provisions set out in the relevant sections of the Code.

In addition, the Audit Committee had reviewed, discussed and approved the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the interim results for the period
ended 30 June 2024. As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee also
reviewed the auditor’s remuneration for 2024 and recommended the Board to re-
appoint Ernst & Young as the Company’s auditor for the year of 2025, which is subject
to approval by the Shareholders at the 2025 AGM.

The attendance record of the Audit Committee members at the meetings held during
the Year was as follows:

R8BS
RERLEZ
BRRH
Attendance/
No. of meetings

BEEnE Name of Directors eligible to attend
LER LA (EE) Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong (Chairman) 3/3
KA+ Dr. Zhu Xun 3/3
FEEE Mr. Wang Guan 3/3
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee with its written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are, among others, to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to make
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the appointment of Directors. The
Nomination Committee currently comprises one executive Director (Dr. Guo Weicheng)
and three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong, Dr. Zhu Xun
and Mr. Wang Guan) and is chaired by Mr. Wang Guan. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are consistent with the provisions set out in the relevant sections
of the Code. During the Year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of
the Board in accordance with the requirements as stipulated in the Code and concluded
that the Board comprised members with diversified backgrounds and skills which
ensured check and balance and safeguarded the interests of Shareholders as well as the
public.
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The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and
nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) setting out the approach to diversify
members of the Board. The Company believes that a diversified perspective can be
achieved through implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and the following
objectives were adopted: selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to age, gender, skills, knowledge, experience,
expertise, professional and educational qualifications, background and other personal
qualities. The ultimate decision will be based on objective criteria, merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised 2 females (representing 25% of the
Board), out of 8 Directors; and among the 2,667 employees of the Group, female
employees accounted for 56.77%. The Board considers that the Board and the Group’s
workforce are all diverse in terms of gender. At present, the Company has not set any
measurable objectives for implementation of the diversity policies in relation to the Board
members and the workforce of the Group (including gender diversity) and is not aware
of any factors or circumstances that would make it more challenging or less relevant for
the Group to achieve gender diversity among its employees. However, the Company will
consider and review from time to time such diversity policies (including gender diversity)
and setting of any measurable objectives (if applicable).

During the Year, two meetings were held by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors and assessed the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee, had also,
taking into consideration the skills, experience and knowledge, the relevant requirements
of the Company and the structure and composition of the Board, identified, reviewed
and nominated, with diligence and care, candidates who are suitable as Board members
of the Company before making final recommendations to the Board for their final
appointment.

70 PO 35 58 ZEPR AR = B 5 fR 2 & SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



RARFE REZSGREHESHLHEOT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The attendance record of the Nomination Committee members at the meetings held
during the Year was as follows:

HERE,

RERLEZ

BRRH

Attendance/

No. of meetings

BEEnE Name of Directors eligible to attend
FREE(ERE) Mr. Wang Guan (Chairman) 2/2
20 4 9ok 25 Dr. Guo Weicheng 2/2
BENKEE Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 2/2
KAE L Dr. Zhu Xun 2/2

REZBEHEHRIEESZTIEBERR
AHRAEREFEER -

RABE

RETHNEL EFERN_F-AF=A+N\
FHUE W RAERBER - HIZBREARE
BN ERRRRESHRERR 2 ERIRIER o

REEA

1. EERREEEREANEZAENZE
BEEN REZEQEIBNUTEL:

1.1

1.2

158

1.4

1.5

fR3E AR iR  1E R - BRBE - FE
KB ER FERHEER B
SREMEARES

LHEFeMERRKESZTLZ
TE
fRZBARAF R R A B R
JETTEBE M %GE - ki 5 - &
ERIREAR AR R R AT
ERANEE R ME R EAMITIR
RELHMERH T ERE

RENEEREMSIBEEEE
Bz 8 2%

1REANRBLIE

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy and Nomination Policy
on a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a nomination policy on 18 March 2019 according
to the requirements of the Code. It sets out the criteria and procedures to be adopted
when considering candidates to be appointed or re-appointed as Directors of the
Company.

NOMINATION CRITERIA

1. When considering a candidate nominated for directorship or a Director's proposed
re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will have regard to the following
factors:

1.1 age, gender, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and
educational qualifications, background and other personal qualities of the
candidate;

1.2 effect on the Board's composition and diversity;
1.3 commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry
out his/her duties. In this regard, the number and nature of offices held by

the candidate in public companies or organizations, and other executive
appointments or significant commitments will be considered;

1.4 potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is

selected;

1.5 independence of the candidate;
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in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an INED, the number of years
he/she has already served; and

other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination Committee on a
case by case basis.

NOMINATION PROCEDURES AND PROCESS

2. Subject to the provisions in the Bye-Laws, if the Board recognises the need to
appoint an additional Director, the following procedures should be adopted:

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates, with or without
assistance from external agencies or the Company, pursuant to the criteria
set out above;

the Nomination Committee adopts any process appropriate to evaluate the
candidates, which may include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations or written submissions by the candidates and third party
references;

the Nomination Committee will hold a physical meeting to consider the
matter and avoid the making of decisions by written resolutions unless it is
impractical that a physical meeting be held;

the Nomination Committee provides to the Board with all the information
required including information set out in Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules
in relation to the candidates;

before recommendation to the Board, evaluate the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience on the Board to prepare a description of
the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment, then the
Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the Board including the
terms and conditions of the appointment;

the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee;

all appointments of Director should be confirmed by letter of appointment
setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of the
Directors, which should be approved by the Nomination Committee; and
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2.8 pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, where Shareholders are
required to vote on electing or re-electing a Director, the circular
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting should contain
all the information of the candidates required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.

In cases of re-appointments of existing Directors, a physical meeting will be held to
consider the re-appointment based on the same criteria set out in above.

NOMINATION BY SHAREHOLDERS

The Shareholders may also propose a person for election as a Director, details of which
are set out in the “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director” on the Company’s website.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and with its written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are,
amongst other things, to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and to
review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals. The remuneration of
the Directors is determined with reference to their duties, responsibilities and experience,
and to prevailing market conditions. The Remuneration Committee currently comprises
one executive Director (Dr. Che Fengsheng) and three independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong, Dr. Zhu Xun and Mr. Wang Guan) and is chaired by
Dr. Zhu Xun. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are consistent with
the provisions set out in the relevant sections of the Code.

During the Year, two meetings were held by the Remuneration Committee, during
which the Remuneration Committee assessed the performance of executive Directors;
reviewed the remuneration policy; reviewed and approved the proposed remuneration
for executive Directors in 2024 and made recommendation to the Board on the Director’s
fees for independent non-executive Directors in 2024.
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The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members at the meetings held
during the Year was as follows:

HERE,
BERLEEZ
BRRH
Attendance/
No. of meetings

BEEnE Name of Directors eligible to attend
KABL(FFE) Dr. Zhu Xun (Chairman) 2/2
B Dr. Che Fengsheng 2/2
BER LA Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 2/2
FEEE Mr. Wang Guan 2/2
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Details of the Directors’ and executive's remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements for the Year. Since the Company’s executive is also director, the
Company no longer disclosed additional details of remuneration of the executive by
band.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

On 13 December 2015, the Board approved and established the Risk Management
Committee with written terms of reference. The primary duties of the Risk Management
Committee are, among others, to review the Company’s risk management, internal
control system and environmental, social and governance (“ESG") strategies, policies,
guidelines and procedures and to review the effectiveness of the work on risk
management, internal control systems and ESG. The Risk Management Committee
consists of three executive Directors (Dr. Guo Weicheng, Ms. Chen Yanling and Ms.
Miao Guili) and one independent non-executive Director (Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong), and is
co-chaired by Ms. Chen Yanling and Ms. Miao Guili.

During the Year, two meetings were held by the Risk Management Committee.
The Risk Management Committee reviewed and assessed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company, and made suggestions to the Board. The Risk
Management Committee had also reviewed and assessed the ESG strategies, policies,
guidelines and procedures, and expressed their opinions to the Board.
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The attendance record of the Risk Management Committee members at the meetings
held during the Year was as follows:
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Ms. Chen Yanling (Co-chairman) 2/2
Ms. Miao Guili (Co-chairman) 2/2
Dr. Guo Weicheng 2/2
Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 2/2

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY THE DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its
own code of conduct for securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. To comply with the Code, the
Group has also established and adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct for
securities transactions by relevant employees to regulate the dealings in the securities of
the Group by certain employees of the Group who are deemed to be likely in possession
of the inside information of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors confirmed that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial statements
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024. A statement on reporting responsibility with respect to the
external auditor of the Company is set out on pages 115 to 121 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for ensuring that a sound and effective risk management and
internal control system is maintained within the Group. The Group has adopted internal
control procedures and policies to safeguard the assets, to ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records, to carry out reliable financial reporting and to ensure compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems every year. Review scope covers the control
of all major aspects, including the Company’s financial control, operation control and
compliance control. It also reviews the adequacy of resources in the accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, staff qualifications and experience, and the level
of training attended and related subsidies that employees have received. During the
Year, based on the review results from the Risk Management Committee and the Audit
Committee, the Board is satisfied with the review results of the Group’s risk management
and internal control and considers them effective and sufficient.

The Group has established an internal audit team who conducts independent auditing
work under the guidance of the Audit Committee. The annual work plan of the internal
audit team was to review periodically in relation to the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems and reports to the Risk Management Committee and
the Audit Committee. The internal audit team reported the audit results to the Audit
Committee, carried out follow-up actions agreed based on recommendations of
the Audit Committee and to assist the Audit Committee and the Board to promote
continuous improvement of the Group’s risk management and internal controls. The
internal audit team is staffed by persons with certain professional ethics, professional
competence, audit experience and appropriate communication skills.

In 2024, the Board has appointed a professional third party to provide professional
advice and services on risk management to the Group. The Group also implemented
internal control review at the Company level and key business processes in 2024.
The management has taken measures to control related risks and developed internal
monitoring management mechanism and rectification plan which will continue to be
implemented.

The Group has established a comprehensive risk management system and realized
organic integration with the internal control system. Through a systematical risk
management process, a list of risks is compiled by identification with respect to the
operating conditions of the Company. Judgment on the possibility of occurrence and
the effects of various types of risks is attained through assessment of risks. Ranking the
severity of the Group’s business impact by combining qualitative and quantitative analysis
to find out the causes of risks, recommendations of multi-dimensional and effective
responsive strategies are made from seven aspects, including operation strategy, system
process, structural functions, technical tools, skills of staff, allocation of resources
and performance appraisal, and a written report is prepared for submission to the
management and the Board. The Group further developed risk management measures
to maintain risk within an acceptable level. Finally, fruitful results of risk management will
be realized through effective implementation of the internal control system. Currently,
the Group has formed a regular mechanism for daily monitoring and regular assessment
of risks to realize continuing supervision on essential risk factors in the daily operational
management activities.
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In addition to internal implementation of risk management and conducting regular
review on internal control, the Group will engage external auditors annually to perform
statutory audits as well as to review the adequacy and effectiveness of certain key
risk management and internal control aspects. Under appropriate circumstances, the
Group will adopt the relevant recommendations of the external auditors to enhance risk
management and internal control.

Moreover, to regulate operations of the Group and to ensure that all businesses of
the Group comply with relevant laws and regulations, the Group’s former surveillance
department has been restructured into the compliance department in 2015 and is
responsible for the establishment, inspection and reporting of all compliance-related
work of the Group. A compliance risk management organizational structure has been
established within the Group since then to conduct regular reviews on the compliance
of conducts of the Group’s internal staff, customers, suppliers and cooperative partners,
provide training and education on observing discipline and laws and complying with
anti-corruption rules, and sign letters of undertakings on compliance with employees
annually, in order to clarify the Group’s management requirements related to bribery,
corruption and unfair competition and standardize the employees’ honest and self-
disciplined behavior. Such practice is aligned with the applicable laws and regulations on
anti-corruption and the industry practice.

Regarding the handling and release of inside information, the Group has formulated
the “Information Disclosure Management Measures”, and has complied with applicable
laws, regulations and the Listing Rules, to disclose information truthfully, timely,
accurately, legally and completely in accordance with the information processing and
release procedures to perform the obligations of disclosure, and to ensure that such
information has been kept confidential prior to the proper approval of its disclosure to
protect the legitimate interests of the Shareholders, creditors and other stakeholders.
The Company has implemented necessary internal control measures to restrict Directors,
senior management and related employees to obtain or use the inside information
without prior authorisation by the Company.

The Group has established the “Whistleblowing Policy” for employees and stakeholders
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

In 2024, the Group has participated in a number of institutional investor conferences and
regularly communicated with many investors through various means. The Group has also
set to provide the highest standard and financial transparency through publication of
annual and interim reports, results announcements, other announcements and circulars
through the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Company held the annual general meeting on 7 June 2024.

The attendance records of the Directors at the general meetings held during the Year are
set out below:
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Executive Directors

Dr. Che Fengsheng 171
Dr. Guo Weicheng 171
Dr. Zhang Jionglong 11
Ms. Chen Yanling 11
Ms. Miao Guili 11

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 11
Dr. Zhu Xun 11
Mr. Wang Guan 7
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Shareholder Communication Policy

The Board adopted a Shareholder communication policy (“Policy”) according to the
Code and will review the Policy at least annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having
reviewed the different channels of communication with Shareholders, the Board is
satisfied that the Policy has been properly implemented during the Year and is effective.

1.  Purpose

1.1 This Policy aims to set out the provisions with the objective of ensuring that
Sihuan Group’s Shareholders, both individual and institutional (collectively,
“Shareholders”), and, in appropriate circumstances, the investment
community at large, are provided with ready, equal and timely access to
balanced and understandable information about the Company (including
its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments,
governance and risk profile), in order to enable Shareholders to exercise
their rights in an informed manner, and to allow Shareholders and the
investment community to engage actively with the Company.

1.2 For the purpose of this Policy, references to the investment community is
intended to include the Company’s potential investors as well as analysts
reporting and analysing the Company’s performance.

2. General Policy

2.1 The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and the
investment community, and will regularly review this Policy to ensure its
effectiveness.

2.2 Information shall be communicated to Shareholders and the investment
community mainly through the Company’s financial reports (interim and
annual reports), annual general meetings and other general meetings that
may be convened and its corporate communications and other corporate
publications on the Sihuan Group website.

2.3 Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders and the
investment community shall be ensured at all times. Any question regarding
this Policy shall be directed to the Company Secretary or Head of Corporate
Communications.
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Communication Strategies
Shareholders’ enquiries

3.1

3.2

3.3

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time make a
request for the Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

Shareholders and the investment community shall be provided with
designated contacts and email addresses in order to enable them to make
any query in respect of the Company.

Corporate Communication*®

3.4

35

Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders in plain
language and in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders have the right to choose the
language (either English or Chinese) or means of receipt of the corporate
communications (in hard copy or through electronic means).

Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst other things, in
particular, their email addresses to the Company in order to facilitate timely
and effective communications.

Corporate Website

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the Sihuan
Group website (www.sihuanpharm.com). Information on the Sihuan Group
website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange is also posted
on the Sihuan Group website immediately thereafter. Such Information on
website includes financial statements, results announcements, circulars and
notices of general meetings and associated explanatory documents etc.

All presentation materials provided in conjunction with the Company’s
annual general meeting and results announcement each year will be made
available on the Sihuan Group website as soon as practicable after their
release.

All press releases issued by the Company or its subsidiaries will be made
available on the Sihuan Group website.

“Corporate Communication” refers to any document issued or to be issued by Sihuan for
the information or action of holders of any of its securities, including, but not limited to, the
directors’ report and annual accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report, the interim
report, a notice of meeting, a circular and a proxy form.
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Shareholders’ Meetings

3.10 Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings.

3.11 Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings shall be in place
to encourage Shareholders’ participation.

3.12 The process of the Company’'s general meetings will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to
ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

3.13 Board members, in particular, either the chairmen or deputy chairmen of
Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management executives
and external auditors will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

3.14 Shareholders are encouraged to attend Shareholders’ activities organised by
the Company, where information about the Company, including its latest
strategic plan, products and services etc will be communicated.

Investment Market Communications

3.15 Investor/analyst briefings and one-on-one meetings, roadshows (both
domestic and international), media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums, etc. will be available on a
regular basis in order to facilitate communication between the Company,
Shareholders and the investment community.

3.16 Sihuan Group’s Directors and employees who have contacts or dialogues
with investors, analysts, media or other interested outside parties are
required to comply with the disclosure obligations and requirements.

4. Shareholder Privacy

4.1 The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy and
will not disclose Shareholders’ information without their consent, unless
required by law to do so.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the reporting period, there has not been any change in the Company’s
memorandum of association and Bye-Laws.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The following procedures are subject to the Bye-Laws, the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (the “Act”) and applicable legislation and regulation. Shareholders who have
enquires about the following procedures or have enquires to put to the Board may write
to the joint company secretaries of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) at Room
4905, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

A. Procedures for Shareholders to make proposals at general
meeting (other than a proposal of a person for election as
a Director)

(1) Pursuant to Bye-Laws 56 and 57, the Company holds an annual general
meeting ("AGM") every year, and may hold a general meeting known as a
special general meeting whenever necessary.

(2)  Pursuant to section 79 of the Act, Shareholder(s) holding (i) not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the right
to vote at the general meeting; or (i) not less than 100 Shareholders, can
submit a written request for notice of any resolution intended to be moved
at an AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at a particular general meeting to be given to the Shareholders
entitled to receive notice of the AGM or general meeting.
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The written request/statements must be signed by the Shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the Company's registered office at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda with a copy to its
principal office in Hong Kong at Room 4905, Office Tower, Convention
Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary, not less than six (6) weeks before the AGM in the case
of a requisition for notice of a resolution and not less than one (1) week
before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition.

Pursuant to section 80 of the Act, if the written request is in order, the
Company Secretary will request the Board (i) to include the resolution in the
agenda for the AGM and give notice of the resolution; or (ii) to circulate
the statement for the general meeting, provided that the Shareholder(s)
concerned have deposited a sum of money reasonably determined by
the Board sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the
notice of the resolution and/or circulating the statement submitted by the
Shareholder(s) concerned in accordance with the statutory requirements to
all the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid
or the Shareholder(s) concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to
meet the Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the Shareholder(s)
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the proposed
resolution will not be included in the agenda for the AGM or the statement
will not be circulated for the general meeting.

B. Procedures for a Shareholder to propose a person for
election as a Director

M

If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general
meeting convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s), wishes
to propose a person (other than the Shareholder himself/herself) for
election as a Director at that meeting, he/she must deposit a written notice
at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda and its principal office in Hong Kong at Room
4905, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders of that proposal,
the written notice must state the full name of the person proposed for
election as a Director, his/her biographical details as required by rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and accompanied by a notice signed by that person indicating his/her
willingness to be elected.
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The minimum length of the period, during which such written notice(s)
may be given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that (if the notices
are submitted after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of such notice(s)
shall commence on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7) days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

If the notice is received less than fifteen (15) business days prior to that
general meeting, the Company will need to consider adjournment of
the general meeting in order to (i) assess the suitability of the proposed
candidate; and (ii) publish an announcement or circulate a supplementary
circular in relation to the proposal to the Shareholders at least fourteen
(14) clear days and not less than ten (10) business days prior to the general
meeting.

C. Procedures for Shareholders to convene special general
meeting (“SGM")

M

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda and with a copy to
its principal office in Hong Kong at Room 4905, Office Tower, Convention
Plaza, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require a SGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the general meeting, be
signed by the requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of those requisitionists.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
requisition is invalid, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.
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The notice period to be given to all the registered Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionists at a SGM is as
follows:

A SGM must be called by notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days
but if permitted by the Listing Rules, a SGM may be called by shorter notice
if it is so agreed by a majority in number of the Shareholders having the
right to attend and vote at the SGM, being a majority together representing
not less than ninety-five per cent. (95%) of the total voting rights at the
SGM of all the Shareholders.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do so in
accordance with the provisions of section 74(3) of the Act.

In accordance with the provision of section 74(3) of the Act, if the Board
does not within twenty-one (21) days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three (3) months from the said
date.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the
failure of the Board duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid to the
requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so repaid shall be retained by
the Company out of any sums due or to become due from the Company
by way of fees or other remuneration in respect of their services to such
directors as were in default.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd.
Room 4905, Office Tower, Convention Plaza
1 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 3628 3911

Fax: (852)3101 0362

Email: ir@sihuanpharm.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the general meetings of the
Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy on 18 March 2019 according to
the requirement of the Code.

The Company may declare dividends in any currency through the Shareholders’
meeting, but the dividends declared shall not exceed the amount recommended
by the Board. The Board may also declare dividends or other distributions from
time to time.

Any dividend declared by the Company shall be conducted in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act, the Bye-Laws and other applicable laws and regulations,
and shall not affect the normal operation of the Company and its subsidiaries as
the principle.

Subject to the second paragraph above, whether the Company declares dividends
and the declared amounts will depend on the Company’s financial results, cash
flow and financial status and conditions, operating and funding needs, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital requirements
and expenditure plans, the amount of profit that can be distributed under the
applicable accounting standards and other factors that the Board considers
relevant to the Group.

The Board will continuously review this dividend policy and reserves the absolute
autonomy to update, amend, modify and (or) cancel this dividend policy at any
time. The Company does not guarantee the payment of any specific amount of
dividends for any given period of time and does not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company establishes good corporate

governance practices and procedures. The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board

to perform the corporate governance duties as below:

(a)

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors of the Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements;
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(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual to
corporate governance matters (if any) applicable to Directors and employees of
the Company; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and other related rules and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Year, the auditor of the Group provided audit services for the Group. The
service fees for audit and non-audit services in 2024 amounted to RMB4 million and Nil,
respectively.

COMPLIANCE OF THE NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKING

Each of Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo Weicheng, Mr. Meng Xianhui and Dr. Zhang
Jionglong (collectively, the “Covenantors” and each a “Covenantor”) had provided
an annual declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-
competition undertaking (as disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 15 October
2010). Pursuant to the deed of non-competition, each of the Covenantors has, among
other things, irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with the Company that at any
time during the relevant period, each of the Covenantors shall, and shall procure that its
associates (other than members of the Group):

(i) not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to
participate in or render any services to or provide any financial support to or
otherwise be involved in, whether on its own account or with each other or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, any business which is
the same as, similar to or in competition with the business of the Group; and

(i) not take any action which interferes with or disrupts or may interfere with or
disrupt the business of the Group.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the compliance by the
Covenantors with the deed of non-competition undertaking.
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The Board presents the Report of Directors together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the Year (the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Key Relationships

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Employees

Employees are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the Group regards
the personal development of its employees highly important. The Group regularly
reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary adjustments
to conform to the market standard. The Group has also adopted share option
scheme and share award scheme to recognise and reward the contribution of the
employees for the benefit of the Group’s operations and future development.

Suppliers

We have developed long-term relationships with a number of suppliers and to
ensure that they share our commitment to quality and ethics. We carefully select
our suppliers and require them to satisfy certain benchmarks.

Distributors

We sell our products to the end-user customers through distributors. We work
closely with the distributors to ensure that we share the view for enhance our
brand value and customer services.

Hospitals

We are committed to offer quality products to hospitals. We also stay connected
and maintain a close relationship with the hospitals through various channels such
as visits, marketing materials and meetings.
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A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a discussion on the Group's
future business development are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 22 to
25 of this annual report. Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 26 to
27 of this annual report. Also, the financial risk management analysis of the Group can
be found in note 39 to the Financial Statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance
during the Year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Group
Financial Summary on page 21 of this annual report. In addition, discussions on the
Group’s risk management, internal control, ESG, relationships with its key stakeholders
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group are contained in the Chairman’s Statement, the Corporate Governance Report
and this Report of Directors on pages 22 to 25, pages 62 to 87 and pages 88 to 114 of
this annual report, respectively, and on the Group’s corporate website.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Company has always abided by the environmental-friendly sustainable development
commitment in the process of production and operation, strictly complied with
the environmental protection laws and regulations in the places where it operates,
established and improved the environmental management system and monitoring
system, promoted an efficient and green pattern for production and operation,
committed to building a resource-saving and environment-friendly enterprise. For the
Year, the Group focused on promoting its subordinated production units to conduct
various lean production transformation projects, so as to promote an energy-saving
and profit-increasing production pattern; proactively responded to national policies to
strengthen the management of hazardous wastes; at the same time, further standardized
the environmental information management, laying an information foundation for
setting the corporate goals of energy conservation and emission reduction.

The Group is committed to creating a green and comfortable office environment,
carries out a variety of green publicity and energy consumption management methods,
encourages all employees to participate in self-inspection to constantly strengthen
employees’ awareness of environmental protection and energy saving. Meanwhile,
the Group further regulates garbage classification management to make a beautiful
environment.

The Group will review its environmental protection work from time to time and continue
to explore the direction of improvement and optimization of environmental management
in its business operations in order to fulfill its commitments to realize corporate economic
and environmental sustainability.
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In order to further improve our information disclosure level in environment, society and
governance and respond to our stakeholders’ concerns, the Group will continuously
disclose the independent Environmental, Social and Governance Report. For details of
the Group’s environmental protection work and performance, please refer to the Group’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2024 to
be published in due course.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover, income and segment information for the Year is set
out in note 4 to the Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

The Group's results for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 122 to 123 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the Group’s results and assets and liabilities for the last five financial years
is set out on page 21 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties of
the Group during the Year are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the Financial Statements.

Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set out on in the
Particulars of Properties section on page 280 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, associates and joint venture as at 31
December 2024 are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the Financial Statements, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year together with
the reasons for such movements are set out in note 25 to the Financial Statements.

SHARES AND RESERVES

Details of movements in the shares and reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and also in
notes 25 and 27 to the Financial Statements. As at the end of the reporting period, the
reserves available for distribution to Shareholders amounted to RMB498,424,000 (2023:
RMB946,344,000).

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND REMAINING LIFE

The Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by the Shareholders at the special
general meeting (the “Share Option Scheme”) held on 24 October 2017 (the “Share
Option Scheme Adoption Date"), which will be valid for ten (10) years from the Share
Option Scheme Adoption Date. As of the date of this annual report, it has a remaining
life of approximately 2 years 7 months.

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate Eligible Persons (as set out
in paragraph (a) below) (i) to optimise their future contributions to the Group; (ii) to
reward them for their past contributions; and (iii) to attract, retain or otherwise maintain
on-going relationships with Eligible Persons who are significant to and/or whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth and success of the
Group.

(a) Eligible persons

Our Board may, at its sole discretion, invite any director or proposed director
(including an independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group,
any executive director of, manager of, or other employee holding an executive,
managerial, supervisory or similar position in, any member of the Group, any
proposed employee, any full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the
time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of the
Group, a consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor,
agent or representative of any member of the Group, a person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group, or an
associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of any of the foregoing persons
(together, “Eligible Persons” and each an "Eligible Person”).
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(b) Determination of eligibility
(i) The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant to any Eligible
Person (a “Grantee”) an option to subscribe for the Company’s shares (the
“Shares”) under the Share Option Scheme.

(i) The basis of eligibility of any Eligible Person to the grant of any option shall
be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis of their
contributions to the development, growth and success of the Group.

(i) For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any option by the Company for
the subscription of Shares to any person who falls within the definition of
Eligible Persons shall not, by itself, unless the Directors otherwise determine,
be construed as a grant of options under the Share Option Scheme.

(iv)  An Eligible Person or a Grantee shall provide the Board such information
and supporting evidence as the Board may in its absolute discretion request
from time to time (including before the offer of a grant of option, at the
time of acceptance of a grant of option and at the time of exercise of
an option) for the purpose of assessing and/or determining his eligibility
or continuing eligibility as an Eligible Person and/or a Grantee or that of
his close associates or for purposes in connection with the terms of an
option (and the exercise thereof) or the Share Option Scheme and the
administration thereof.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all options which may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme (and under any other post-IPO share option
scheme of the Company) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
at the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date (“Scheme Mandate Limit"”), provided
that the Company may at any time as the Board may think fit seek approval from the
Shareholders to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit, except that the maximum number
of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all options which may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme (and under any other post-IPO share option scheme of the
Company) shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the
Shareholders in general meeting where such limit is refreshed.

Despite the above-mentioned, the maximum number of Shares to be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme (and under any other post-IPO share option scheme of the Company)
shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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The total number of Shares that may fall to be allotted and issued under the Share
Option Scheme after the resolution regarding the adoption of the Share Option Scheme
was passed at the special general meeting on 24 October 2017 would be 947,108,220
Shares, representing approximately 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the Share Option Scheme Adoption Date. At the beginning and the end of the Year,
the total number of securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
81,610,000 Shares and 68,086,000 Shares, respectively, representing approximately
0.88% and 0.73% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares (the “Treasury
Shares'”)), respectively. As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 68,086,000 Shares and
the percentage of the issued Shares (excluding Treasury Shares) that it represents is
approximately 0.73%. During the Year, no option or award was granted under any
scheme of the Company. Therefore, the number of shares that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under all schemes of the Company during the Year
divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (excluding Treasury Shares)
for the Year is not applicable to the Company.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to any one Eligible Person (including exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue (excluding Treasury
Shares) from time to time. Where any further grant of options to such an Eligible Person
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and which may be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant would exceed 1% of the Shares in issue (excluding Treasury Shares) at such
time, such further grant shall be separately approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting with such Eligible Person and his associates or close associates (as the case may
be) abstaining from voting.

Grant of options

On and subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time within a period of ten (10) years commencing on the Share
Option Scheme Adoption Date to offer the grant of any option to any Eligible Person
as the Board may in its absolute discretion select, and on acceptance of the offer, grant
such part of the option as accepted to the Eligible Person.

Subject to the provisions of the Share Option Scheme, the Board may in its absolute
discretion when offering the grant of an option impose any condition, restriction or
limitation in relation thereto in addition to those set forth in the Share Option Scheme as
the Board may think fit (to be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of the
option), including but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing continuing
eligibility criteria, conditions, restrictions or limitations relating to the achievement
of performance, operating or financial targets by the Company and/or the Grantee,
the satisfactory performance or maintenance by the Grantee of certain conditions or
obligations or the time or period when the right to exercise the option in respect of all or
some of the Shares to which the option relates shall vest, provided that the period within
which the Shares that the option relates shall vest on a date not more than ten (10) years
from the date of the grant of the option.

) has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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The rules of the Share Option Scheme provide that the Board may specify the Eligible
Persons to whom options shall be granted, the number of Shares subject to each option
and the date on which the options shall be granted. The options may be exercised at
any time during the option period subject to certain conditions, restrictions or limitations
imposed pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme. The basis for determining
the subscription price is also specified precisely in the rules of the Share Option Scheme.
There is no performance target specified in the Share Option Scheme. The Directors
consider that allowing the Board discretion to fix, among other things, the minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised, performance targets
and the subscription price, upon the grant of options will better serve the purpose of
the Share Option Scheme as this will allow the Board to grant options that cater to the
specific circumstances of the Grantee, taking into consideration the Grantee’s seniority,
experience, past work performance, field of expertise, etc., and thereby providing
appropriate motivation and incentive to the Grantee.

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option duly signed by the Grantee together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for
the grant thereof is received by the Company within the period specified in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the option. Once such acceptance is made, the
option shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect from the offer
date.

An option shall be exercised in whole or in part by the Grantee according to the
procedures for the exercise of options established by the Company from time to time.
Every exercise of an option must be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of
the subscription price for the Shares to be issued upon exercise of such option.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price as our Board
may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of the grant of the relevant option
(and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of the grant of the option) but the
subscription price shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(i) the nominal value of a Share;

(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date; and

(i) the average of the closing prices of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date.

The subscription price shall also be subject to adjustment in accordance with
reorganization of capital restructure.

A &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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The summary of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme that were still

outstanding as at 31 December 2024 are as follows:

EE R=2=m% rEE KEE KEE KEE RIB-RE
RRAEZHER RiLAH (Br) TR ME2) -A-H BRI BT BH# B4% t=A=t-H
Exercise As at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed As at
Name or Category Price 1 January during during during during 31 December
of Grantees Date of Grant (HKS) Exercise Period (Note 2) 2024 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024
@) &%
(a) Directors
RERTL ZEZTE\AZTRA 0972 ZZZZENAZFRHE 4,000,000 - - - - 4,000,000
ZZZZE\AZTEA
Ms. Chen Yanling 26 August 2020 26 August 2020 to
25 August 2030
2RELL ZEZTEN\AZTRA 0972 ZZZZEJAZ+RHE 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
ZZZZE\AZ+EA
Ms. Miao Guil 26 August 2020 26 August 2020 to
25 August 2030
ZZ--EnA-H 220 “E--%NA-BE 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000
ZZ2=-£/\R=1-A
1 September 2021 1 September 2021 to
31 August 2031
LEREE ZEZTEN\AZTRA 0972 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 26 August 2020 26 August 2020 to
25 August 2030
Sl h ZEZTEN\AZTRA 0972 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
Dr. Zhu Xun 26 August 2020 26 August 2020 to
25 August 2030
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RRARERER RUHAH (Br) 768 (K2 -B-H 2R [BXig;d B BA¥ TZA=t-8

Exercise As at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed As at

Name or Category Price 1 January during during during during 31 December

of Grantees Date of Grant (HKS) Exercise Period (Note 2) 2024 the Year the Year the Year the Year 2024

(b) EE —Z-TEN\AZTAH 0972 ZEZZTENAZF7HE 61,110,000 - - - 13,524,000 47,586,000

ZE=TEN\A=+HRA
(b) Employees 26 August 2020 26 August 2020 to
25 August 2030
“Z--%#nfA-H 2220 —E-—EnA-HE 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
ZZ=-£/\F=1-A
1 September 2021 1 September 2021 to
31 August 2031

o 81,610,000 - - - 13,524,000 68,086,000

Total:

M5E Notes:

(1) ERE T -_TFNATARARZZE=—FA (1) The closing prices per Share immediately before 26 August 2020 and 1 September 2021 (the
A—B(ERaEELBE)IHERKTES R dates on which the options were granted) were HK$1.050 and HK$2.310 respectively.
£1.050% 7T % 2.310% 7T °

2 EBREFEETRLEOBRESHFERETE (2)  Options granted under the Share Option Scheme would be subject to certain vesting
BI&M (nA) MR R BB =FA R EEE conditions (if any) and vested in tranches of 33.33% (one-third) each on each anniversary date
FEALHEE  SHA3333% (=Z=Hn2—) ° following the date of grant for three years. Subject to the satisfaction of certain performance
FERETEREZGEGRE TEEBZ (W appraisal conditions and certain performance targets (if any), options could be exercised in
Bt BREAS=FRREMATETE - three-year installments and until the expiry of options.
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2022 SHARE AWARD SCHEME AND REMAINING
LIFE

The 2022 Share Award Scheme (the “2022 Share Award Scheme”) was adopted
by the Board at a Board meeting held on 25 October 2022 (the “2022 Share Award
Scheme Adoption Date”), which will be valid for ten (10) years from the 2022 Share
Award Scheme Adoption Date. As of the date of this annual report, it has a remaining
life of approximately 7 years 7 months.

Purpose of the 2022 Share Award Scheme

The 2022 Share Award Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to
recognize and acknowledge the contributions which the grantees have made or may
make to the Group. The 2022 Share Award Scheme will provide the grantees with
the opportunity to own a personal stake in the Company with a view to achieving the
following objectives: (i) motivating the grantees; and/or (ii) attracting and retaining or
otherwise maintaining on-going relationship with the grantees whose contributions are,
will be or are likely to be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

Eligible Participants

Eligible participants who may participate in the 2022 Share Award Scheme include
Directors or candidate Directors (including independent non-executive Directors), senior
and mid-level management, professional technicians, personnel to be introduced by the
Group and other eligible participants.

Scheme Limit

In any event, the aggregate number of Shares under the 2022 Share Award Scheme
available to be granted to the grantees during the valid period shall not exceed 3% of
the issued share capital of the Company, being around 250 million Shares (as changed
from time to time) throughout the valid period; and the number of Shares which may
be awarded to an individual grantee under the 2022 Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company (as changed from time to time) in
any 12-month period. Any Shares covered by an award (or portion of an award) which
is forfeited, not vested, cancelled or expires (whether voluntarily or involuntarily) shall
remain with the trustee and become available for granting new awards under the 2022
Share Award Scheme.

FE S ANNUAL REPORT 2024 97



EETWE
REPORT OF DIRECTORS

R 17 3R

RIE- —FROBEFEERAAN AL
I R IR R EE I T X AR Fﬁﬂﬁﬁfi
B NERAMRE - - F R BEE
BZRNBROEE - ARABTERERE_F
R RENE BIR T AV EREN MBI TRRD

BRTRRB
BEEgREHNIESER T EBEQ
FREMBMHBEREAEE Q2 ﬁm%&A
MEE : Q) BEENERBERRIEER @)
REREA =T = — F Rk BEVGTEIIAE T T
ETORRER TR TS ((RFH8)) 4

B BAMETAEEAEEARDL -

RBEFSRAMER  BEARTEEEET
EERSHREEREERAN WZEEEKES
B2 R AR R R R BN AR AR
TRE NEEARAR BEAEZE(E
hEE) ARAEN REHEARBELENE
BR - AR RIS A B AN SR [ B R ST B
BRRARRER -

RAAREEERKERANEIAESE HEHITH
ABHTEZMRRIBENTABHEACEZR
ETRAD BB B RLFILIFNTES
=R WABT EWRAUNRE  ERE
EHRBIE14A95 5 - MEMBRIBEESR
BRERBEHOMEFHN -0 BIEHRLE
ST AERBIURRMERE

RBNEGREE
578 852 B 0 HA I FE S SR Y 140 5 P AR E MO EAIR —
B RAMER  ERAEETHEER LR
MERT  TETSEEMNER  BR 8
BRER G FETRRSBHER 27
BEEORNEERRRETRENEE -
SEERA RN E T AFTHE ) B 1
B AEBARAEALETEARAZDOR
BERIR - WIRBER LR ER EIRB G -

—T o ERGEBHEETREADOHE
ST ERT - 1RSI G 1

5t Ko R 195 2% P Al A A L At S R R 1R T OE © 28
EEDPEER R - MR R b EIE A E AL
REER % o

98 MEBEZREELR

Source of the Shares

The Company, during the valid period of the 2022 Share Award Scheme, will at all times
reserve or instruct in writing the trustee to purchase existing Shares on Stock Exchange
to keep available such number of Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirements
of the 2022 Share Award Scheme. The Company will not issue new Shares to satisfy the
awards under the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Grant of Awards

The Board shall periodically approve each grant plan which shall include (1) the range
or the maximum number of the Shares to be granted; (2) the scope of the proposed
grantees; (3) the price range or the minimum price of the purchase price; and (4) the
duration of the grant plan for each batch of the proposed grant under the 2022 Share
Award Scheme from time to time during the valid period (the “Grant Plan”) and such
Grant Plan shall be proposed by the administrator.

With prior approval of the Board, the administrator may choose any eligible participant
as the grantee from time to time, such eligible participants shall be granted awards
within the valid period if relevant terms and conditions are met. When determining the
grantees, the administrator shall consider, among other things, the grantees’ current and
expected contributions to the Company, the financial situation of the Company, and the
objectives and future development of the whole business of the Group.

Any grant of an award to any Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of any
member of the Group, or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), shall
be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-executive Directors and shall
otherwise be subject to compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, unless
exempted from reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules if the award forms part of the
relevant Director’s remuneration under his/her service contract.

Conditions and Vesting of Awards

The term of each award shall be the term stated in the award agreement. During
the valid period, the administrator may, subject to all applicable laws, determine the
provisions, terms, vesting standards and conditions of each award including, but not
limited to, the vesting schedule, the number of Shares upon vesting of the award, and
satisfaction of any target setting. Each award shall be subject to the terms of an award
agreement approved by the administrator and the administrator shall have the right to
adjust the vesting schedule of the awards granted to the grantees and waive any vesting
conditions subject to applicable laws.

The vesting of the awards granted under the 2022 Share Award Scheme is subject to
the continuous service, the fulfillment of the vesting conditions of the relevant grantees
and any other applicable conditions stated in the award agreement. The awards shall
be vested in phases, which shall be determined by the administrator and stated in the
award agreement.
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The unvested awards in each vesting period shall lapse automatically and be forfeited for
no consideration upon cancellation, except as otherwise determined by the administrator
in its sole discretion.

Shares granted upon settlement of an award (or any portion thereof) shall be transferred
to the grantees in the name of the Trust.

Unless otherwise agreed by the administrator, the specific vesting arrangements are
as follows: the awards, subject to the Two Target Adjustments (as defined below) and
further reductions and restrictions as stipulated in the rule of the 2022 Share Award
Scheme and the award agreement, shall vest in six (6) years from the grant date (the
grantee is available to vest and settle the Shares by the trustee subject to the satisfaction
of the terms and conditions on each anniversary date from the grant date or any
date determined by the administrator, a “Vesting Date"”; each of the three one-year
period, a “Vesting Period”), provided that the grantee (1) remains an employee in
the respective Vesting Period ending on the corresponding Vesting Date, (2) has not
provided notice of his or her intention to resign or be subject to any termination process
on or before such date, and (3) otherwise complies with this 2022 Share Award Scheme
and the award agreement. In accordance with this term, the following vesting schedule
applies to each award granted hereunder: the first 33.33% (one-third) of the awards
shall vest on the first Vesting Date; and the second 33.33% (one-third) of the awards
shall vest on the second Vesting Date, and the last 33.33% (one-third) of the awards
shall vest on the third Vesting Date.

The amount of the awards vested may be further reduced by a certain percentage
as specified in the award agreement if the following targets are not met: (1) the
performance target of the Company, or (2) the performance target of the grantee
(collectively, the “Two Targets”; such reduction, the “Two Target Adjustment”). The
Two Targets shall be further elaborated in the award agreement.

Subject to the fulfillment of all the vesting conditions of the vesting of the awards,
the administrator may determine at its sole discretion to either: direct and procure the
trustee to transfer the number of Shares underlying the vested awards to the grantee
or its wholly owned entity or in the event of the grantee’s death, to the legal personal
representative(s) of the grantee; or direct and procure the trustee to sell the number of
Shares underlying the vested awards, by on-market transactions and pay the grantee the
actual selling price in cash arising from such sale after the full payment of the purchase
price and tax within a reasonable time period.
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Award Purchase Price

Subject to any applicable laws, the purchase price or the consideration for the
purchase of an award (if any), and the method of payment, shall be determined by the
administrator with the previous approvals of the Board.

From the 2022 Share Award Scheme Adoption Date and up to 31 December 2024, the
trustee purchased a total number of 65,933,000 Shares on the market for the purpose
of the 2022 Share Award Scheme.

Since the 2022 Share Award Scheme Adoption Date, no awards had been granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 2022 Share Award Scheme and there are no
outstanding awards.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the laws of
Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company repurchased 20,000,000 Shares through the Stock
Exchange at a total consideration, before expenses, of approximately HK$12.32 million
and held as Treasury Shares. Details of repurchase are as follows:

EfREARE
Aggregate
consideration paid
EEE SRROBEENER
igvig 4= Repurchasing price HER
Number of for each Share ARBEER
Shares BEET BIEET HEMBT Equivalent to
repurchased  Highest HK$  Lowest HK$ HK$ million ~ RMB million
—E-NEFESRA 10,000,000 0.56 0.52 5.36 4.87
June 2024
—MFE+—A 10,000,000 0.71 0.68 6.96 6.38
November 2024
#at 20,000,000 12.32 11.25
Total:

BREXHIEEZEEN BE-_T-_MNF+=A
=+—RHLEFE £AA TI%EHWE Gk
EEE HENBERARRNEMLEHIES
(BIEHEETFRG) B#E-Z-_NNF+=A
—+—H  AQR#EE 20,000,000 B EFRG
AAREEZEETRMANEZ T EhiEs -

100 WBREEZREEAR

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of Treasury Shares)
during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the Company held
20,000,000 Treasury Shares. The Company intended to use such Treasury Shares for
subsequent sale or transfer.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2024, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers were 7.6% and 17.6% respectively of the Group’s sales for the Year.

In 2024, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and five
largest suppliers were 20.5% and 34.8% respectively of the Group’s purchases for the
Year.

Neither the Directors or chief executive or any of their close associates or any Shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the number of issued
share capital (excluding Treasury Shares) of the Company) had any beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders
by reason of their holding the Company’s securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. Che Fengsheng (Chairman)

Dr. Guo Weicheng (Deputy Chairman and CEO)
Dr. Zhang Jionglong

Ms. Chen Yanling

Ms. Miao Guili (Deputy CEO and CFO)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong

Dr. Zhu Xun

Mr. Wang Guan

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual report.

Pursuant to Bye-Law 84(1) of the Bye-Laws, Dr. Zhang Jionglong, Ms. Miao Guili and Mr.

Wang Guan shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election as Directors at the 2025 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Dr. Che Fengsheng and Dr. Guo Weicheng being the executive Directors,
renewed their service contracts with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 28 October 2022, subject to termination before expiry by either party giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Each of Dr. Che and Dr. Guo
currently receives an annual salary of RMB7,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively
as an executive (such annual salary is subject to annual review by the Board and the
Remuneration Committee) and a discretionary bonus as may be decided by the Board
and the Remuneration Committee at their discretion, having regard to the performance
of the relevant executive Director.

Ms. Chen Yanling has entered into service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 20 April 2024, subject to termination before expiry by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Ms. Chen
currently receives an annual salary of HK$1,440,000 as an executive (such annual salary
is subject to annual review by the Board and the Remuneration Committee) and a
discretionary bonus as may be decided by the Board and the Remuneration Committee
at their discretion, having regard to her performance.

Ms. Miao Guili has entered into service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 17 October 2022, subject to termination before expiry by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Ms. Miao
currently receives an annual salary of HK$2,760,000 as an executive (such annual salary
is subject to annual review by the Board and the Remuneration Committee) and a
discretionary bonus as may be decided by the Board and the Remuneration Committee
at their discretion, having regard to her performance.

Dr. Zhang Jionglong has entered into service contract with the Company for a term of
three years commencing from 20 April 2024, subject to termination before expiry by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Dr. Zhang
currently receives an annual salary of HK$700,000 as an executive (such annual salary
is subject to annual review by the Board and the Remuneration Committee) and a
discretionary bonus as may be decided by the Board and the Remuneration Committee
at their discretion, having regard to his performance.

A &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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Each of the executive Directors shall abstain from voting, and not be counted in the
quorum, in respect of any resolution of the Board approving the determination of the
salary, bonus and other benefits payable to him/her.

Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong, Dr. Zhu Xun and Mr. Wang Guan, being the independent non-
executive Directors, renewed their respective letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of one year, commencing from 4 September 2024, 20 February 2025 and 1
April 2025 respectively. The Director’s fee for the year end 31 December 2024 for Mr.
Tsang Wah Kwong, Dr. Zhu Xun and Mr. Wang Guan are HK$412,000, HK$412,000
and HK$300,000 respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors standing for re-election
at the 2025 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than the
statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management or administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS,
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

During the Year, no Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) are considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group. Furthermore, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 36 to the Financial Statements. None of these
transactions constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below, the Group has not conducted any other connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction (as defined under the Listing Rules) which is subject
to reporting and annual review requirements under the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

1. Transfer of Shares in Xuanzhu Biopharm

Xuanzhu Biopharm, Xuanzhu (HK) Biopharmaceutical Limited (“Xuanzhu (HK)"),
Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Ltd. and Sun Moral International (HK) Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders of Xuanzhu Biopharm”) shall enter
into the share compensation and transfer agreements with Metropolitan Industrial
Investment Fund (REHEXHRAEREEES(BREE) (the "MIIF"),
Future Industry Investment Fund Il (e ELSEEEILEH S —H(BRAE) (the
“FIIF"), Shijiazhuang Keshuo Investment Centre (Limited Partnership) (‘& 4 &t
B EFRO(ERA ), Beijing Tonghe Yinxing Innovative Asset Management
Centre (Limited Partnership) (3t REI & BB AIFNEEEIRF L (BREE)) and
Shanghai Yunxin Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) (_t /& E Al %
BEEBTE(BRAER)) (collectively, the “Previous Investors”), respectively.
According to the agreements, the Controlling Shareholders of Xuanzhu Biopharm
shall transfer and return 29,791,162 shares of Xuanzhu Biopharm to the Previous
Investors at nil consideration, respectively, in order to reduce the actual investment
price of Xuanzhu Biopharm paid by the Previous Investors. Among them,
Xuanzhu (HK) shall transfer and return 24,332,920 shares of Xuanzhu Biopharm
held by Xuanzhu (HK) to the MIIF and the FIIF (collectively, the “Series A Lead
Investors”) at nil consideration, increasing the number of shares of Xuanzhu
Biopharm held by the Series A Lead Investors to 93,377,320 shares, such that
the effective investment cost for the Series A Lead Investors would be reduced to
RMB8.5674 per share.

Xuanzhu (HK) would enter into the equity transfer agreement with Tianjin
Zhenxuan Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (&% #&k
HEBENKEAELE(ERA ) (“Tianjin Zhenxuan”) and Tianjin Guoding
Pharmaceutical Technology Partnership (Limited Partnership) (& & Bl 5 28 %%
BEeaELE(ERA ) ("Tianjin Guoding”) (the “Employee Incentive
Platforms”), pursuant to which, Xuanzhu (HK) shall transfer a total of 8%
equity interest in Xuanzhu Biopharm held by it (the “Subject Equity”) to the
Employee Incentive Platforms. According to the equity transfer agreement,
Xuanzhu (HK) shall transfer 36,049,144 equity interests in Xuanzhu Biopharm
held by it (representing 8% of the equity interests in Xuanzhu Biopharm) to the
Employee Incentive Platforms, including all ownership associated with the equity
interests and all the rights, including profit distribution rights, asset distribution
rights, that shareholders of Xuanzhu Biopharm are entitled to under the articles
of association of Xuanzhu Biopharm and applicable laws. The total consideration
for the transfer of the Subject Equity amounts to RMB36,049,144 in total, of
which, Tianjin Zhenxuan will receive 34,467,544 shares (with a shareholding ratio
of approximately 7.649%) at the consideration of RMB34,467,544; and Tianjin
Guoding will receive 1,581,600 shares (with a shareholding ratio of approximately
0.3510%) at the consideration of RMB1,581,600.
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According to Rules 14.22 and 14.23 of the Listing Rules regarding transaction
classification, the transactions conducted under the share compensation and
transfer agreements and the equity transfer agreement (for the avoidance of
doubt, the transactions under the share compensation and transfer agreements do
not constitute disclosable transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules)
involve the transfer of the existing shares in Xuanzhu Biopharm by the Controlling
Shareholders of Xuanzhu Biopharm within a twelve-month period. Accordingly,
the transactions under the share compensation and transfer agreements and the
equity transfer agreement are considered and aggregated as one transaction.
As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined under the Listing Rules)
for the transaction under the equity transfer agreement, when calculated on a
standalone basis, is below 5%, but the highest applicable percentage ratio (as
defined under Listing Rules) for the transactions under the share compensation
and transfer agreements and the equity transfer agreement, when calculated
on an aggregated basis, is above 5% but below 25%, the transaction under the
equity transfer agreement constitutes a disclosable transaction for the Company
and is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules.

Before the above transfer of shares in Xuanzhu Biopharm, the MIIF and the FIIF
held approximately 11.49% and 3.83% of the shares in Xuanzhu Biopharm,
respectively. As the MIIF and the FIIF were controlled by the same de facto
controller, accordingly, the Series A Lead Investors collectively held approximately
15.32% of the shares in Xuanzhu Biopharm before the above transfer of shares
in Xuanzhu Biopharm, making them the substantial shareholders of Xuanzhu
Biopharm, which constituted connected persons at the subsidiary level of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Therefore, the transactions conducted under
the share compensation and transfer agreements of the Series A Lead Investors
constituted connected transactions for the Company. The Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) have reviewed the share compensation
and transfer agreements of the Series A Lead Investors and believe that the
terms and conditions for the share compensation and clawback received by the
Series A Lead Investors are consistent with those of the other Previous Investors,
without any special treatment, and are on normal commercial terms and are fair
and reasonable, and are in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as
a whole. The transactions conducted under the share compensation and transfer
agreements of the Series A Lead Investors are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempted from the requirements of circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. None of the Directors has or is deemed to have a significant
interest in the transactions conducted under the share compensation and transfer
agreements of the Series A Lead Investors.

For the details of the transactions, please refer to announcement and

supplemental announcement of the Company dated 25 November 2024 and 10
January 2025 respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries has been entered into between the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries nor the Company’s controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors and chief executive of the Company had the
following interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company

MEATEZERM iR TT SFRIZBRTT and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:
HMEARRF RE AT 2w JORBIAT -
EERBROBEBEROHER Directors’ interests in Shares or underlying Shares
BEpE [ 3-3:3- 91 B 67 48 & BRESATI L

Approximate
Percentage of

Name of Director Nature of Interest/Capacity Total Number of Shares Shareholding
BEAE R E RS 5,133,125,704 % (41 &) 55.02% (4 &)
Dr. Che Fengsheng 3,379,917,2250% (&) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)

Interest in controlled corporations
3,379,917,225 Shares (L)

—BITEA L (MI5E1)
1,745,084,813 8% (17 &)

A concert party to an agreement (Note 1)
1,745,084,813 Shares (L)

H g (F3E2)
8,123,666 % (1¥2)
Other interest (Note 2)
8,123,666 Shares (L)
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RIEH

Total Number of Shares

BREMAT I
Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding

EE 2
Dr. Guo Weicheng

RAEER
Dr. Zhang lJionglong

BRI L
Ms. Chen Yanling

BWBLL
Ms. Miao Guili

wES L
Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong

KB+
Dr. Zhu Xun

EnEEA
11,350,000 % (#7&)
Beneficial owner
11,350,000 Shares (L)

ZEEERE S

1,100,884,399 1% (1F &)

Interest in a controlled corporation
1,100,884,399 Shares (L)

—BITB AL (FHEE3)
4,020,891,305 % (47 &)

A concert party to an agreement (Note 3)
4,020,891,305 Shares (L)

ZEEERES

255,582,886 1% (4 &)

Interest in a controlled corporation
255,582,886 Shares (L)

—BITB AL (FH5E4)
4,877,542,818 % (418

A concert party to an agreement (Note 4)
4,877,542,818 Shares (L)

EmER A (HFES)
4,000,000 % (47 &)
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
4,000,000 Shares (L)

BEnEA A (HES)
9,000,000 % (47 2)
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
9,000,000 Shares (L)

=gt 2-UNET)
3,000,000 f% (47 8)
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
3,000,000 Shares (L)

BEnfAa A (f:E5)
3,000,000 B (47 2)
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
3,000,000 Shares (L)

5,133,125,704 1% (17 2)
5,133,125,704 Shares (L)

5,133,125,704 % (17 &)
5,133,125,704 Shares (L)

4,000,000 % (45 &)
4,000,000 Shares (L)

9,000,000 % (472"
9,000,000 Shares (L)

3,000,000 3% (47 &)
3,000,000 Shares (L)

3,000,000 3% (4 &)
3,000,000 Shares (L)

55.02% (47 &)
55.02% (L)

55.02% (¥ &)
55.02% (L)

0.04% (4 2&)
0.04% (L)

0.10% (47 &)
0.10% (L)

0.03% (4 &)
0.03% (L)

0.03% (47 &)
0.03% (L)
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377,267,528 % % 1,100,884,399 % i% 1 % A&
W -

R-ZZE_ZFENAZ+AB " BER=-ZT—+t
F+AZ+HOARANAD B BEREE - &
I T M R I8 B 4,000,000 R AR 5
2R 2 TR IR BB AR E S B 3,000,000 ARAR (S
0 EE i S A M P S AR ME B B 3,000,000 A% A% 17
KR AE TR B AR RS E 3,000,000 BRAR 1S ©
R-TB-_—FNA—8 RER-_ZT—tF+
A+t ARANADEERESE - BRE
ZHER AR B 6,000,000 A% #% 17

°

FRILIKREERZSERONGTE
[SIAIRKREETRZERMHIAR -

Notes:

M

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Dr. Che Fengsheng is deemed to be interested in the
11,350,000 Shares, 1,100,884,399 Shares, 377,267,528 Shares and 255,582,886 Shares held
by Dr. Guo Weicheng, Successmax Global Holdings Limited, Victory Faith International Limited
and Mingyao Capital Limited, respectively.

Since Dr. Che Fengsheng is one of the settlors of the trust for which Sihuan Management
(PTC) Limited is a trustee, Dr. Che Fengsheng is deemed to be interested in the long position
of 8,123,666 Shares held by Sihuan Management (PTC) Limited.

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Dr. Guo Weicheng is deemed to be interested in
the 8,123,666 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225 Shares, 377,267,528 Shares and
255,582,886 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Network Victory Limited, Proper Process
International Limited, Victory Faith International Limited and Mingyao Capital Limited,
respectively.

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Dr. Zhang Jionglong is deemed to be interested
in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225 Shares,
377,267,528 Shares and 1,100,884,399 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo
Weicheng, Network Victory Limited, Proper Process International Limited, Victory Faith
International Limited and Successmax Global Holdings Limited, respectively.

On 26 August 2020, Ms. Chen Yanling was granted to purchase 4,000,000 Shares; Ms.
Miao Guili was granted to purchase 3,000,000 Shares; Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong was granted
to purchase 3,000,000 Shares and Dr. Zhu Xun was granted to purchase 3,000,000 Shares
pursuant to the Company’s Share Option Scheme adopted on 24 October 2017. On 1
September 2021, Ms. Miao Guili was granted to purchase 6,000,000 Shares pursuant to the
Company’s Share Option Scheme adopted on 24 October 2017.

The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in such Shares and the letter “S” denotes
the Director’s short position in such Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executive and their associates
had any interests or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO, which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which he/she/it was deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December
2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Year, the Company did not grant any rights to any Directors, chief executive
or their respective spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire beneficial interests
by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company, and none
of the above persons have exercised the said rights during the Year. The Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries were not a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DONATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s charitable donations amounted to
RMB375,400 (2023: RMB14,303,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, the Company did not enter
into any equity-linked agreement during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-Laws, every Director or other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts,
provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the said persons.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Directors for
their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
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FTERRAKRMD  HEROR
ExhzEERAXR

RZE-_WF+_A=1+—R A2AREHE

FRHEERIFE3B6IGRAFEZE LM

ATBR (PEERARRZEERERTHRAR)

RARBCEHITERA  HEROKESTHA
5% kA LR (BEAR)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the following Shareholders, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, had interests of 5% or more (including
short positions) in the issued share capital, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company:

BRREEE8 BEME 55 47 48 8 BREBNEI

Approximate
Percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest/Capacity Total Number of Shares Shareholding
BEEE REEEREE 5,133,125,704 % (4F &) 55.02% (4F &)
Mr. Meng Xianhui 377,267,528 % (17 &) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)

Interest in a controlled corporation
377,267,528 Shares (L)

—BITB AL (FHEE1)
4,755,858,176 f% (41 &)

A concert party to an agreement (Note 1)
4,755,858,176 Shares (L)

Proper Process International Limited BEmEAA 5,133,125,704 % (4 &) 55.02% (&)
2,882,469,225 1% (1 &) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)

Beneficial owner
2,882,469,225 Shares (L)

—BITB AL (FHE2)
2,250,656,479 1% (4128

A concert party to an agreement (Note 2)
2,250,656,479 Shares (L)

Network Victory Limited

EnBBA 5,133,125,704 % (17 &) 55.02% (¥ &)

497,448,000 % (17 &) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)
Beneficial owner
497,448,000 Shares (L)

—BITEB AL (PHEE3)
4,635,677,704 % (47 8)

A concert party to an agreement (Note 3)
4,635,677,704 Shares (L)

Successmax Global Holdings Limited E=REAA 5,133,125,704 % (47 &) 55.02% ({1 &)
1,100,884,399 )% (47 &) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)
Beneficial owner
1,100,884,399 Shares (L)

—EATEA L (Fi5E4)
4,032,241,305 % (47 &)

A concert party to an agreement (Note 4)
4,032,241,305 Shares (L)
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BRRER LB BuME/ 6 B 67 48 & BREMAT I
Approximate
Percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest/Capacity Total Number of Shares Shareholding
Victory Faith International Limited BE=nEAA 5,133,125,704 % (#F &) 55.02% (#f &)
377,267,528 % (11 &) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)
Beneficial owner
377,267,528 Shares (L)
—BATEA L (MI5E5)
4,755,858,176 % (11 &)
A concert party to an agreement (Note 5)
4,755,858,176 Shares (L)
Mingyao Capital Limited E=nlEAA 5,133,125,704 % (17 &) 55.02% (#f &)
255,582,886 % (11 &) 5,133,125,704 Shares (L) 55.02% (L)

ffeE

M

Beneficial owner
255,582,886 Shares (L)

—HITBAL (MiEe)

4,877,542,8180% (47 8)
A concert party to an agreement (Note 6)
4,877,542,818 Shares (L)

RIEES L EEDIE317 R318IEEE &=
BELEERRANEFAEE  THEREE
Proper Process International Limited - Network
Victory Limited * Successmax Global Holdings
Limited & Mingyao Capital Limited % Bl #5 &
8,123,666 % + 11,350,000 f% - 2,882,469,225
f% -~ 497,448,0000% - 1,100,884,399 & &
255,582,886 A% AX {7 R #E #E & o

REEBFRBEGIF317TRI18KR
5E ' Proper Process International Limited
BWERREBERABE BHEREE -
Network Victory Limited * Successmax Global
Holdings Limited ~ Victory Faith International
Limited & Mingyao Capital Limited % Bl ¥ &
8,123,666 % + 11,350,000 iz * 497,448,000
f& - 1,100,884,399f% - 377,267,528 ik
255,582,886 A AR 7 HE A #E 4 o

Notes:

m

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Mr. Meng Xianhui is deemed to be interested
in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares,
1,100,884,399 Shares and 255,582,886 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo
Weicheng, Proper Process International Limited, Network Victory Limited, Successmax Global
Holdings Limited and Mingyao Capital Limited, respectively.

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Proper Process International Limited is deemed to
be interested in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares, 1,100,884,399
Shares, 377,267,528 Shares and 255,582,886 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo
Weicheng, Network Victory Limited, Successmax Global Holdings Limited, Victory Faith
International Limited and Mingyao Capital Limited, respectively.
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BREZFRAEGIE317RI18KR
T+ Network Victory Limited # 18 & W &
BT B A - MY EE & - Proper Process
International Limited - Successmax Global
Holdings Limited - Victory Faith International
Limited & Mingyao Capital Limited % B3F &
8,123,666 A% ~ 11,350,000 % + 2,882,469,225
&+ 1,100,884,399 % + 377,267,528 ik 2
255,582,886 IR R A R HE B 1 & ©

RIEZEF P EEOIE317R318IERE
Successmax Global Holdings Limited #% %
RPN EISF &L - AR AL - Network
Victory Limited - Proper Process International
Limited - Victory Faith International Limited
K Mingyao Capital Limited® 3l # A&
8,123,666 /% + 11,350,000 % + 497,448,000
B~ 2,882,469,225/% ~ 377,267,528 X &
255,582,886 i 1) A B #E A ©

RIEZEF RGP EEDIE37R318IERTE
Victory Faith International Limited 1 18 A
BEAE 20 4 8 B8 4 - Network Victory
Limited -~ Proper Process International Limited -
Successmax Global Holdings Limited 2 Mingyao
Capital Limited % 5l %% 58,123,666 & »
11,350,000 f% + 497,448,000 % ~ 2,882,469,225
A% - 1,100,884,399 % & 255,582,886 % A% 5
R -

REBEZBFRBERNET7RIIBEKEHRTE -
Mingyao Capital Limited % 1% AP B 5 7+ 88 & -
20 4 9 B8 4 - Network Victory Limited  Proper
Process International Limited » Successmax Global
Holdings Limited % Victory Faith International
Limited % B ¥ 4 8,123,666 % * 11,350,000
i - 497,448,000 /% - 2,882,469,225 % *
1,100, 884,399% 377,267,528kt R A
W

E‘\

FHLRRBRRESRHEOTR -
[SIAIRRBERZ SR AR -

eSS

MEREEZEREERFR

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Network Victory Limited is deemed to be interested
in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225 Shares, 1,100,884,399 Shares,
377,267,528 Shares and 255,582,886 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo Weicheng,
Proper Process International Limited, Successmax Global Holdings Limited, Victory Faith
International Limited and Mingyao Capital Limited, respectively.

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Successmax Global Holdings Limited is deemed to
be interested in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225
Shares, 377,267,528 Shares and 255,582,886 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo
Weicheng, Network Victory Limited, Proper Process International Limited, Victory Faith
International Limited and Mingyao Capital Limited, respectively.

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Victory Faith International Limited is deemed to be
interested in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225
Shares, 1,100,884,399 Shares and 255,582,886 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo
Weicheng, Network Victory Limited, Proper Process International Limited, Successmax Global
Holdings Limited and Mingyao Capital Limited, respectively.

Under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, Mingyao Capital Limited is deemed to be interested
in 8,123,666 Shares, 11,350,000 Shares, 497,448,000 Shares, 2,882,469,225 Shares,
1,100,884,399 Shares and 377,267,528 Shares held by Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr. Guo
Weicheng, Network Victory Limited, Proper Process International Limited, Successmax Global
Holdings Limited and Victory Faith International Limited, respectively.

The letter “L" denotes the Shareholder’s long position in such Shares and the letter “S”
denotes the Shareholder’s short position in such Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, according to the records in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, no other parties had an interest or a short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares or debentures of the Company recorded
under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is dedicated to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 62 to 87 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued share capital were
held by members of the public as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this
annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, the Group has no significant events
after the reporting period up to the date of this annual report.

RE-APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee was satisfied with Ernst & Young's work, their independence,
and their objectivity, and therefore recommended the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
(which have indicated their willingness to continue in office) as the Group’s external
auditor for 2025 for Shareholders’ approval at the 2025 AGM.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 were audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company will be proposed at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change in the auditor of the Company
in the preceding three years.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of Directors
subsequent to the date of the Company’s interim report 2024 are as follows:

1. Dr. Zhu Xun, an independent non-executive Director of the Company, ceased to
be the independent director of Shenzhen Chipscreen Biosciences Co., Ltd. (%
IR £ B RHE B9 B BR A &) (stock code: 688321) (a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange) with effect from 19 April 2024.

By Order of the Board
Dr. Che Fengsheng
Chairman of the Board

28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Ernst & Young Lok EsHENE AR Tel E&E: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place  FEMISAREEITI5E  Fax{BH: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road Kt —EE2748 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd.
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sihuan Pharmaceutical
Holdings Group Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 122 to 279, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs")
issued by the IASB. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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FEETEE

HREFSASRBRMANERAE  R5Y
BHAARGAMBRROBARREEZNETIR -
EURRETELGE VB RRBERETEML
FWRERNE R TETEEN R TEELE
SEEHREBENER - RMABTNEE-FBEE
FEar RN EYNEHA DAL SE S -

BPCEETT RANMELHMAF A E
HBEHZAENEFROMANEE 2R
B REARBEWEE - BEM - RPNET
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BEFNER  BEEY T U EEMAITOIRZR -

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation
to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit

REERIMGEMBERRERBIERIRM TR -

HREETER

Key audit matter

opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

EMNEFNNEERARESER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

(2 Z NN

Capitalisation of development costs

RIZZBZME+ZA=+—0 BESELBEAXAEREEERD
EEETHRBRARERL  SEHARKES71HET - HEEE
BT HER &S FE2.10(a) 478 B 5 8 | R IR B ) P B IR R 1 & R
- ERTEEEREHFRENMBER FTEETERNERMG
5T B -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capitalised development
costs in progress amounting to approximately RMB567.1 million for
the development of new pharmaceutical products. The expenditure on
development activities was capitalised when all the criteria mentioned
in note 2.10(a) “Research and development” were satisfied. Significant
management estimation and judgement were required in determining
whether the Group met the capitalisation criteria.

EERBEREMNAGE T BERRMEE2.100) MR ERFE] - M
3 IAEKANERNME ] R 17\ EE] ©

Related disclosures are included in note 2.10(a) “Research and
development”, note 3(d) “Capitalisation of development costs” and
note 17 “Intangible assets” to the consolidated financial statements.

BMARTESECANEHHRRIEETMEAZREFE
R EREIENRTE BEIEES TABRBEHNEEQE
Wi ERTT R E G0 L AT T B IR B HiR 2R R 15 e 2
We assessed the compliance of the accounting policy and
methodology for capitalisation of expenditures used by the Group
with International Accounting Standard 38, obtained and examined
trial readouts and regulatory announcements, and evaluated the
management judgement on the satisfaction of criteria through
comparison to industry practice.

B T7E FEMAATESRERERAERNCN NGRS
HEFOMEEANEIZES  WES T AEEEMRMAIITIERE -
We obtained an understanding of, assessed and tested the relevant
internal controls over the Group’s internal governance and approval
process on capitalisation of development costs and examined the
internal commercial and technical feasibility reports.

BMEHE T EEEE UM BBRRPERKAERNMENERRE RS ©
We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures of capitalisation
of development costs in the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BMNEFNNEEARENEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of intangible assets

RZZBZME+ZA=+—0 BE£ENETPERRERELR
BERAD NN RBARBSINEETRARE243.08 8T - E12E
ERESEMEENERMFAEXNEARMAEETHEMRENSE
BHERSFFAINMERRBE@MENRE EITEMCENEER
S ap B BAVE HORE R L - BLF RS R ERE IR B H T R fhEr o aE
A mER  RRERFE  FUBRRAR X - ZEREF (A8
BHOREARLREL -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had product development in
progress and deferred development costs amounting to approximately
RMB567.1 million and RMB243.0 million, respectively. The
management made impairment assessment based on estimated future
cash flows generated by all pharmaceutical patents or licences in
capitalisation of development costs and all product development in
progress that the Group possessed, and projected product lifecycles
experienced in the pharmaceutical industry. This matter involved
significant management judgements and estimates, such as forecasted
revenue growth, future beneficial life, profit margin and discount
rate. Changes in these assumptions might lead to a change in the
impairment results.

AR RN AR E MBS mEM T 2.7 ESmEERE] - HizE2.10
[EREE] ~ M5t 3(a) [HEAE 5 35 BOAR B 17 9 2 mm A R (B | e Bt
H17IEEEE] -

Related disclosures are included in note 2.7 “Impairment of non-
financial assets”, note 2.10 “Intangible assets”, note 3(a) “Impairment
of deferred development costs and product development in progress”
and note 17 “Intangible assets” to the consolidated financial
statements.

BFEANBEEZERBE M ERES TR TR AR E -
We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the methodologies and discount rate used in the
impairment analysis.

BMAANERReRENERERREEELNEATISMHE -
TAEEE LB EEMNEBKAR - ¥E T aREE M — 888 Rl
BB ARMELEHE (HMAER) - RHMBBRLEBREREREL
AT HA RS P EHE R SRET (R B IR B TR0 -

We evaluated the key assumptions in the cash flow forecast,
including the products’ projected market shares, expected selling
prices and associated costs to be incurred against consensus forecasts
of certain therapeutic areas and benchmark data for comparable
companies where available. We assessed the management’s forecast
by comparing the actual results with the projections made in prior
periods.

B ERERNRE M BRRPEBLEERENKZEZERE °
We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures of impairment of
intangible assets in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

EREESEE
BREHEE

Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BMNEFNNEEARENEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

W% BB KR AR E

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

RZZ-_WF+_A=+—H0 E£EHBEREVE BENEE -
SHENABARKE20075BETL - FEAREME RS EEN —Z7

HEBTERARNERENETIERREE T EERNOP B RALR

FIEEREEM -

The Group had significant property, plant and equipment amounting
to approximately RMB2,007.5 million as at 31 December 2024.
A series of major policies related to the in-depth reform of the
pharmaceutical industry imposed by the government of the
People’s Republic of China have created uncertainty in the financial
performance of the Group’s main products in general.

Bt ERERT TREESTBENAEEREENER L7
BERBeRBAMGIRE 2%  HYWE BRERRBHED
ReEFEU ((ReEEEA])ET TRENE - ZEFENEM
WEFTIIEITEZ  ARAENSEFREMN S REZHE
KAt e

Accordingly, the management identified impairment indicators and
performed impairment assessment of the cash-generating units
("CGUs") that the property, plant and equipment were related to
by estimating the recoverable amounts based on the value in use
calculation using discounted cash flow projections. This matter was
significant to our audit because the process of impairment assessment
was complex and involved significant judgements and estimates.

ERBRBREANAGEMBERERWT 27 FermEERE] « W28
(% BFEREBEUARITE]  HE30) [WE - BERRERE]
KM 13[% - BB R&E] -

Related disclosures are included in note 2.7 “Impairment of non-
financial assets”, note 2.8 “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation”, note 3(b) “Impairment of property, plant and
equipment” and note 13 “Property, plant and equipment” to the
consolidated financial statements.

BMEABEEERBHRMTEREI TR PAANTE -
We involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
evaluation of the methodologies used in the impairment analysis.

BMBBEBRANSReELBUNBEL EEMEBERAS
FHETHERRR BREMNEGTSOE  REEE KKK
AT LK EERAAERBOR

We evaluated the key assumptions including the products’ projected
market shares, expected selling prices and associated costs applied in
the future revenues and operating result forecasts by comparing the
forecasts with the historical performance of the respective CGUs and
the business development plan.

BMAGEEEERGEVBRRTEDE  BERRXENRER
BREESRRE

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures concerning
impairment of property, plant and equipment in the consolidated
financial statements.
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B 2 AR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or
to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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B 2 AR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

3 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

3 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is HO
Siu Fung, Terence.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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re 1B M Bt & W
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZZ-NWF+-A=+—HILFE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

—E-IEF —TE=F
2024 2023
B 5 AR®T T ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Wz Revenue 5 1,901,109 1,860,539
SHEBR Cost of sales (659,399) (564,895)
EF GROSS PROFIT 1,241,710 1,295,644
E A Other income 5 248,034 197,735
Hias— 58 Other gains — net 5 123,732 216,148
paki=l 53 Distribution expenses (430,055) (442,257)
ITHHRX Administrative expenses (745,429) (468,958)
M RAEREZ Research and development expenses (473,925) (577,656)
Hapx Other expenses (102,198) (58,958)
= (FR), R OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT (138,131) 161,698
g Finance expenses 7 (274,931) (269,337)
DMEFAERESTENRE Share of profits and losses of investments accounted for
St M) K T 48 using the equity method 19 (15,226) (53,621)
FR i A 5 18 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 (428,288) (161,260)
FrBRiB S Income tax expense 10 (43,261) (96,427)
FEER LOSS FOR THE YEAR (471,549) (257,687)
LA AL - Attributable to:
PN/NEIEZ 2SN Owners of the Company (216,662) (54,017)
FEFE AR Non-controlling interests (254,887) (203,670)
(471,549) (257,687)

122  THIREREERR B AR 2 A SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



VPN

N

(=)

B N H A & E W &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZZ-NWF+-A=+—HILFE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

—E-IEF —TE=F
2024 2023
B 5 AR®T T ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FEFE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (471,549) (257,687)
FEHMEZEEE  NBRHE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX - -
FEXEHBERARE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR (471,549) (257,687)
AT AT (L - Attributable to:
KRRIEB A Owners of the Company (216,662) (54,017)
SEIE AR A A Non-controlling interests (254,887) (203,670)
FEXHBBRER TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR (471,549) (257,687)
AR®T AREETT
RMB RMB
ARAEBESEEAEW LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
SRER EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 12
BREAR#EEE Basic and diluted loss per share
FEBRA For loss for the year (2.34) % cents (0.58) % cents
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AR A B ISAIROR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—EIEETZA=t—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

+=—BA=+—H
31 December
—E-IF —EB-=F
2024 2023
Ft 5 AR TR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
kRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
W - WE RE Property, plant and equipment 13 2,007,453 2,174,591
HEME Investment properties 14 255,132 245,930
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 15 627,357 667,438
EES Goodwill 16 1,853 1,853
BV EE Intangible assets 17 841,729 775,962
FRAERESTENEE Investments accounted for using the equity method 19 647,591 649,619
BATEGFABENERERE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 170,451 354,275
HM3EmeEE Other non-current assets 21 130,252 331,481
BRERIRE B Deferred tax assets 31 32,129 31,770
TEHATF 3R Time deposits 24 100,000 -
EHEARFR Pledged deposits 24 7 98,756
FERBNEELLE Total non-current assets 4,813,954 5,331,675
REEE CURRENT ASSETS
rE Inventories 22 417,000 557,323
B 5 & B e AR 3R Trade and other receivables 23 1,424,186 1,134,750
BATFEFABENSREE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 110,578 589,016
ReERREEED Cash and cash equivalents 24 3,522,383 3,778,666
TEHITF 3K Time deposits 24 144,000 130,000
EHERFER Pledged deposits 24 99,416 14,000
RENVEEMTE Total current assets 5.717,563 6,203,755
=R CURRENT LIABILITIES
B 5 & E e AR Trade and other payables 29 1,687,878 1,710,825
FHERITIER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 32 137,037 269,680
EHBE Contract liabilities 30 101,337 131,785
FERFTSHL Income tax payable 63,968 44,205
HEBE Lease liabilities 15 11,380 12,385
HEMRBas Other current liabilities 28 1,308,816 1,937,922
mEN R EARE Total current liabilities 3,310,416 4,106,802
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

+=HA=+—H
31 December
“E-mEF =
2024 2023
Mok AR® T ARBTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
BRBEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,407,147 2,096,953
BEERREBER TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,221,101 7,428,628
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
REFIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 31 5,261 70,323
FHERITIER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 32 704,747 864,142
HEBE Lease liabilities 15 12,505 30,276
AREE Contract liabilities 30 202,651 44,190
Hi3EREaE Other non-current liabilities 28 1,346,633 1,282,673
ERBABETE Total non-current liabilities 2,271,797 2,291,604
FEE Net assets 4,949,304 5,137,024
s EQUITY
AAREE AEILERE Equity attributable to owners of the Company
A&7 Share capital 25 77,058 77,058
BEFRRAD Treasury shares 25 (54,109) (33,811)
f& 15 % B Share premium 25 3,882,304 3,882,304
#E Reserves 27 (31,419) (439,765)
RE AT Retained earnings 27 498,424 946,344
4,372,258 4,432,130
FEERER Non-controlling interests 577,046 704,894
B Total equity 4,949,304 5,137,024
HEH SRAE A
Che Fengsheng Guo Weicheng
EE Ea
Director Director
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GAMNEDE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_Z_NF+-_A=+—HILEFE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

ALRRENEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BE  ERRB ROEE i REEN &5 FERER BRE
Non-
Share  Treasury Share Retained controlling Total
capital shares  premium  Reserves  earnings Total interests equity
it ARMTR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARET:R
Notes RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
RZE-mE&-B-H At 1 January 2024 77,058 (33,811) 3,882,304 (439,765 946,344 4,432,130 704,894 5,137,024
EhER Loss for the year - - - - (1666) (16662  (254887)  (471,549)
EERMHREEE Employee share award scheme
-EIRBEE - Value of employee services 26 - - - 418,020 - 418,020 - 418,020
“E-RERERS 2024 interim dividend i - - - - (177,080)  (177,080) - (177,080)
SAFEERRE RS Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - (6,347) (6,347)
ERZTEETRES Transfer to PRC statutory reserve fund 2 - - - 53531 (53,531) - - -
ERRR Repurchase of shares - (20,29 - - - (20,29) - (202
BERTEES ZEHRARDE() Spedal reserve for maintenance and
production funds () - - - 647 (647) - - -
ERXREBHBERTHEDSD  Partial disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
WEAARE without loss of control - - - (59,687) - (59687) 95735 36,048
HERANFERRRLE Capital contribution by non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - (4,165) - (4,165) 37,651 33,486
RZB-ME+=ZB=1-A At 31 December 2024 71,058 (54,109) 3,882,304 (31,419) 498424 4372258 577,046 4,949,304
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GRRREDR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_ZT-_NME+-_A=+—HIFE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

ARREEAEH

Attributable to owners of the Company

k& ERRR  RhHEE HfE  RERM &t FERER  AEE

Non-
Share Treasury Share Retained controlling Total
capital shares  premium Reserves eamings Total interests equity

i ARSTL ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARMTE ARETRL
Notes ~ RMBOOD  RMBIOOO  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMB'ODO  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMB'000

RZE-=f-F-H At 1 January 2023 77,058 - 3882304 (528850) 1,306486 4,736,998 902,828 5,639,826
ERER Loss for the year - - - - (54017)  (54017)  (203670) (257,687
EERHREEE Employee share award scheme

-EIRBEE - Value of employee services 2% - - - 89,084 - 89,084 - 89,084

ZTIZERERS Final 2022 dividend ll - - - - (298560)  (298,560) - (298,560)

XA FHERRR RS Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - (120000 (12,000

EREPEETRES Transfer to PRC statutory reserve fund 7 - - - 441 (4.241) - - -

FZEFZZFROREHEEE  Purchase of share for the 2022

Rip Share Award Scheme - (381 - - - (3381 - (381

GENEEZSZHRBHLE()  Spedal reserve for maintenance and

production funds (i) - - - 3324 (3,324) - - -

HERANEERRRLE Capital contribution by non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries - - - (7.564) - (7.564) 17,736 10,172
ZECZEYZAZT-B At 31 December 2023 77,058 (33811) 3882304  (439,765) 946344 4,432,130 704,894 5,137,024

B 3 Note:

0) BIEAERBREE  AEBABEEREIEE (i) Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Group is required to transfer production and
SR AMBE T REEEE T HEES o & maintenance funds at a fixed rate based on revenue, to a specific reserve account. The
ENBEERSTEREFEERERTEDIEHRA production and maintenance funds could be utilised when expenses or capital expenditures
FTEREARAL HEFER - EERBEESHER on production maintenance and safety measures are incurred. The amount of production and
SEEREEEBESDINR - maintenance funds utilised would be deducted from that specific reserve account.
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HARETRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BHE_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—BILFE

—E-IEF —ET-=F
2024 2023
Bt 5 AR TR ARETFT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
RETHHEESRE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
KEEENR® Cash generated from operations 33 332,806 283,284
BEFER Income tax paid (88,919) (83,797)
RETEBNESREFE Net cash flows from operating activities 243,887 199,487
REFDHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEWE WEKIEB Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (70,705) (125,346)
BEIREME Purchases of investment properties - (1,296)
BERFEE Purchases of intangible assets (115,670) (170,072)
HERME®R Purchases of wealth management products (8,763,644) (10,091,380)
HBERATEFENIELT Purchase of unlisted equity investments, at fair value
g & (110,867) -
o5 38 B SR P 1S RTE Proceeds from disposal of wealth management
products 9,244,366 10,468,006
HEZRQAFEFTEMNIELETAAE Proceeds from disposal of unlisted equity investments,
& E TS RIE at fair value 271,315 -
HEME - BERRER Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
FriS 5B plant and equipment 33 3,713 15,538
HE—HREMEEREN Proceeds from disposal of items of an investment
FriS 58 property 15,765 -
HEEMEENBREA Proceeds from disposal of items of intangible assets 6,604 36
FE=FERBHA Advances of loans to third parties (16,700) (39,500)
E=HENERFE Repayment of loans from third parties 87,406 4,317
BN REEENR Repayment of loans from associates 124,700 -
HERBAR  HKRIRE Disposals of subsidiaries, net of cash - 14,925
HE—REEE QR Disposal of an associate 35,000 -
FETHER Placement of time deposits (244,000) (130,000)
FEDEEFFRK Placement of pledged deposits (43,417) =
REUE BifF R Withdrawal of time deposits 130,000 =
REE EIFF R Withdrawal of pledged deposits 56,750 64,445
B U F & Interest received 147,621 160,204
RETEFIEERESRETFHE  Net cash flows from investing activities 758,237 169,877
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HEEEERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_Z-_MNE+_-_A=+—HIFE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

—B-NEF —E=F
2024 2023
Bt 5 AR TR AREFIT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
METHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
EBRRITIERFIE Repayment of bank borrowings (610,288) (385,648)
B E At {8 5 RIB Repayment of other borrowings (31,600) (14,866)
HIRITER New bank borrowings 318,250 384,012
EMER New other borrowings 32,254 1,573
HENRHAEH Principal portion of lease payments 15 (8,095) (16,453)
L)=pNGIlE P e HXHX% hE Capital contribution by non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries 33,486 10,172
TERKEPEFIEER T HEES Partial disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
S ENGIlE without loss of control 36,048 -
88 [0 §% 17 Shares repurchased (20,298) (33,811)
ErEREE Repayment of redemption liability 34 (785,270) -
DRSNS ES Il S Dividends paid to the Company’s shareholders 34 (177,080) (298,560)
B M AR AR SR S AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders 34 (2,351) (12,000)
[EENEUESS Interest paid 34 (43,463) (53,980)
REEFBHARSREFHE Net cash flows used in financing activities (1,258,407) (419,561)
RERBAESEBYRL FH NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (256,283) (50,197)
FYHReRBEED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,778,666 3,828,863
FRESRBESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 24 3,522,383 3,778,666
ReERRSEBYERD N ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Be RiRIT4E Cash and bank balances 2,076,670 2,944,379
BERVBHRLON=@AZ  Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of
EE IR HFR less than three months when acquired 1,445,713 834,287
FREMBRAERR Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
HERERERMINZ consolidated statement of financial position and the
ReRREEEY statement of cash flows 3,522,383 3,778,666
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated in
Bermuda under the Bermuda Companies Act as an exempted company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are the research and
development (“R&D"), and the manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical products
and medical aesthetic products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The address of the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of the principal place of business
of the Group in Hong Kong is Room 4905, Office Tower, Convention Plaza, 1
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, and the address of the principal place of
business in Beijing is 22/F, Building 4, Zhubang 2000, West Balizhuang, Chaoyang
District, Beijing 100025, the PRC.

The Company had its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 28 October 2010.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to both years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards (which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for wealth
management products, notes receivable and equity investments which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(0  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
year as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities and any non-controlling interest;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting Standards
for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

ERBECHERE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

BESEBREHIETE ([ —FE-FFET))
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)

s FRB R E ([ —F = —FEE7))

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
RIER G A L HE

Supplier Finance Arrangements
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards are
described below:

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
Since the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of
a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after
the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities
as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded that the classification
of its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

()

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

As a result of the implementation of the amendments, the Group
has provided additional disclosures about its supplier finance
arrangements in notes 29 and 39 to the financial statements.

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Accounting
Standards, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

BERPEHREEN G LR 2 FESE-F 1111

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —

Volume 11

' OR-B-EF-A-BRZE
BR8A ) 4F B HBRA 3K

: R-FoAE-—A-ARZE
BR8A ) 4F B HBRA 3K

P R-E-rE-A-BNZHK
PR WS MR

¢ LAERRHEEHRAE @
BIRA

Btz 2o R#E?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?

TARREEZHE LA - KEE>

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®
W T ASEREZNEET?

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

REZHEABPENAHE LR ZFNEEL ELTE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture*

BhZ R[N
Lack of Exchangeability'

HRACKEERBENTET) 2 & K2
Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?

BRI 5 #R 2B R 1 9F - BIBR AT 3R & 2B RIE 7 9% - BIBR AT 4
ZERE I - BRI SR ERE 105 R B 2 51 2ERIE 7
HZAEET?

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards

(continued)
Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that are

expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a
number of sections have been brought forward from IAS 1 with limited
changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income into one of the five categories: operating, investing,
financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to present two
new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and the
location of information in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which
is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements. As a
consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Earnings
per Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards. IFRS
18 and the consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required.
The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing
the impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 lIssued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards

(continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. To be
eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary
as defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that
prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use which
comply with IFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19.
Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application of IFRS
19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on which a financial
asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an accounting
policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an
electronic payment system before the settlement date if specified criteria
are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse features
and contractually linked instruments. The amendments also include
additional disclosures for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively
with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other component of
equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards

(continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes
a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not
being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards
(continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set
out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, 1G14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology
used in other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the
Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all
the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it
create additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a
lessee has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished in
accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

° IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify
that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph
B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

24

Issued but not yet effective IFRS Accounting Standards
(continued)

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term “cost
method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the prior
deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it
has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net
assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

2.5

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

VO IR B8 SE 9 A &2 B B BR A &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



2. EXEFEHE®

2.5

XBEHREE®)
HEBA G DBRTR  EAHA
TRBEEARUBESR AT
BB E - TAEE 2 RS
oS 1R 1R 35 o H A 2 T 3 (i
)RR -

WD mEE 2 EMRARES
BWERABNZ ATERER - 28R
AEXNBEZXAREBRAFE
B AFEZEBHINBR AR
DERERZAANELEEN
e MEREERERDAR-

BENLRRANESE - DD EE
RE - SFEREERRAZBER
REBFRTHE Z BRIE T e
ZAER DB Z 48 - R e PR
A B EE R FAER B A B E
ZEF - MEBREREMIERZ
BENERAEBEEFEZRF
B RIREMFHREEEERNE
mNERAEERERE -

REHERE - BERKAERE
MRFHREBRAE - BEASF
EITRERIE - e HIRE R F X
BREEFEREEENRRD
g B HATMETRR - REER
TZA=t+—B#ETHEZFE
BERR - RETRERR B
BatimbBEzmEDEKER
HEsEEREBTEAHZHRA
AP R AEERREES
BugReELBMAR - fTwm
AEBEBEELABSTER
EREEMNEMER

B 75 R B ot

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Business combinations and goodwill (continuea)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Business combinations and goodwiill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial instruments at fair value at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, contract assets,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and non-current
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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2.8 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
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Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The residual rate and estimated useful lives used for
this purpose are as follows:

BEEX AIAUEAFH

Estimated

Residual rate useful lives

=S Buildings 5% 10E 404
10 to 40 years

EENETFEE Production and electronic 5% 3ZE 154
equipment 3 to 15 years

WANERME Office equipment 5% 3E10F
3 to 10 years

RE Motor vehicles 5% 4E 105

4 to 10 years
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including right-
of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost
less depreciation and any impairment losses. Depreciation is calculated
using a straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over the estimated useful lives of the properties. The residual values
and useful lives of investment properties are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effects of any revision
are included in the profit or loss when the changes arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property
are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

(a) R&D

U]

(ii)

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the
prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge
and understanding, is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Expenditure on development activities
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) is capitalised under the category of “product
development in progress” if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible, the Group has sufficient
resources and the intention to complete the development,
the Group has sufficient ability to use or sell the asset, the
asset will generate future economic benefit, and the cost
can be reliably measured. Upon the commencement of the
commercial production of a product, the expenditure on
development activities is transferred to “deferred development
costs” and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period
of its expected benefit. R&D costs comprise costs that are
directly attributable to R&D activities or that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis to such activities.

Deferred development costs that are acquired by the Group
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets (other than goodwiill) (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

R&D (continued)

(i) Subsequent expenditure on development activities after its
acquisition or its completion is recognised as an expense
when it is incurred unless it is probable that this expenditure
will enable the asset to generate future economic benefits
in excess of its originally assessed standard of performance
and this expenditure can be measured and attributed to the
asset reliably. If these conditions are met, the subsequent
expenditure is added to the cost of the intangible asset.

(iv)  Amortisation of deferred development costs is charged to the
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the commercial lives
of the underlying products which are not exceeding 5 to 15
years.

Trademarks

Separately acquired trademarks are initially recorded at historical
cost. Trademarks acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Trademarks have a finite useful
life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of trademarks over their estimated
useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Computer systems

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Customer relationships

The customer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of 5 years.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end. The effects of any revision are recognised in profit
or loss when the changes arise.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for

all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The

Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use

assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

25% 504
25 to 50 years

2E55F
2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of

the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

FZ 34 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 149



BA 15 R ) P a
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-MF+=A=+—8

31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

150

BERETTEHE 2
211 HE (&)
FEFESRBA ()

(b)

HERE

MG RHA B HREEHA
HE1E B M E N RIRE R
HERGE HENKEEE
BUR(EELDERNFOR
EAH & SRy e dR F0IR - B
RIVIEBEN R ZHE
MRARBERRERSRER
BRINHERE - HENK
NERAEESERETE
MBERERENTRERE
HHIRRAEETELLILH
EEEEN  BRKILEES
B &1 R o A EBURT 8 Bk A
Ty R] M E R H IR S
B R F AR RO HE
RNIER R

R BERENRNRER
EHE RS = EERE -
MALEEMAEERG A S
& BERA KT E - R
BMAHEK HEABSED
R T M S RER - B
D RIREF-PrE R A E
e s - W EEEE
M BB REFH 5| L
BRI B SR E A S
M) MENRED ()
IR B R E BB HUR
REENREREE) NE
BEHEEENEEENGE
- REHFEEEAED
FREE -

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

Gr oup as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of buildings (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue in
the profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(@)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
"Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(a)

(b)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments also
recognised as other income in the consolidated profit or loss when
the right of payment has been established.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.15 Financial liabilities

(a)

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, or payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The Group classifies financial liabilities that arise from a supplier
finance arrangement within trade and bills payables in the statement
of financial position if they have a similar nature and function to
trade payables. This is the case if the supplier finance arrangement
is part of the working capital used in the Group’s normal operating
cycle, the level of security provided is similar to trade payables and
the terms of the liabilities that are part of the supply chain finance
arrangement are not substantially different from the terms of trade
payables that are not part of the arrangement. Cash flows related
to liabilities arising from supplier finance arrangements that are
classified in trade and bills payables in the statement of financial
position are included in operating activities in the statement of cash
flows. Otherwise, the financial liabilities are classified in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings in the statement of financial
position and the related cash flows are included in financing activities
in the statement of cash flows.

(b) Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the consolidated profit or loss.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss.

2.17 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax

losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

2.20 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the profit or loss by
way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the grants are
recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets and released to the
profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal
annual instalments.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or at a
below-market rate of interest for the construction of a qualifying asset,
the initial carrying amount of the government loans is determined using
the effective interest rate method, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the government
loans granted with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds
received, is treated as a government grant and released to the profit or
loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

2.21 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension scheme

The Group participates in the retirement insurance and medical
insurance scheme organised by the local social security bureau
pursuant to the relevant provisions. The Group is required to make
monthly contributions in respect of the above insurance scheme to
the local social security bureau based on the monthly salaries of its
employees. The Group has no further liabilities other than the above
defined contributions. The Group’s contributions under the scheme
are charged to the consolidated profit or loss.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated
by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves
the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are
measured based on the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of
the year are discounted to their present value.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
2.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and
profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the year.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

2.22 Share-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transaction

The group operates a Share Option Scheme and Restricted Share
Unit ("RSU") Schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees for grants is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using market-value model, further details of
which are given in note 26 to the financial statements.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Share-based payments (continued)

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transaction

(continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 DECEMBER 2024

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Share-based payments (continued)

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transaction
(continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

2.23 Revenue recognition

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(@)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of pharmaceutical products and medical
aesthetic products is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
pharmaceutical products and medical aesthetic products.

Some contracts for the sales of industrial products provide customers
with volume rebates, giving rise to variable consideration.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain customers
once the quantity of products purchased during the period
exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset
against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable
consideration for the expected future rebates, the most likely
amount method is used for contracts with a single-volume threshold
and the expected value method for contracts with more than one
volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the
amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by the number
of volume thresholds contained in the contract. The requirements
on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied and a
refund liability for the expected future rebates is recognised.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(c)

Other income (continued)

Income from the provision of R&D services is recognised over time,
using an input method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the services, because the Group’s performance creates
or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The input method recognises income based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated
total costs for satisfaction of the services.

Revenue from hospital services is recognised when the related
services have been rendered and contains outpatient and inpatient
services. For outpatient services, there are two performance
obligations, including (i) the provision of consultation services and
(i) the sale of pharmaceutical products. The control of services or
pharmaceutical products for both performance obligations (i) and
(ii) is transferred at a point in time. For inpatient services, there is
the third performance obligation: (iii) the provision of inpatient
healthcare services. The revenue from the provision of inpatient
healthcare service is recognised over the service period when
customer simultaneously receive the services and consumes the
benefits provided by the hospital.

Revenue from the sale of distribution rights is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

2.25 Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with
a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract
that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

()  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to
the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects
the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect any
adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-
adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature
of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

2.27 Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the note 11 to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

2.28 Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company
or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.29 Foreign currency

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Group’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss.

All the foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
profit or loss within “Other gains — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and the
profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.
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2. EXREFBR® 2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.30 BEBE S 2.30 Related parties
ETINERT - BEFEHERE AR A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
= B T
(@ FBEAFR—BALTHZAL (@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
BT - Mz AT that person
() EHI R A (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
;
iy HEAEEEEATE (i) has significant influence over the Group; or
o
(i) RAEBEIAE (i is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
NEMEEEREAE or of a parent of the Group;
% or
by ERAHZARE THEMAIEE (b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
mWES:
() ZEREXEEER (i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
—SKEHNKERE
iy ZERBRS HEN (i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
HERNFHEERE of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
(HZBERNE QR
NN AR
AR
@iy ZEBEBEAEEHAR (i the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
A—8=F0&&nt party;
E S
vy ZEBRE=FEE (iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
Me&ahE mM5— entity is an associate of the third entity;
ERAZE=ZEE
o)W
(v) ZERREEBEREN (v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
EJr g ZEnEs of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
ABAREEHHERNE Group;
EEANERENES
(vi) ZEBF@FMEGIA (vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
AR Bk 2 RIER] identified in (a);
(vii)y R @) FT 3%k Bl A £ % (vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
ZEBAEKS /@-_JZ entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
BZEE (SZEEY the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and
UNCIDE- -3 YN=
M
(viip BERXEMBEER (viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
EI K B A Al A K% provides key management personnel services to the Group or
B A EEHE QA to the parent of the Group.
RHFTZEEAB HFi
75 o

172  THIRERETR £ B AR 2 7 SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



E RS H B R A

AEEFBHRERNBHRELEEEHY
Bha RX BERABENZHEEH
LREMSEHE URSIABENOREE

TERTHE - B MER - ZFRR
BT REEEHAEE AR E

MEERBENREEETERRE -

() EZLEMBBRAREREET
Y 2 mm BA SR E
K%.%EEW$%.%EE’]§
A RNETE EE K
TM&FE%EEL??E’\JEWE@%
PEEMNMBRRBESRE - %%
BEDENBEENBHERE
A AIED -

Husge R ETERBALENE
BAFMBEFHFNITESMEAL
BAEE - MARREREENTE
ARLRBERERASER &
BEe & A% AR
B8 -

RZFEZMNFE+=—A=+—H0"
REERERANEREAARE
242,969,000 (Z T = =F + =
A=+—8: AR%120,442,000
) cMZEZMFE+=—A=+—
BETHFEMAENEEEA
AR®567,120,000 5t (=&
=+ -A=+—8B: AR¥
619,123,0007¢) °

3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and

the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and

estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

(a)

Impairment of deferred development costs and
product development in progress

The Group’s management determines the estimated future cash flows
generated by all pharmaceutical patents or licences in capitalisation of
development costs and all product development in progress that the Group
possessed. These estimates are based on projected product life cycles in the
pharmaceutical industry.

It could change significantly as a result of medicine innovations and
competitor actions in response to industry cycles. Management will
recognise impairment loss on the capitalised development costs when
future cash flows are less than expectation and fall below the amount of
related development costs.

The carrying amount of deferred development costs as at 31 December
2024 was RMB242,969,000 (31 December 2023: RMB120,442,000). The
carrying amount of product development in progress as at 31 December
2024 was RMB567,120,000 (31 December 2023: RMB619,123,000).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated future cash flows
of each cash-generating unit that the property, plant and equipment
are assigned to. These estimates are based on product life cycles in the
pharmaceutical industry.

It could change significantly as a result of medicine innovations and
competitor actions in response to industry cycles. Management will
recognise impairment loss on the property, plant and equipment when
future cash flows are less than expectation and fall below the amount of
the related property, plant and equipment.

Income taxes and deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax
planning strategies.

Capitalisation of development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy
for R&D costs in note 2.10(a) to the financial statements. Determining the
amounts to be capitalised requires management to make assumptions
regarding the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates
to be applied and the expected period of benefits. At 31 December 2024,
the amount of capitalised development costs estimated by the management
was approximately RMB567,120,000 (2023: RMB619,123,000). More
details are given in note 17 to the financial statements.
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B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services and has three reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@  the medical aesthetic products segment including the filling, shaping,
supporting, supplementing, optoelectronic devices, body sculpturing,
skin care and other services to provide non- or minimally invasive medical
aesthetics comprehensive solutions;

(b)  the innovative medicine and other medicine segment; and
(¢ the generic medicine segment.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s loss before tax
except that interest income, non-lease-related finance costs, dividend income, fair
value gains/losses from the Group’s financial instruments as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Information relating to segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as such
information is not regularly reported to the chief operating decision-maker who
assesses the performance of the operating segments based on their revenue and
operating profit rather than their assets and liabilities.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices
used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. PEER @)

BE-_E-MF+-A=+-HLEEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024

BXER AFERHMZESR FRE Fohy
Innovative
Medical medicine
aesthetic and other Generic
products medicine medicine Total
AR¥ETR ARETR AR¥ETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
22Uk (BEES) Segment revenue (note 5)
SVERE P HE Sales to external customers 744,224 57,597 1,099,288 1,901,109
DEFEHE Intersegment sales - 52,075 - 52,075
744,224 109,672 1,099,288 1,953,184
HER Recondiliation:
DEEHEE Elimination of intersegment sales (52,075)
e Revenue 1,901,109
DL Segment results 251,021 (948,048) 356,538 (340,489)
K Recondiliation:
T E A Unallocated other income 52,805
TR DB E AW —FE Unallocated other gains - net 6,119
Al DM E B Unallocated expenses (98,017)
P Lok Unallocated finance expenses (33,480)
DEERERENEN Share of profits and losses of
BERFREE investments accounted for
using the equity method (15,226)
BRI Loss before tax (428,288)
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31 DECEMBER 2024

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

BXEm AMERHEMESR E FEE
Innovative
Medical medicine
aesthetic and other Generic
products medicine medicine Total
ARETIT ARETT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
22Uk (BEES) Segment revenue (note 5)
SVERE P HE Sales to external customers 449,884 11,807 1,398,848 1,860,539
DEFEHE Intersegment sales 25 24,966 - 24,991
449,909 36,773 1,398,848 1,885,530
R Recondiliation:
5> 2 8 6 ¥ 4 Elimination of intersegment sales (24,991)
Wiz Revenue 1,860,539
DEPELE Segment results 91,763 (676,062) 564,300 (19,999)
ik Recondiliation:
T EE A Unallocated other income 43,483
Al DM E ol e — 55 Unallocated other gains — net 3,140
Al DEHE B Unallocated expenses (100,030)
Al DM B R X Unallocated finance expenses (34,233)
DEERERENEN Share of profits and losses of
BERFREE investments accounted for
using the equity method (53,621)
BREATEE Loss before tax (161,260)
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4. TEER =) 4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continved)
ith & & R Geographical information
(a) IHBEF Kz (a) Revenue from external customers
—E-MfF ZEZ=F
2024 2023
AR%TR AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& ™5 Geographical markets
B A Mainland China 1,888,547 1,846,751
EH United States of America 12,562 13,788
1,901,109 1,860,539
L ER DIREFP A The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.
Blo e
(b) FREEE (b) Non-current assets
—E-MfF ZEZ=F
2024 2023
AR%Tx AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
& ™5 Geographical markets
B A Mainland China 4,373,959 4,516,383
EH United States of America 12,589 10,958
4,386,548 4,527,341
LTHERBEEER DIREEM The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the
EwEE D TTeEEemI AR assets and excludes financial instruments and deferred tax assets.
FEFIBEE -
HE-Z-_WNF+-A=+—HLFE During the year ended 31 December 2024, all sales were from distributors and
FBEHEEARE HEEAEBRBERK there were no distributors of the Group from which the revenue amounted to
HEEAEBKZFI0% N E(ZT == 10% or more of the Group’s revenue (2023 Nil).

FE)NDER -
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5. Wz EttlR AR WKz 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
WA T : An analysis of revenue is as follows:
—EZMEF —E=F
2024 2023
ARET R AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
P&k R Revenue from contracts with customers 1,901,109 1,860,539
EFEEHWR Revenue from contracts with customers
(a) ZEHUZEH (a) Disaggregated revenue information
Bz-—Z-—_Wm&E+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2024
LFE
BXER AFERAGER e st
Innovative
Medical medicine
aesthetic and other Generic
products medicine medicine Total
AR®T R AR®T R AR®T AR¥ET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EREHR Type of goods
HERBEEQREBEER Sale of pharmaceutical products
and medical aesthetic products 744,224 57,597 1,099,288 1,901,109
HhEN S Geographical markets
P EI A Mainland China 731,662 57,597 1,099,288 1,888,547
E3E United States of America 12,562 - - 12,562
Fk] Total 744,224 57,597 1,099,288 1,901,109
Wy 5 T 52 R Timing of revenue recognition

ER-BREEENER

Goods transferred at a point
in time 744,224 57,597 1,099,288 1,901,109
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5. WEH HMwARWKEF = 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

BEEEHWE w) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) TEHPAZHR &) (a) Disaggregated revenue information (continuec)
HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2023
1FE
BxXEm BFERHEMER fh B 5% FEh
Innovative
Medical medicine
aesthetic and other Generic
products medicine medicine Total
AR T ARETT AR T ARETT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
EmER Type of goods
HEBEEMRBXESR Sale of pharmaceutical products
and medical aesthetic products 449,884 11,807 1,398,848 1,860,539
it & T 35 Geographical markets
BN Mainland China 436,096 11,807 1,398,848 1,846,751
EE United States of America 13,788 - - 13,788
Rk Total 449,884 11,807 1,398,848 1,860,539
W 3 R R Timing of revenue recognition
EE-RHHEEASBEHER Goods transferred at a point
in time 449,884 11,807 1,398,848 1,860,539
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31 DECEMBER 2024

5. W&ZF BEMWARKZFE 2 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

BEFEHWE &) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) DBEURAEH (#)
TRBIEFANRERS BE

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with

KBRS AR customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment information:
BE-Z-_WmE+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2024
LHFEE
BXER AMERHMZER E¥ Foy
Innovative
Medical medicine
aesthetic and other Generic
products medicine medicine Total
AR¥ TR AR% TR AR¥ T AR% TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
] Segments
INBREIEE Sales to external customers 744,224 57,597 1,099,288 1,901,109
HEEHEE Intersegment sales - 52,075 - 52,075
744,224 109,672 1,099,288 1,953,184
R Reconciliation:
5> 2R E) 8 6 H1 4 Elimination of intersegment sales (52,075)
Fek Total 1,901,109
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5. WEH HMWARWKE = 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

EFEHWR®) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) TEHPAZHR &) (a) Disaggregated revenue information (continuec)
THREINEPEHN W R E D FE Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with
BAEFENSEOYR: (&) customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment information: (continued)
HE_ZTZ-_=F+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2023
IEFE

BXER BIHERHEMZER 1 Rk ok
Innovative
Medical medicine
aesthetic and other Generic
products medicine medicine Total
ARBETFTT ARETT ARBETTT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
] Segments
IVERE P E Sales to external customers 449,884 11,807 1,398,848 1,860,539
DEEEE Intersegment sales 25 24,966 - 24,991
449,909 36,773 1,398,848 1,885,530
iR Reconciliation:
5> 2R E) 8 6 H1 4 Elimination of intersegment sales (24,991)
Mg Total 1,860,539
TREINNARFEE @RI AF The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised for the year
MeaERIEBEFERRE that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year
THRNETRRAC W=SHE - and recognised from performance obligations not yet satisfied in previous
years:
—2omE —T_=f
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
FFAFEYEDABNE BRI Revenue recognised that was included in contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year:
HEBEERREXES Sale of pharmaceutical products and
medical aesthetic products 118,615 161,180
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5. W&ZF BEMWARKZFE 2 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

BEEEHWE w) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b) BEHEF (b) Performance obligations
BB R B A D Sales of pharmaceutical products and medical aesthetic products
BHEAREPBREBEERR The performance obligation is satisfied upon acceptance of the
BEREMBEN  MAR—BRR pharmaceutical products and medical aesthetic products by customers and
190 RE 180 AN EIH - EFTE payment is generally due within 90 to 180 days from delivery, except for
PEEEBEMNK - new customers, where payment in advance is normally required.
SEZEHRTEHNEENRFHER The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
TR R —FENER A o Lt obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. The
WER2eETBEEIRG AL amounts disclosed above do not include variable consideration which is
RIE - constrained.
Har A Other income
Bt & —E-mEF T =F
Notes 2024 2023
ARETR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FEWA Interest income 175,548 147,908
REYELEREZASHBA Gross rental income from investment
WEE property operating leases (i) 9,933 10,663
BB ARSI A Hospital services income 34,995 29,023
& o iR Sales of distribution rights (i) 8,443 2,830
i L ON Research and development income (iii) 5,379 1,482
Hfth Others 13,736 5,829
EMg A5 Total other income 248,034 197,735
(i) HREEELEHEZHE K (i) Gross rental income from investment property operating leases is included
ABREWIIRERATEENEE in other income as it is not derived from the Group’s principal activities. An
7% At AEMIRA - e analysis of rental income is as follows:
WA
—E-mEF =
2024 2023
AR® T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR Geographical markets
B Hong Kong 4,839 3,207
A B A Mainland China 5,094 7,456
4azE Total 9,933 10,663
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—ETZMNF+=A=+—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

5. W= -HEMWwARWKE @ 5.
Ha A ()
(i) BEREESHERETIERER (i)
REBMHEELH  BEREAR
A o tHE S B MR TS
BRERN - BHEIERERYE
BB RIET Y EEEERTA
PR R T ATTE AT ERIE - B S 34
BHWERARSE - R+ -A=+—
B PRESTBROET CRET
HHBHKRET) R SERMT -

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Other income (continued)

Revenue from sales of distribution rights is included in other income as it is
not derived from the Group’s principal activities. The geographical market
of all the sales of distribution rights is Mainland China. The performance
obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and advances are
normally required before rendering the services. Distribution rights are sold
for periods of five years. The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31 December are as follows:

S8 —E==%
2024 2023
AR T ARETFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000

TR ERREMB AN S Amounts expected to be recognised as other income:
—FQA Within one year 2,830 13,170
— i After one year - 44,190
BEE Total 2,830 57,360

TREHNFARRBIL T AFAD

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised for the year

aHBEZWESE that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year:
“E-IF —E-=F
2024 2023
AR TR ARETFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FFARBREHVIAOBENE R © Revenue recognised that was included in contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
HE D Sale of distribution rights 8,443 2,830
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—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8

31 DECEMBER 2024

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Other income (continued)

(iii)

R&D income is included in other income as it is not derived from the
Group's principal activities. The geographical market of all the R&D activities
is Mainland China. The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due within 30 days from the

BiT —MARFEBEE30H date of billing.
WA
Hih s — F8 Other gains - net
—E-mE —E-=%F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
TR #7 BA (i) Government grants (i) 48,002 60,700
HE—KEE A r el Gain on disposal of an associate 35,000 -
RAEDL BB E QR 2 e M W e Gain on deemed disposal of interest in associates 13,198 21,251
HEREYEN = Gain on disposal of an investment property 10,930 -
BRATEFENEMERORTE Gain on changes in fair value of wealth management
Pl products, at fair value 2,284 2,659
BATEFENIF ETRERED Gain on changes in fair value of unlisted equity
NEEEE W investments, at fair value 1,010 129,106
HEWE - BB REENRE Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,268 4,378
HECRELEEN KR Gain on disposal of right-of-use asset 400 3,695
Hith Others - 1,118
FEH Wz, (E51E) F58 Exchange gains/(losses), net 11,640 (6,759)
Wes4aza Total gains 123,732 216,148
() R B) 42 FE 48 16 3 77 IKURT WO ER (i)  The total government grants represented the subsidies received from the

B30 4 B 75 55 B R A RO 7R B o

local government and no specific conditions were attached to them.
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31

DECEMBER 2024

6. BREAIEE 6. LOSS BEFORE TAX
AN E 2 RBIRIE AR () - The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
“E-mEF —E=F
2024 2023
B 5 AR%Tx AREFTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
EERMNAXZ (BREESEK Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ and
B=1TBABRFE) (MEs) chief executive’s remuneration (note 8))
TENF Wages and salaries 411,923 488,399
RIKEETEIER Pension scheme contributions (i) 72,365 90,079
=Rl Welfares 10,210 13,519
LARR D B ERE AR K Share-based payments 418,020 89,084
912,518 681,081
BEEFEKA Cost of inventories sold (i) 659,399 564,895
R RFAERS Research and development expenses (i) 473,925 577,656
Yz BB RERETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment YD) 29,044 22,474
REYERE Depreciation of investment properties 14 11,863 9,323
FHEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (i) 28,256 31,125
EEESH Amortisation of intangible assets (ii)/Gii) 15,832 16,813
HEME - BB REENKE Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,268) (4,378)
HEEAEEEN YS Gain on disposal of right-of-use asset (400) (3,695)
HEREEENEIE Loss on disposal of intangible assets 7.374 139
HEREMERN WS Gain on disposal of an investment property (10,930) -
B 5 & E A AR R Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment) of
BEEE (B RERE) trade and other receivables 23 6,347 (7,953)
WO FE = ] #I0FE Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 9,541 11,419
Kt ATHEABTEMBEENIK  Lease payments not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities 3,054 4,506
&5 (Was) i FEe Exchange (gains )/losses, net (11,640) 6,759
2 Gk Auditor's remuneration 4,000 4,200
RITFESR Bank charges 1,350 1,051

186

@

(ii)

EARRE ASER-_T-_HF (i)
+—A=+—BETRREE
AREEREERFOKFEHNERK
HHI(ZTE=Z=F: |) -

BE_T_NFR=-ZTE=-_=F (ii)
+T_A=+-BLEFEERAR4LE
RATESDWE - BB M
FRHEEEREREERE &

Bt ATCEFERA] K35

F e

There are no forfeited contributions at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil) that
may be used by the Group as the employer is to reduce the existing level of
contributions in the future years.

The depreciation/amortisation of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets for manufacturing and research activities
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are included in “Cost of
inventories sold” and “R&D expenses”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EoNFtZA=+—H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

31 DECEMBER 2024

@iy VE- BEIEE CHAEEEM (i) Depreciation/amortisation of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
EREENINE B assets, and intangible assets:
—B-NEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FFAC Included in:
paki=l 53 Distribution expenses 543 612
TR Administrative expenses 72,589 69,800
7. HBHAX 7. FINANCE EXPENSES
MIERZDTIAT ¢ An analysis of finance expenses is as follows:
—E-ME —E_=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
UTEENFBRAX Interest expenses on:
FFERITIE R (FIFE32) Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 32) 46,152 57,415
M B A RIBE Y BB [0 & (& (M 7E28) Redemption liabilities on subsidiaries’ shares (note 28) 228,750 211,266
HEAE (FE15) Lease liabilities (note 15) 1,544 2,573
FRATEFAEZNERAR Total interest expense on financial liabilities not at fair
ez e value through profit or loss 276,446 271,254
B B LT B Less: Interest capitalised (1,515) (1,917)
FCE] Total 274,931 269,337
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8. EERERITHAEBW 8. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE’S
A REMUNERATION
BE LA BB QARG £ 383(1) Directors’ and executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
@~ o QREOBEUAEAR (FHEEEF Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
HER)ROIB 2D BEES RS R Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
BABFAHMAOT - of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
—E-ME —Eo=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
2k Fees 1,029 1,037
HinBi & : Other emoluments:
e Salaries 14,488 14,409
RIK&FH B Pension scheme contributions 48 48
TE4T Bonus - 945
HAan ek R E WA= Other allowances and benefits in kind 692 346
AR BB RER Equity-settled share option expense 884 1,712
EEt Total 17,141 18,497
ZEBERE(CREBIHNERNER The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the profit or loss
WAFEERBRLBEHET  AFEH over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
BHREMBASEHIN LR EERES included in the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
THRA BB H M EF directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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31 DECEMBER 2024

8. EENRERITHAEN 8. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE'S

ES 0 N REMUNERATION (continued)

() BYFHITES (a) Independent non-executive directors
FRAXNTELIFERAITESNE The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were
2T as follows:

UREEEN
we BB AR RE B X et

Equity-settled

share option
—E-WE 2024 Fee expense Total
ARBTT AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
BEENREL Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 377 - 377
RS+ Mr. Zhu Xun 377 - 377
TR E" Mr. Wang Guan* 275 - 275
1,029 - 1,029

ARG A E B

ik AR A 2 3

Equity-settled

share option
—E =4 2023 Fee expense Total
ARKET T ARKET T AR¥ETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
EEERE" Mr. Patrick Sun** 93 - 93
EES Mr. Tsang Wah Kwong 371 - 371
KAEL Mr. Zhu Xun 371 - 371
FHEEE" Mr. Wang Guan* 202 - 202
1,037 - 1,037

* %

ITRAER-_ZTE-_=ZFWA—
AEZTEAARRBIYIERNTT
EE-

FEEERER_FT_=FTA
—BEHEARRRBIIFITES -

FAMEMBLIFRTEEN
Htvfie (T _=F: &) -

* %

Mr. Wang Guan was appointed as an independent non-executive director of

the Company on 1 April 2023.

Mr. Patrick Sun resigned as an independent non-executive director of the

Company on 1 April 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-

executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).
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31 DECEMBER 2024
8. EENRERITHAEN 8. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVE'S
Fr =) REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) MITES (b) Executive directors
RiKE Hit#A Rk HREEER
ne e HE L5 AL BYRE  BRERX st
Other
Pension allowances Equity-settled
scheme and benefits  share option
Fee Salaries  contribution Bonus in kind expense Total
ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTRT AR%®Trn AR¥TR AR®Tn AR%Tx:
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ZZZNE 2024
woEE: Executive directors:
BEEAEL Dr. Che Fengsheng - 7,000 - - - - 7,000
BrmBEE Dr. Guo Weicheng - 3,000 - - - - 3,000
RERE Dr. Zhang Jionglong - 641 16 - - - 657
e Ms. Chen Yanling - 1,319 16 - 472 - 1,807
BREBLT Ms. Miao Guili - 2,528 16 - 220 884 3,648
- 14,488 48 - 692 884 16,112
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B 1S R M e
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—E-NEFZA=+—H

Fr =) REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) BITEZE®) (b) Executive directors (continued)
iy N Hihbik DARBEAED
ik e B 5 AL EWFla  BRERX @it
Other
Pension allowances  Equity-settled
scheme and benefits ~ share option
Fee Salaries  contribution Bonus in kind expense Total
ARBFTT ARBTr ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARKTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ZTZ=F 2023
woEE: Executive directors:
BEEAEL Dr. Che Fengsheng - 7,000 - - - - 7,000
BrmBEE Dr. Guo Weicheng - 3,000 - - - - 3,000
RMEBAE Dr. Zhang Jionglong - 630 16 - - - 646
e Ms. Chen Yanling - 1,296 16 324 130 - 1,766
BREXL Ms. Miao Guil - 2,483 16 621 216 1,712 5,048
- 14,409 48 945 346 1,712 17,460

FAREEFARSTRAER
ENRAEREEMFIMZ L8

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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9. hEEEHFEER 9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
FH AEERHEERRE=2E%E (= The five highest paid employees during the year included three directors (2023:
To=F:=ZRKEE)  HFEMFBESIRN three directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
XM EAMB TG (ZE == Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest
FE MBI FEARTNEEXZSTHA paid employees who are not a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
ENESHESNFMFEINHET follows:
—B-NEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR® T AREFTT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
e BZEREWNZ Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,660 4,599
RIKEFHEIME R Pension scheme contributions 66 -
BERIEAL Performance related bonuses 1,594 -
6,320 4,599
HFHN A THENSESFHES GrEE The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees
FIBRSITHRAE) ABMOT : whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:
—E-mEF —EZ=F
2024 2023
2,000,001 % 7T & 2,500,000 %8 7T HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 - 1
2,500,001 % 7T & 3,000,000 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 1
3,000,001 % T & 3,500,000 %8 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 2 -
2 2
BE_Z_NFR-_T_=ZF+=A For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no payments had been made
=t—HBLEFE AEEBWEME SN by the Group to the directors or the highest paid individuals in respect of an
SEHMA TR ENASEE LR inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office, and no directors or
B NZE THEEEdss 5 highest paid individuals waived any of the emoluments.

ALTHREREBEDNE B -
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10. FR 5 ﬁf‘aﬁfz 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
AEEHE_T_NFR_T_=F The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
+=A=+—8 JJ:@V WATEMEAS D 2023 is analysed as follows:

T
—E-IEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR®TR ARETFT
RMB’'000 RMB’000

BVER#E 18 Current tax 108,682 60,140

EERIE (7E31) Deferred tax (note 31) (65,421) 36,287

FABIERZ BT Total tax charge for the year 43,261 96,427

AEBEBRBAESENTIEAFEREAR
AHERBFMNEEHETENERK
AR HImT

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount
that would arise from using the statutory tax rates applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities as follows:

—B-NEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BrBE AT A 1R Loss before tax (428,288) (161,260)
BEEREGTED ﬁlﬁ Tax at the statutory tax rates (100,742) (35,323)
THEENHBTE Tax effects of:
— B R SRR BRI E 18 — Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (18,357) (3,055)
—BIEEERRENTE — Effect of tax concessions and exemptions (19,396) (46,332)
— & BRI ERZ BN NBEE — Additional deductible allowance for
qualified R&D expenses (74,874) (125,829)
— A B X — Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 111,102 13,846
— BRI TERR &) 38 1T B BN AR B 18 1) - Adjustments recognised in the period for
FE current tax of prior periods (7,537) (7,644)
—BRESECENEE QT EF R — Profits and losses attributable to joint ventures
[SE] and associates 507 8,092
BEMTIBRA — Income not subject to tax (20,391) (33,474)
- ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁ BHEEZHBEER — Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset
was recognised 236,949 326,146
—REBFEMERARBUSEMEFAE - Reverse effect of withholding tax at 5%
5% TEHI 4% ) # 0] 52 8 on the dividends cancelled by the
Group's PRC subsidiaries (64,000) -
FARIERZ BT Total tax charge for the year 43,261 96,427
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10. FRIBHBE X )

194

BRERNSE
AEEFANEZAEER B AHMEM
RE(ZZ==F:|) -

KELAERRBERES

FEERBEEBEBRESNEHER
BEARDERINEBEHR S RBER
REBNER (T _=F:#&) -

MERENES

REFASHEARETIMAEREER
AN BAGR  BAREKRARKE R
W BMBRIE - o SRS WA
MR ER R B UEINR - 2B S
A 48 5T A A3 R B RS A I e A ]
M EBELNEANTROEERE
ME(CZT_=5F: &) -

RS MREH

RIEMARRPIF A - RRPIFEM A&
H 8 N FIZE L FE R B R A B AR PIF A5
R BHINFEEROBEERSHA
FHERHBAERITRERW o
B12% o

EZERBH
BER_TE—tF+_A=Z+ZHEM
MEBRBEREER ((ERRFEER
¥ER])  MEBARRERBITETM
BRBIE21.0% HH - H A=A FER
RafREDREASELEMERR
(RAEHERE) MIRITHEE -

BENEH

BBF B IIEENEE BN
BB B FIAB E 16.5% (ZE =4 :
16.5%) 3R 1% © K fth 0 PO B SR B
FIBUA T RA R BIUE B AERR (7%
) HRTH R -

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Bermuda profits tax

The Group was not subject to any taxation in this jurisdiction during the year (2023:
Nil).

British Virgin Islands (“BVI"”) profits tax

The Group’s entities established under the International Business Companies Acts
of BVI are exempted from BVI income tax (2023: Nil).

Cayman Islands profits tax

Subsidiaries incorporated as exempted companies with limited liability under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands are not subject to tax on income or capital
gains. Additionally, the Cayman Islands do not impose a withholding tax on
payments of dividends to shareholders. The Cayman Islands are not a party to any
double tax treaties that are applicable to any payments made by or to the entities
(2023: Nil).

Macau profits tax

The subsidiary incorporated in Macau is subject to Macau profits tax on the
taxable income in accordance with relevant Macau tax laws. Taxation for overseas
jurisdictions is charged at the appropriate prevailing rates ruling in the respective
jurisdictions and the maximum rate is 12%.

United States of America profits tax

Pursuant to Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA") enacted on 22 December 2017, the
United States federal statutory income tax rate for the subsidiaries are 21.0%.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax
prevailing in the countries (or jurisdictions) in which the Group operates.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax was provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
countries (or jurisdictions) in which the Group operates.
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11.

FREERAEH (FECRRSE
Bil)

PR EMEGRERBSARAEENA
BB R B A R B (R 2R
HAECEMERRBATHRFER
EFTEREAR) SHERE -

AEENTENERRREPEDER
BUERRE25%ETERBRAEEMRS
7 o

AEBETHERABFE S EMmE
E¥MER At ZEWBRARR=-ZT
CMFERZE=FMEMSRIRE
K15%EHREME

R E
RCZE-NER-ZE-=FRNIKE
o Bl A AR 177,080,000 7T K A R
298,560,0007T - EFEETEZEREEZ
ToME+ A=+ —BLEFEERMHRK
HIRGIE °

RERZAIELIRN FARBHEEAH
BB

B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

11.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT")

PRC CIT is provided on the assessable income of the companies now comprising
the Group derived from the PRC, adjusted for those items which are not
assessable or deductible for the PRC CIT purposes.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group have determined and paid the corporate
income tax in accordance with the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC at the
tax rate of 25%.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group were qualified as high-tech enterprises.
Accordingly, those subsidiaries’ corporate income tax for 2024 and 2023 was
provided at the rate of 15%.

DIVIDENDS

The dividends paid in 2024 and 2023 were RMB177,080,000 and
RMB298,560,000, respectively. The board of directors does not recommend the
payment of the final cash dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Dividends approved and paid to owners of the Company during the year:

—E-ME —E_=F
2024 2023
AR TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
T FREREERETRRET Final 2023 dividend of nil
ZE=F R FRERE (2023: Final dividend for 2022 of RMB3.2 cents)

AR¥325) per ordinary share = 298,560

“E-FFREIRERE  BIREEM  Interim cash dividend for 2024: RMB1.9 cents
ARBI1ID(ZZE_=F: F) (2023: nil) per ordinary share 177,080 =
177,080 298,560
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12.

BREE
BEREAEBEBSEIREFAERR
RIEBAEREBEABRGEBEEARE
216,662,000 (ZEZ=F: AR
54,017,000 70) K G 1A & R 88 17 3 3 AR AN
TEF19$09,265,984,000 % (— T = =4 :
9,297,073,000 %) 5+ &

FREIBRESBENRATTRERE
BENFARDRERERER ARGE
BB - EEANTERMETFIH
RANEESRERBRNF AR RS
TEEREE  URKRABEEEBRES
BAARARAAFTT (2 SR B4 5 3B A DA £
B A BITE @R INEF I -

BRERLEERE TR T HIBIERE

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based on the loss for the
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company of RMB216,662,000
(2023: RMB54,017,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
9,265,984,000 (2023: 9,297,073,000) outstanding during the year.

The calculation of the diluted loss per share amounts is based on the loss for the
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company, as used in the basic
loss per share calculation. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as
used in the basic loss per share calculation, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on:

—EZMEF —E=F
2024 2023
ARET R AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BB Loss
BIEHESBREARANEEREBNANGT  Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
TimER R AELEBE of the Company, used in the basic and diluted
loss per share calculation (216,662) (54,017)
KRR EEERER ARG Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
EiE] of the Company (216,662) (54,017)
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12. BREBERE 12. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)
—B-NEF —EC=F
2024 2023
TR i
Shares ‘000 Shares ‘000
IR 3 Shares
RERERREEEHEM S Weighted average number of ordinary shares
BT T AR INIE T 198k outstanding for basic and diluted loss per share 9,265,984 9,297,073
* B MmEFEE &t RFriEE * The weighted average number of shares was after taking into account the effect of
FRHOZEEEmMELY - treasury shares held.
o BE-—Z=-—NE+-—A=+—8 > For the year ended 31 December 2024, the calculation of diluted loss per share has
RS SRR IR S A hot c§n5|dered share c?ptilonAs under the share option scheme of the Company as the
Mt B A A BB RRMESH BB T inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
BEARRE - DB EGT A E £ R E
SHIRE -
—E-IE —T=—=
2024 2023
AR AR
RMB RMB
BREAR R EEE Basic and diluted loss per share
FABE For loss for the year (2.34) 7 cents (0.58) % cents
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—EIEETZA=t—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

13. % - BERRE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

£ER
BT EFRE WORE AE EEIR @zt
Production
and
electronic Office Motor  Construction
Buildings equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total
ARETRE AR®Tn AR¥Tr AR%Tx AR¥Trn AR%TR
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
—E-ME+=-A=+-A 31 December 2024
RZT-—mE-F—A: At 1 January 2024:
AR Cost 3,539,377 1,482,496 52,944 36,486 295,534 5,406,837
BRI ERRE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (2,017,677) (1,087,697) (47,829) (35,179) (43,864) (3,232,246)
REFE Net carrying amount 1,521,700 394,799 5,115 1,307 251,670 2,174,591
RZZE-_MFE-F—H " At 1 January 2024, net of
b 2EHTE RRE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1,521,700 394,799 5,115 1,307 251,670 2,174,591
HE Additions 18,129 4,519 6,772 76 14,093 43,589
BEAERIE Transfer from construction
in progress 12,257 90,697 664 - (103,618) -
& Disposals - (2,147) (270) (28) - (2,445)
ERERENE Transfer to investment properties (25,900) - - - - (25,900)
NERE Depreciation charge (34,859) (141,526) (4,682) (1,315) - (182,382)
RZZEZMF+=FA=1+—H" At31December 2024, net of
k2 MERRE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1,491,327 346,342 7,599 40 162,145 2,007,453
RZZTZMFE+=A=+—H: At31December 2024:
AR Cost 3,526,293 1,539,129 59,750 35,788 205,934 5,366,894
BRI ERRE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (2,034,966) (1,192,787) (52,151) (35,748) (43,789) (3,359,441)
REFE Net carrying amount 1,491,327 346,342 7,599 40 162,145 2,007,453
PO 38 %8 %420 iR %2 @ 5 IR 24 B SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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13. 9% - BERRE @ 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
EER
BT B BRRME AE TEEIR st
Production
and
electronic Office Motor  Construction
Buildings equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total

ARBTE ARETT ARETRT ARBTE AREBTL ARETRL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

—E-=%+-H=+-H 31 December 2023
BH:

RZE-_=F—f— At 1 January 2023:
AR Cost 3,595,527 1,414,551 53,506 36,866 346,867 5,447,317
BRI ERRE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (2,032,146) (988,949) (46,981) (34,418) (43,864) (3,146,358)
REFE Net carrying amount 1,563,381 425,602 6,525 2,448 303,003 2,300,959
R-E-=F—-F—H8" At 1 January 2023, net of
Mk 2 E RRE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1,563,381 425,602 6,525 2,448 303,003 2,300,959
HE Additions 5,407 41,038 1,986 1,193 40,468 90,092
BRATRIR Transfer from construction in progress 5,426 84,963 1412 - (91,801) -
HE Disposals (1,389) (8,562) (1,078) (131) - (11,160)
HEREAR Disposal of a subsidiary - (6,918) (37) - - (6,955)
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (32,898) - - - - (32,898)
FrERX Depreciation charge (18,227) (141,324) (3,693) (2,203) - (165,447)

RZZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H" At31December 2023, net of
k2 MERRE accumulated depreciation
and impairment 1,521,700 394,799 5115 1,307 251,670 2,174,591

RZE-=ZF+=-A=+—H: At31 December 2023:

A Cost 3,539,377 1,482,496 52,944 36,486 295,534 5,406,837
R ERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment (2,017,677) (1,087,697) (47,829) (35,179) (43,864) (3,232,246)
REFE Net carrying amount 1,521,700 394,799 5,115 1,307 251,670 2,174,591
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—-=F

T _NFE+—_A=+—H

31 DECEMBER 2024

13.

ME - BERRE®

RZE-_NF+_A=+—HBWNEZET
REEZAEEERERLETHESF -

R-ZZE-_WNE+-_A=+—8 K&E
4 AR HRAS AR H A2 B 4 A R 172,320,000
L(ZZZ=F+=ZA=1+—H: AR
166,644,000 7T) B) & ?E%E’Jﬁﬁ*ﬁf“’“
((FEMBEEE] - ARAIEER
$%@Eﬁuﬁ&ﬁx %Fﬁﬁﬁf“ﬁ[ﬁiﬁ
R - ﬁmilmﬁf%&%:{
i&ﬁiﬁ?ﬂ Z

RZE-_ME+_A=+—8" UK
SEEmAEEARKE626,749,0007T
(:%:E¢+:HE+—E TAR®
940,714,0007T) K % - k5B R 2 & 1
A o

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Construction in progress as at 31 December 2024 mainly comprised buildings
being constructed in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2024, the ownership certificates of certain buildings (“Building
Ownership Certificates”) of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately RMB 172,320,000 (31 December 2023: RMB166,644,000) had not
been obtained by the Group. The directors of the Company consider that there is
no legal restriction for the Group to apply for and obtain the Building Ownership
Certificates and it should not lead to any significant adverse impact on the
operations of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, mortgages over the Group’s property, plant and
equipment had an aggregate carrying value of RMB626,749,000 (31 December
2023: RMB940,714,000).

14. REW = 14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
—E-IEF —=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
By BF
Buildings Buildings
R—A—HXIER@EE Carrying amount at 1 January 245,930 221,059
NE Additions - 1,296
EREYE BB REE(E13) Transfers from property, plant and equipment (note 13) 25,900 32,898
& Disposal (4,835) -
WERXZ Depreciation charge (11,863) (9,323)
R+ZA=+—88NEKHE Carrying amount at 31 December 255,132 245,930
AEENREMERELEHELHET The Group’s investment properties consist of twelve commercial properties in
REAME T —EAREYEREEN Mainland China and seven commercial properties in Hong Kong under operating
B EME - R T8 AR lease arrangements and are stated at cost less depreciation and any impairment.
BE#&FIR o
&iﬁ%%ﬂ?ﬁ#&%fﬁgﬁﬁﬁ%%zﬁ ' The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases,
HE— A BN B mKRM T 15 < further summary details of which are included in note 15 to the Financial
Statements.
AEBR-_ZE-_ME+-_A=+—H2Z The fair value of the Group’s investment properties of approximately
BREWME 2 N TELDH AR 468,491,000 RMB468,491,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
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T(ZEZ=F+_-_A=+—H8: AR¥
525,417,00070) JYH AR R ERKLE
FEEMEZGFTEET  BRE2RA
FEFEER -

MEREEZEREERFR

RMB525,417,000) has been determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the estimated market values of similar properties, which is in level 2
fair value measurement hierarchy.
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REBEREEA

AEEREETRTRAREEBZEN
BFNEESLN - DRAEL —RIEN
FARMETWRBEES BHRR25E
506 - MRBZE L EE KR - 15
TERENEARE - HERTHME
H—RAR2E5F - —RiM 5 NEET
ARARENIIATERRSEHESR
EoE—SHIBENT

B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for buildings and buildings used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 25 to 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of buildings generally have
lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. Further details are
as follows:

(@) RAREE (a) Right-of-use assets
FAAEEGEARAENREE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements
REBMT : during the year are as follows:
HE it B¥ et
Leasehold
land Buildings Total
AREET T ARKET T ARKETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZZE-_=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 643,245 54,122 697,367
NE Additions - 20,560 20,560
TEMX Depreciation charge (17,125) (14,000) (31,125)
HHEEEE 2 HEE1E Disposals as a result of lease cancellation - (19,364) (19,364)
RZEZ=F+=ZRA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 and
r—ZT-pF—HA—H 1 January 2024 626,120 41,318 667,438
TERX Depreciation charge (16,250) (12,006) (28,256)
EHETE 2 HEEE Disposals as a result of lease cancellation - (11,825) (11,825)
R-ZZE-_WF+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 609,870 17,487 627,357
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15. HE =) 15. LEASES (continued)
AEEEREEA B The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) HEERE (b) Lease liabilities
FRHEEBENREEESH DT The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year

are as follows:

—E-ME —E-=F
2024 2023
AR® T AREFTTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R—HA—HBMRAEE Carrying amount at 1 January 42,661 59,040
MHEE New leases - 20,560
FARERERT SILIRE Accretion of interest recognised during the year 1,544 2,573
(BN Payments (8,095) (16,453)
HHEEEE 2 HEEE Disposals as a result of lease cancellation (12,225) (23,059)
R+ A=+—HrEREE Carrying amount at 31 December 23,885 42,661
Ak~ Analysed into:
mENE D Current portion 11,380 12,385
FETRENEL Non-current portion 12,505 30,276
—ENEF —E—=
2024 2023
BERA=E BB A=
(%) B8 AR®Tx (%) B ARETT
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
E Current
HERE Lease liabilities 4.75 2025 11,380 4.75 2024 12,385
IERE Non-current
HERE Lease liabilities 4.75 2026-2028 12,505 475 2025-2028 30,276
HEAGBENIHA SRR The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 39.1(c) to the

RWFE39.1QHEE - financial statements.
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15. & @) 15. LEASES (continued)
AEEEREEA B The Group as a lessee (continued)
(c) MWEZPERNAEHREZRENT (c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:
—E_ME —E_=fF
2024 2023
AR® T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HEARANE Interest on lease liabilities 1,544 2,573
FREEERNERS Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 28,256 31,125
HEHHEEREEBEMBEEEEMY Expense relating to short-term leases and leases of low-
X GEFABEERARAR) value assets (included in cost of sales and expenses) 3,054 4,506
B HRRIELRE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 32,854 38,204
(d) AEMBRESRHEBREHNRT (d) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows relating to leases
HEHEERENRKREBEREHR that have not yet commenced are disclosed in notes 34(c) and 35(b) to the
B 75 R 5% BT 5% 34(c) 2 35(b) I 5& - financial statements.
AEEEREEA The Group as a lessor
AEEREBELEHELZHLEEKE The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of twelve
Mz (fsF14)  BEPEARMBH = commercial properties in Mainland China and seven commercial properties
EHEMERBENCERNEYE - Z in Hong Kong under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
SHEMNBR —REKBEPL I HERIZ generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic
SURBERRITMAETENEESH rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
B -FARSENERRESRKABA income recognised by the Group during the year was RMB9,933,000 (2023:
R#9,933,000t (ZE =% : AR RMB10,663,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial
10,663,000 7T) * FHIEE B S HRARMIFES o statements.
RZEZ_MF+_A=+—H BER At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group
SEREBEEAMP ZLEHENEYCK in future periods under operating leases with its tenants are as follows:
BRIRFAERIEMT ¢
—EB-NEF =
2024 2023
AREBT R AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
—F R Within one year 6,348 12,486
—FEEMFEAA After one year but within two years 1,823 5,788
MER EB=FAA After two years but within three years 890 1,378
=F EEMFEAA After three years but within four years 988 1,291
PUELA EERFUA After four years but within five years 248 988
AFERE After five years 1,341 1,589
EEt Total 11,638 23,520
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—FoEFt=A=t+—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

16. B & 16. GOODWILL
ARETTT
RMB'000
RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—HK At 31 December 2023 and
ZTEZOFE+=ZA=+—H: 31 December 2024:
B AR 2,889,634
RERE Accumulated impairment (2,887,781)
BREFE Net carrying amount 1,853

BEEBAHRBOBESRRENRAIEE
FERBELR (RRSELEN ([REEL
B]) REELBMHAKRERERER
EBEMEEEE  ZAEEDNEREBERLL
FERERFHNTRATERRARSRETAN
AEBEFHARNRSRE A T
T REEITHE - M REXUBBHRSEL
BUREMBEEEBNRR YRR -

BREGEHESNAROEZUNTITREES
BRAETRENR SEERSEEBMH
FEREENT

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the acquired
subsidiaries, which are cash-generating units (“CGUs"), for impairment testing.
The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth
rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the pharmaceutical
industry in which the CGU operates.

The goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the following
cash-generating unit for impairment testing and the carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to the CGU is as follows:

—EB-NEF —EC=F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Genesis Biosystems Inc. ([ Genesis]) Genesis Biosystems Inc. (“Genesis”) 1,853 1,853
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—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

16. B8 &) 16. GOODWILL (continued)
AER-_ZE_mF+_A=+—HEKZ= Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the CGU for 31
To=FF+ A=+ —HBReELEBM December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The following describes each key
MEAEERERARK  TXHELE assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to
BEEEETHSRENARYERESR undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

EFRAFAZSBEIERR

ERME EREEANBARELY Gross profit margin:
M ERMNENEERER
EFE o

RmERE - RANTARmRIERE Terminal growth rate:

SRR R TER - -

BLER % - Fr ek A A9 BE 3R R T AT - Discount rate:
A =z Bk AE 8 5 L Y 4 E R
B o fEEETE (AR BLIR R -
AEBEBZ2EBHRATEL
MAREFERT B2 -
ERAREEEBME - I
AMAREREAEHEN -

Management determined budgeted gross profit
margins based on past performance and their
expectations of market development.

The average terminal growth rates used are consistent
with the forecasts included in the inflation rate.

The discount rates used are pre tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant units. When determining
the estimated discount rate, the Group used the key
parameters by reference to certain listed companies
of the same industry. Given the nature of the Group’s
business, the discount rates adopted fall within a
reasonable range.

—g-me —z-=f

2024 2023

ESTES Gross profit margin 74% 75%
Rimig R E Terminal growth rate 2% 2%
BLIR = Discount rate 16% 16%
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—E-MF+=A=+—8

31 DECEMBER 2024

17. B EE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ETH i3
EmB® PR A HERRG EFB% @zt
Product Deferred Trademark
development ~ development and Customer
in progress costs software relationships Total
AR%TTR ARET R AR¥TR ARETTT AR¥TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ZE-ME+=ZA=+—H 31December 2024
RZZ-WF—A—H:  At1lanuary 2024:
AR Cost 877,962 1,609,246 86,758 433,932 3,007,898
ZitEH Accumulated amortisation - (626,790) (41,502) (433,932) (1,102,224)
B Impairment (258,839) (862,014) (8,859) - (1,129,712)
REFE Net carrying amount 619,123 120,442 36,397 - 775,962
RZZTZMF—A—HK  Costat 1 January 2024,
PN - Bk RETEESH net of accumulated amortisation
KA (& and impairment 619,123 120,442 36,397 - 775,962
WE Additions 114,358 - 1,312 - 115,670
HE Disposal (13,743) - (235) - (13,978)
BHEY Amortisation charge - (30,091) (5,834) - (35,925)
BRARTHELRE Transfer from product
development in progress (152,618) 152,618 - - -
REFE Net carrying amount 567,120 242,969 31,640 - 841,729
RZZZMF+ZA
=f+—f: At 31 December 2024
AR Cost 825,959 1,761,864 87,835 433,932 3,109,590
ZEEH Accumulated amortisation - (656,881) (47,336) (433,932) (1,138,149)
RE Impairment (258,839) (862,014) (8,859) - (1,129,712)
REFE Net carrying amount 567,120 242,969 31,640 - 841,729
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17. B EE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
T Rt
EmR# RERA EIEYENS XPBAR @5t
Product Deferred Trademark
development development and Customer
in progress costs software relationships Total
ARBFT ARETFT ARETFT ARBFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ZZZZFEFTZA=+—H 31 December 2023
RZTZ=F—-A—H:  At1lanuary 2023:

A Cost 811,157 1,506,808 86,163 433,932 2,838,060
ESg £ Accumulated amortisation - (612,436) (35,518) (433,932) (1,081,886)
AIE Impairment (258,839) (862,014) (8,859) - (1,129,712)
REFE Net carrying amount 552,318 32,358 41,786 - 626,462

MZZZ=F—F—HHK  Costat1January 2023,

ESEI S 5 net of accumulated amortisation

K& and impairment 552,318 32,358 41,786 - 626,462

NE Additions 151,163 18,080 829 - 170,072

HE Disposal - - (175) - (175)

BHEY Amortisation charge - (14,354) (5,984) - (20,338)

BRARTHELRE Transfer from product

development in progress (84,358) 84,358 - - -

HERBLAR Disposal of a subsidiary - - (59) - (59)
REFE Net carrying amount 619,123 120,442 36,397 = 775,962
RZZZ=F1+_A

=+—H At 31 December 2023

KA Cost 877,962 1,609,246 86,758 433,932 3,007,898

g 3¢ Accumulated amortisation - (626,790) (41,502) (433,932) (1,102,224)

AE Impairment (258,839) (862,014) (8,859) - (1,129,712)
REFE Net carrying amount 619,123 120,442 36,397 - 775,962
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18. REBRARMNKE 18.
RZE-_NF+_A=+—"BHEBEKN

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024, all of

BARIFEEHINGT 2EHAFELT which are unlisted companies.
NI
SR, AN R RS
AR B TRFEPREFLH ot {3t 2 EMEX L B1(%)
EE &
Proportion of
Place of interest held by
Principal activities and place incorporation/ Registered the Company (%)

Name of operation registration capital Direct Indirect
BEER (BE)ARAF REBREER BB 10,0007 T 100 -
Sun Moral International (HK) Limited Investment holding in Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000
BEIRBEFRAF R EIR i S R EE R A% 200,000,000 - 100
Hainan Sihuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Marketing of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB200,000,000

in Mainland China
ERERREBERAF > RPER S E R E R HE R AR 250,000,000 70 - 100
Beijing Sihuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB250,000,000

in Mainland China
RINMREBEBBR T ** REEALEHREER HE RN AR H50,000,0007C - 100
Shenzhen Sihuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Marketing of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB50,000,000

in Mainland China
LR BER BB AR R ERRE A ENEREEL A A 100,000,000 70 - 56.47
Shandong Xuanzhu Pharma Co., Ltd. Provision of R&D and industrialization Mainland China RMB100,000,000

of innovative medicine in Mainland China
ERARENHARBRAR AR B 4 R A B B AR 75 HE R AR #3,600,0007 - 100
Beijing Ao He Research Institute Co., Ltd. Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMB3,600,000
ERORREBRRF > REBEASREREER R E A AR 62,500,0007C - 100
Jilin Sihuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB62,500,000

in Mainland China
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8

31 DECEMBER 2024

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

B3 ANAfEER
REEH TEEHRERMLE it AMEE £l (%)
B &
Proportion of
Place of interest held by
Principal activities and place incorporation/ Registered the Company (%)
Name of operation registration capital Direct Indirect
REABEXBERAF R EIR R E B E A AR 16,880,000 7T - 80
Changchun Xiangtong Pharmaceutical Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB16,880,000
Co., Ltd. in Mainland China
BILEEEEERAF A EIR E HE E E RER AR7,220,0007T - 79.79
Tonghua Jida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Marketing of medical aesthetic products in Mainland China RMB7,220,000
Mainland China
TRERREBERRF RPBRESREREER HE st AR 26,875,0007C - 79
Benxi Hengkang Pharmaceutical, Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB26,875,000
in Mainland China
ERMRREEXBRAE R E AR BB R HE RN AR 334,440,000 70 - 90
Jilin Sihuan Aokang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Construction for medical project in Mainland ~ Mainland China RMB334,440,000
China
EMREREER AR A B st B R E B A AR 58,500,0007C - 100
Jilin Zhen'ao Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB58,500,000
in Mainland China
ERRFREERRF RPBREREREER R E st AR 19,500,0007C - 100
Jilin Jinsheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB19,500,000
in Mainland China
BHLEREERBRAR A EI R 1% A AR E R AR 100,000,000 7T - 100
Longyu Hongda Investment Management Investment holding in Mainland China Mainland China RMB100,000,000

Co., Ltd.
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18. RMIB A RIMIKRE @)

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

B3 ARAfEER
REEH TEEHRERMLE it AMEE £l (%)
BE &
Proportion of
Place of interest held by
Principal activities and place incorporation/ Registered the Company (%)

Name of operation registration capital Direct Indirect
RRREEXBERAF R EIR i B B E B A AR 50,000,000 - 100
Xizang Kangxin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Marketing of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB50,000,000

in Mainland China
ERERREBRAF RARE R EEE SR RER AR #30,000,0007C - 100
Jilin Huikang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB30,000,000

in Mainland China
ERFABEIBRAR RPBREREREER HE st AR 100,000,000 7 - 100
Jilin Shengtong Chemical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB100,000,000

in Mainland China
SAMBERR AR RPBEIRRE N EBEER B A AR 50,000,000 - 100
Ambest Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical Mainland China RMB50,000,000

products in Mainland China
EEMRAREREERRAR FA B P £ £ — MR BB B PR RER AR 319,000,000 7T - 57

Bl EBR%
Xiqu Hospital (Chongging) Management Provision of general hospital services and Mainland China RMB319,000,000

Co., Ltd. hospital management services

in Mainland China
ENRORAEER AT > RPBERMEERHEREER A AR H28,300,0007C - 51
Jilin Sichang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd Manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical Mainland China RMB28,300,000

products in Mainland China
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—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8

31 DECEMBER 2024

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

B3 ANAfEER
REEH TEEHRERMLE it AMEE £l (%)
B &
Proportion of
Place of interest held by
Principal activities and place incorporation/ Registered the Company (%)
Name of operation registration capital Direct Indirect
EETERBERABRRE R B S A — R B B AR 75 A AK#319,000,000 70 - 57
Xiqu Hospital (Chongging) Co., Ltd. Provision of general hospital services Mainland China RMB319,000,000
in Mainland China
Radiant (Hong Kong) Investment Limited REBMERE EBERRES 50,000 7T - 100
Property investment in Hong Kong BVI US$50,000
HBENRERRA RRSHEREER EEE L 700,000,000 % T - 100
Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Ltd. Investment holding in the Cayman Islands Cayman Islands US$700,000,000
B (EH) BERBAERRA REBREER B 10,0008 7T - 100
Xuanzhu (HK) Biopharmaceutical Limited Investment holding in Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000
AR BRAF R BI R SR LA 3R TS A ARH450,614,290 T - 56.47
Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMB450,614,290
B EMRERD BRRE REEASREREER R E Ayt AR #372,000,000 70 - 68.47
Huisheng Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB372,000,000
in Mainland China
TREBERENBERRAF RAEREEHEXER R E st AR 67,062,128 - 79.79
Beijing Meiyan Space Biomedical Co., Ltd. Marketing of medical aesthetic products Mainland China RMB67,062,128
in Mainland China
A () BERBBR AR TR B 4 5 R 4 E R A& 560,000,000 70 - 56.47
Xuanzhu (Beijing) Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ~ Marketing of innovative medicine in Mainland China RMB560,000,000
Mainland China
REBFHENRBBRAR DAFR B A AR A AR 3 AR 7S REIR AR 10,000,0007T - 68.47
Changchun Huisheng Biological Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMB10,000,000

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
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18. RMIB A RIMIKRE @)

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

B3 ANAfEER
kT TEEBREE N {2 HERER £l (%)
B &
Proportion of
Place of interest held by
Principal activities and place incorporation/ Registered the Company (%)
Name of operation registration capital Direct Indirect
EREZEENRBRBRAR A B 4 R A B 3 AR 75 A AR 10,000,000 7T - 68.47
Beijing Huizhiheng Biological Technology Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.
EREAEDRRERD A T 7 3t £ 4 B 2 PR 7 R A AR 10,000,0007T - 68.47
Beijing Huisheng Biological Technology Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.
ERBBICIBRAR R B S B E R E st AR 28,000,0007C - 100
Jilin Aotong Chemical Co., Ltd. Manufacture of pharmaceutical products Mainland China RMB28,000,000
in Mainland China
BEEHBEMAERAF A B 4 R A AP 3 AR 75 E R AR 8,000,000 7T - 56.47
Hainan Huixuan Pharmaceutical Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMBS,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.
R EREER AR A ROrh B b 3R 4 B SR B PR 7 R A AR #30,000,0007C - 79.79
Beijing Meiyan Space Technology Co., Ltd. Provision of medical aesthetic R&D services Mainland China RMB30,000,000
in Mainland China
FEEREERBARRE P B SR A A AR 7 R E st AR 10,000,0007C - 711
Benxi Jiangcheng Pharma Co., Ltd. Provision of R&D services in Mainland China Mainland China RMB10,000,000
I RETRBENRRBRAR ** PR B A AR A B 3 R B R E R A o E A AR 30,000,000 - 56.47
Beijing Xuanzhu Combio Co., Ltd. Provision of R&D and industrialization of Mainland China RMB30,000,000
innovative medicine in Mainland China
BT (BB) EMMRERAT * RERREHE RS ) A& 200,000,000 70 - 56.47
Xuanzhu (HK) Biotechnology Limited Provision of R&D services in Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB200,000,000
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BT,/ AN R fiiER
AR EHE IREPREXLH L it B HEMER L B1(%)
EE &
Proportion of
Place of interest held by
Principal activities and place incorporation/ Registered the Company (%)
Name of operation registration capital Direct Indirect
XZENITH BIOTECHNOLOGY INC REBIRGEHE RS *E 100,000 7T - 56.47
Provision of R&D services in the United States  United States US$100,000
Genesis Biosystems, Inc REBEHBEER %H 20,000 7T - 79.79
Marketing of medical aesthetic products in the - United States US$20,000
United States
EBRZE OTI) MR AR AR AR BRI R B R R R A AR F50,000,0007C - 79.79
Meiyan Space (Hebei) Biological Technology Provision of medical aesthetic R&D services Mainland China RMB50,000,000
Co., Ltd. in Mainland China
AR AR ERR AR P B 82 41 B8 S A PR 7 RER AR 10,000,0007T - 79.79
Hebei Yazhiyan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Provision of medical aesthetic R&D services Mainland China RMB10,000,000
in Mainland China
BHEMEERENRARADF T B I R A B 3 AR HEN AR #5,000,0007C - 68.47
Wuxi Huierkang Technology Co., Ltd. Provision of R&D services in Mainland China ~ Mainland China RMB5,000,000
TRERERAMRRBERAF* AR B ER B AR B RS R A AR H50,000,0007C - 79.79
Beijing MeiYan Space Biotechnology Co., Ltd.  Provision of medical aesthetic R&D services Mainland China RMB50,000,000

in Mainland China

* ZEMBARDNBEPEEET * These subsidiaries were registered as wholly-foreign owned enterprises
MRINGBEBERE - under PRC law.

o ZEWBARNREBERBAAET **  These subsidiaries were registered as limited liability companies under PRC
MAEBREEAR - law.

wex Z MY B R B YRR R BUE E R ***  This subsidiary was registered as a foreign-invested enterprise under PRC
RINEBRERE - law.

RZZEZWmF+ZA=+—8 " R3k
2EMBARMBIEERESZHAR
#577,046,0007C (CE-=F: AR
704,894,0007T) * BLERI M E W TERX -

The total non-controlling interests in non-wholly-owned subsidiaries at
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB577,046,000 (2023:
RMB704,894,000), which are individually not material.

ERIFEERBRIBEZEFNEER
FRASBEETERDNAEBENE
RA-EBERR RREEMHBRFN
HHENEERAXBNITE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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31 DECEMBER 2024

19. ERARSEETENRE 19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD
—EMEF =%
2024 2023
AR TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
EIEEEFE Share of net assets 572,408 573,721
L B B ) 7 2 Goodwill on acquisition 464,494 465,209
1,036,902 1,038,930
DERIEREY Provision for impairment (389,311) (389,311)
st Total 647,591 649,619
AEBFBHBERNRREELCETBENE The Group’s trade receivable balances related to associates and joint ventures are
SRR KSR B SRR M7t 23 15 o disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.
REMENRRAECEALAR The associates and joint ventures are private companies and there are no quoted
H i 0 & T ﬁ#&fg o I #1575 $§,‘% @ market prices available for their shares. There are no contingent liabilities relating
REtE AR REEERENXAEE - to the Group’s interests in the associates and joint ventures.
AEERBERAREEDENERT The Group’s shareholdings in the associates and joint ventures all comprise
BERRARZEMBRARFENE#E equity shares held by wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, except for
mik R MEEEER B R the shareholdings in two entities which are held through non-wholly-owned
RAEZEMBRARIFA - subsidiaries of the Company.
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TRRIAEBERNREABLADR
ABLENEAREER

B 75 R B ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EoNFtZA=+—H

31 DECEMBER 2024

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQU ITY METHOD (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group’s

associates and joint ventures that are not individually material:

B MR R E Summarised statements of financial position
HERNTAREELHE
Associates and Joint Ventures
+=A=+-8
31 December
—E-IEF —EZ=F
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
M ED Current
BE Assets 1,229,896 1,271,874
BE Liabilities (1,142,648) (1,264,362)
REBEEFE Total net current assets 87,248 7,512
IEmE Non-current
BE Assets 1,746,641 1,710,300
BE Liabilities (380,023) (518,640)
RIEREBEEFE Total net non-current assets 1,366,618 1,191,660
IR A Non-controlling interests (58,518) (59,116)
BEFRE Net assets 1,395,348 1,140,056
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19. AR EZSTEMNKRE @  19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQU'TY METHOD (continued)

BRRME Summarised statements of profit or loss
BEATREEDE
Associates and Joint Ventures
—B-NEF —E-=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Yoz Revenue 468,439 371,247
FrATIS BRI E 18 Loss before income tax (69,242) (157,262)
FR iR Income tax expense (1,118) (578)
FEEE Loss for the year (70,360) (157,840)
FHEEERE Total comprehensive loss (70,360) (157,840)
AT &G - Attributable to:
RATHEB A Owners of the Company (71,807) (156,925)
SRR = Non-controlling interests 1,447 (915)
N EER RS AT REEDEN The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements
BRERMEINOMAEHEH L RA R of the associates and joint ventures adjusted for differences in accounting policies
BECENEHBREEMBARN S - among the Group and the associates and joint ventures.
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19. AR ESTEMNKRE @  19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

MBERBEY R

EQU ITY METHOD (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

25 BERBEERBERRIRE Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying

BERERREEN R -

amount of its interests in associates and joint ventures.

HEARAREELE
Associates and Joint Ventures

—EMEF —TE=F

2024 2023

AR TR AREFTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

R—RA—BNEIEERE Opening net assets 1 January 1,140,056 1,189,741
[REEE Capital injection by shareholders 58,000 107,618
FEEE Loss for the year (71,807) (156,925)
fz 8 Dividends - (378)
B RERE A A Derecognition of associates 269,099 -
FREEFAE Closing net assets 1,395,348 1,140,056
N E AR A EDENER Interest in associates and joint ventures 572,408 573,721
[l Goodwill 464,494 465,209
W Impairment (389,311) (389,311)
BREAE Carrying value 647,591 649,619
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20. RAFEHFABEZNESH
'E
TXH B AA K ERE KA A SR
BEBRERRGSEN BRI RAMME

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Set out below is an overview of financial assets, other than cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables and pledged deposits, held by the Group

W BR BRUA R R A7 FBR M) B2

as at the end of the year:

ZEQNEF —E-=
2024 2023
Bt & AR¥T T ARKETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FRE Non-current
BATERABRED Financial assets at fair value through

TREE - profit or loss:

BRATEFERELTRERE Unlisted equity investments, at fair value (i) 170,451 354,275
EPEIE L] Total non-current 170,451 354,275
RE Current
BATERFABED Financial assets at fair value through

TREE - profit or loss:

BHIE & Wealth management products (ii) 110,578 589,016
REBHE Total current 110,578 589,016
HttemEEHAE Total other financial assets 281,029 943,291
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20. EAFEFAEZNERA
BE#®

(i)

EXRZZFEZNE+=ZRA=+—
HOREREDERIEAFER
ABENEREE AR AEER
T RENEME2EKREERA
AT EEZ -

&R IE LT s B R
BIRE - ARBRRAIRARRETE
ZEERkG - BIWEA AR
BEGEIBREATEAAR
b 2 E UL S

ZRBEEATEABETEER
F 1 SR 1T 31T HE B E A = # IE B
Eme 2FEVERBCRHIDER
BRAHEFABRSNEREE B
REAHWRETREAIFERLD
R BATIR o

B 75 R B ot

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EZMF+=RA=+—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(i)

The above equity investments at 31 December 2024 were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not
elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss through other comprehensive
income.

The amount represents equity investments in the unquoted equity shares.
The Group intends to hold these equity shares for the foreseeable future
and has not irrevocably elected to classify them at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The amount represents wealth management products issued by certain
reputable banks in Mainland China with no fixed interest rate. They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.
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21. HtFRBEE

21. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

—B-NEF —E=F

2024 2023

Bt 5E AR®TR AREFIT

Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000

M= QR E K Loans to associates 36/(ii) - 258,000
ME=FER Loans to third parties 0%D) 123,068 58,533
H th B W AR K Other receivables (i) 1,751 3,000
BERBEEMNTEMNNKIE Prepayments for purchase of long-term assets 5,433 11,948
130,252 331,481

220

(ii)

RZZE-_WNFEF+-_A=+—H8 "
FE=ZFEENER (RIEEFRAS
REKRRE) nEERWER-F
ZHEFER - BIRTFS%E -
e RFBAGHRE AR o

AN R B ) Sk A B 3R (B R AR
FBEMBEARTNER ME=
75 BB CE b FE UK BR 5R) O BR AR AR
#l - BEERBRERE - R
EME&EHEHa RERETHE
B o BT A st A% 4 ) EL 4t FE W AR 3R
WHEAHE ORI REEEE - R
—E-NER-_FTE-_=F+-A4
=1+—HB  BEBEWRTAMTRE
;Eo

(ii)

As at 31 December 2024, loans to third parties including the loan principal
and interest receivable were unsecured and repayable in 2027. Interests are
charged at 5% annually. Principal and interest will be paid at maturity.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
including loans to associates, loans to third parties and other receivables to
minimise credit risk. Long aging balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Other receivables included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and past due
amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.
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31 DECEMBER 2024

22. 8 22. INVENTORIES

—E-IEF —EZ=F

2024 2023

AR¥TT ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

L) Finished goods 209,845 318,811
R # Raw materials 184,484 198,344
EHRS Work in progress 80,089 100,506
HAith Others 36,700 36,508
511,118 654,169
FERE Provision for inventories (94,118) (96,846)
st Total 417,000 557,323
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—ETZMNF+=A=+—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

23. EFREMEWERR

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—EZMEF —E=F
2024 2023
Bt 5E ARET R AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BEIRBIRER—F=FH Trade receivables — third parties 0] 561,940 393,211
EUEE Notes receivable (i) 94,283 60,256
M= QR ER Loans to associates (iiiy/36 277,250 243,525
ME=ZFER Loans to third parties (iii) 130,900 141,475
TERT R IR Prepayments to suppliers 118,902 89,611
JE W HL B Bk 75 R IE Amounts due from other related party 36 9,600 9,600
R —REEDFEFIE Amount due from a joint venture 36 1,193 4,478
M —REEE QA RIFIE Amount due from an associate 36 224 224
RS Dividends receivable 36 40,912 40,912
HE B A A 2 FE U BR FR Receivable from disposal of subsidiaries 82,517 82,517
b i Y BR 3 Other receivables (iv) 195,482 152,902
1,513,203 1,218,711
B 5 e B FX A R (B B B Provision of impairment on trade receivables (62,296) (55,650)
b JE WK IB B (B B Provision of impairment on other receivables (26,721) (28,311)
HEt Total 1,424,186 1,134,750
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() BHEKER-F=F

A (AF)
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—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

U

Trade receivables — third parties

—E-IEF —EC=F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Z 5 EWARR Trade receivables 561,940 393,211
B E Provision for impairment (62,296) (55,650)

FREEE Net carrying amount 499,644 337,561
REFBEREZP 2R SERTIE The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except
gLXfoﬁTi’E TR P & for new customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The
BIRANRERI - EEH—RA= credit period is generally from three to six months, extending up to one
EXREA HREZRFPAZETA year for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
ERE—F -ZEPHERAREER Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
FR o REE ) REFFHERER has a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
FEMGRIE 2 BRI 1 I - 0 3% %E are reviewed and monitored regularly by senior management. In view
T %'J“B P9 DREREEERR - of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
“EHnedas ?&MEEJ";EHNA relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant

‘J‘ BEET o BENN EXCPTI MAREEE
NESERUER S RREZSRE

P IESANERAR

e o A%

B ERE HEBRRERTA

R0 sk EL Al (5 IR AR

EERRRE -

concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables
are non-interest-bearing.
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2. EZREMEWER @ 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
(i) BHRKRERR—FE=H (&) (i)

Trade receivables — third parties (continued)

RER BHRUBIERLRERHA

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the year, based

HEH M BRER D AT A T (AEHBR 5

on the invoice date and net of provisions, is as follows:

1#)
—EMEF —T=F
2024 2023
ARET R AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
3@ AR Within 3 months 406,326 177,132
3ZE6{EA 3 to 6 months 30,268 81,272
6EAZE14 6 months to 1 year 47,980 20,581
—F Lk More than 1 year 15,070 58,576
HEES Total 499,644 337,561
BSRKEFRENBERHES The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables
T are as follows:
—EB-NEF —T=F
2024 2023
AR TR AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
FH) At beginning of year 55,650 63,848
PERIENEE: ] Impairment, net 6,646 (8,198)
FR At end of year 62,296 55,650
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() BOEKEX-F=F(E)

ME®E B HRBRAEERET
HEDT - At 2TREEERRE -
BHXDERE S EERRNE
BREESE © &at B R A R INiEAS
R ERRERNRE HAASEH
BEBESEE - BT ARRE
BTN AIERAISEEHR -

R-ZF-_mOFE+=-A=+—H

B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(i) Trade receivables — third parties (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on ageing of trade receivables. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

As at 31 December 2024

H 5 EWARR Y AR
Ageing of trade receivables
DR1E 1225 2E3F HiB3F #5t
Less than 1to 2 2to3 Over
1 year years years 3 years Total
TREEEEEX Expected credit loss rate 2.29% 25.14% 90.86% 100.00%
HRERHEE Gross carrying amount
(ARETT) (RMB’000) 495,931 17,599 20,738 27,672 561,940
TREEEEE Expected credit losses
(ARETT) (RMB’000) 11,357 4,424 18,843 27,672 62,296

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H

As at 31 December 2023

B 5 MR R
Ageing of trade receivables
DR1E 1224 2E3F BB 34 #Et
Less than 1t02 2t03 Over
1 year years years 3 years Total
BHEEEEX Expected credit loss rate 2.84% 26.49% 71.64% 100.00%
HRERTHE Gross carrying amount
(AR¥FT) (RMB'000) 287,146 73,653 15,613 16,799 393,211
FEEEERE Expected credit losses
(AR¥TFT) (RMB'000) 8,155 19,511 11,185 16,799 55,650
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(ii)
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(ii)

Notes receivable are held with a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling as the Group
sometimes endorses notes receivable to suppliers prior to their expiry
date. These are classified as debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income and presented as notes receivable. The
fair value changes of these notes receivable at fair value through other
comprehensive income were insignificant during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding notes
receivable. As the notes receivable represent the irrevocable bank bills
issued by the banks in Mainland China with high credit rating, the Group
estimated that the expected credit loss rate for notes receivable was
minimal.

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

At 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed certain notes receivable
accepted by banks in Mainland China (the “derecognised notes”) to certain
of its suppliers and banks in order to settle the trade payables with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB35,697,000. The derecognised notes
had a maturity of one to six months at the end of the reporting period. In
accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders
of the derecognised notes may exercise the right of recourse against any,
several or all of the persons liable for the derecognised notes, including
the Group, in disregard of the order of precedence (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the risk of the Group being
claimed by the holders of the derecognised notes is remote in the absence
of a default of the accepted banks. The Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the derecognised notes. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the derecognised notes and the
associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group's
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised notes and the undiscounted
cash flows to repurchase these derecognised notes is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the derecognised notes are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised loss
amounting to RMB7,000 on the date of transfer of the derecognised notes.
No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both
during the year or cumulatively. The endorsements were evenly throughout
the year.
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(iii)

(iv)
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding loans to
minimise credit risk. Material balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Loans to associates and third parties shown above had no
recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Other receivables mainly represent deposits with suppliers. Expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to
the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate.

The Group assessed and recognised a provision for impairment of
other receivables amounting to RMB26,721,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB28,311,000) in accordance with IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2024.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other receivables
are as follows:

—EZMEF —T=F

2024 2023

AR® T ARETTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

F7) At beginning of year 28,311 28,066
R EF R Impairment, net (299) 245
W A EA R B M SR Amount written off as uncollectible (1,291) =
FR At end of year 26,721 28,311
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2. BERBEEEYRER

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

BEM PLEDGED DEPOSITS
—E-mE —T—=
2024 2023
AR%Tx AREFT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Re MRITES Cash and bank balances 2,176,093 3,057,135
TEHITF K Time deposits 1,689,713 964,287
3,865,806 4,021,422
A BEEARER Less: Pledged deposits
=B A A E5E BifF R time deposits over three months 244,000 130,000
BITHEEIEEGH pledged for construction in progress 7 756
TR BRITERE pledge for interest-bearing bank borrowings
(Mi3¥32) (note 32) 56,000 98,000
AFEASEPE frozen for lawsuits 12,862 14,000
BTN ZEE R pledge for notes payable 30,554 -
BehIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,522,383 3,778,666

228

RITRSBATRARITFERF KT HE
FEMEAE c RFAKENKRESE
KfE  EHMERFRANF —RE=
A8~ REEEEL  WIZAEERE
HIERAMERIMAE - RITEHRREE
AEREFRNOHEENELBEER
FFEVERTT ©

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and
three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

31 DECEMBER 2024

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents at each reporting date are denominated in

the following currencies:

—E-ME —E=F

2024 2023

AR%Tx AREFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREE RMB 2,737,609 3,469,689
Ep usD 759,231 272,582
T HK$ 25,233 34,334
BT EUR - 1,711
R MOP 310 350
1BEt Total 3,522,383 3,778,666

AREBTTEmERAREMER A
RIBFPESNEEIRR TN REE  FE
LRNEEERE AEEEEEBER
ETHERBZRITAMARBERE
e -

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.
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25. BRA&X - RO EEBREER 25. SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND

iy TREASURY SHARES
BRTR
EELBER BELER
E§E EgE (&N B 68 et
Number of
Number of issued and
authorised fully paid
ordinary ordinary Share Share
shares shares capital premium Total
TR TR AR®T ARBT AR®BT R
Share’000 Share’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-ZE-_=%—A—H As at 1 January 2023 and
—E-=%+_A 31 December 2023 and at
=+—BRWZZZMF 31 December 2024
+-A=+—H (HK$0.01 per share)
(8RMEE0.01587T) 100,000,000 9,329,999 77,058 3,882,304 3,959,362
(i) FR AEERR_Z-__F+A4 (i) During the year, the Group repurchased 17,500,000 of its own shares

R - - —FRDEE R
LA 4 1 {8 9,899,000 7T (B 1E &
EHHEZ) (HE RN AR9,001,000
7T FA B 22 BT B 81 £ 17,500,000 A%
Bfn - AT -_WE+_—_A=+—
B ZSELBROHRTL -

FR - AREREKE2,367,000
BT (BESERY) HERAR
11,297,000 70) PA B 2 BT S 1Bl H
20,000,000 5 B & %15 - Mz S
DEHEEEERG R-ZT-NF
+TZA=+—8  ZEBERRKRGHY
Rl o

R-—ZT-_m&E+=-—_A=+—8"
N % [E4585,933,000 ) (B ==
F 1 48,433,000%) BB E R &
DEAEFRG - FHERRERE
FrEIRH G B EEE -

on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration, including expenses, of
HK$9,899,000 (equivalent to RMB9,001,000) for the 2022 Share Award
Scheme adopted in October 2022. As at 31 December 2024, these
repurchased shares were not granted.

During the year, the Group repurchased 20,000,000 of its own shares
on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration, including expenses, of
HK$12,367,000 (equivalent to RMB11,297,000) and these shares were
held as treasury shares. As at 31 December 2024, these repurchased shares
were not cancelled.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 85,933,000 (2023: 48,433,000)
purchased shares classified as treasury shares held for the share option
scheme and for subsequent sale or transfer.
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share Option Scheme of the Company

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the
Group, customers of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and any non-
controlling shareholder in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became
effective on 24 October 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of share of the Company to be issued upon exercise of
all options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the any time. The maximum
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue at the any time. The maximum number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to any one Eligible Person (including
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the shares at the any time.
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)

On 26 August 2020, the Company granted a total of 94,656,000 share options
to the eligible participants of the Company to subscribe for a total of 94,656,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company pursuant
to the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 24 October 2017. Share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme would be subject to certain
vesting conditions (if any) and vested in tranches of 33.33% (one-third) each on
each anniversary date following the date of grant for three years. Subject to the
satisfaction of certain performance appraisal conditions and certain performance
targets (if any), share options could be exercised in three-year installments and
until the expiry of share options.

On 1 September 2021, the Company granted a total of 7,500,000 share options
to the eligible participants of the Company to subscribe for a total of 7,500,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company pursuant
to the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 24 October 2017. Share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme would be subject to certain
vesting conditions (if any) and vested in tranches of 33.33% (one-third) each on
each anniversary date following the date of grant for three years. Subject to the
satisfaction of certain performance appraisal conditions and certain performance
targets (if any), share options could be exercised in three-year installments and
until the expiry of share options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share Option Scheme

1718 - during the year:
—E-ME —E_=fF
2024 2023
SRR BREHE TR NHE T 15 BRESRS
TEERERT (F1) TEEET (F%)
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
HK$ per share ‘000 HK$ per share ‘000
S —E At 1 January 1.08 81,610 1.08 83,876
RERZIK Forfeited during the year 0.97 (13,524) 0.97 (2,266)
R+=ZA=+—8 At 31 December 1.10 68,086 1.08 81,610

REBEEZZ-_NF+_A=+—Hk=
T —F+ A=+ R LEFERET
{58 1 o] B AR 4EE o

No share options were exercised for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

AATBRETTE (2 Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)
EETASEETEENERERZN The summary of the share options granted to certain employees of the Group is
ik as follows:
BRR % BERHE
TEERET REHAB (F4)
Exercise price Number of
in HKS per options granted
g =p Grant date share ‘000
—Z2TF)\AZ+RH 26 August 2020 0.97 94,656
—E-—FhLA—H 1 September 2021 2.20 7,500
102,156

AT RERHRITEOBEREZTEE

The exercise prices and expiry dates of the share options outstanding as at the

LEIHARER - end of the year are as follows:
BREH
THEEET EEBERERTEN
Exercise price BREYE (TH)

HKS$ per BREYE (T47) Number of outstanding vested

FIE A Expiry date share Number of options ‘000 and exercisable options ‘000
ZEIQRF —EB_=F ZBoNE —E-=F

2024 2023 2024 2023

“T=TFNAZ+HAE 25 August 2030 0.97 60,586 74,110 60,586 70,360
—E=—FNA—H 1 September 2031 2.20 7,500 7,500 5,000 2,500
68,086 81,610 65,586 72,860
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AATERETS (©)

FA HRRAEGERSHEERIENER
BEMRGAER I HBEREARE
3,079,000 T (ZE-=FHHEL: AR
#1,691,0007T) + M P2 #E 2 A B SR A FE

=

o

ARREEFERTESCDHEA_BAR
AEEBR=FRBHAENER D
BRENAFE ARAREEGHTE
FamRA AR Z R & E
FE - REEREHRBERE2HRELE
EHE  ZESENRARBOBELT

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)

During the year, total benefits amounting to RMB3,079,000 (expenses for 2023:
RMB1,691,000) were charged to the consolidated profit or loss for share options
granted to eligible participants with a corresponding change in equity.

The executive directors of the board of the Company have used the binomial
model to determine the fair value of the options granted, which is to be expensed
over the vesting period of three years. Significant judgement on parameters, such
as the risk-free rate, dividend yield and expected volatility, is required to be made
by the executive directors of the board of the Company in applying the binomial
model, of which the inputs are summarised below.

B —EEF

AA—H ANA=+7"H

1 September 26 August

e queg=p Grant date 2021 2020
R B ER T E Closing price at the grant date 2.22%7T 0.907% 7T
HK$2.22 HK$0.90

1 [ B ) Risk-free rate 1.33% 0.44%
g8 % Dividend yield 0.72% 1.71%
T8 HE R 18 (i) Expected volatility (i) 58.42% 44.81%

234

() BRBEHAREOBRNRERZF
HeEEEE - IIRBEAR RN
FHERESERMNKEETE

FAEQTERSHEI LMD R HEBR
TR

FR RAAREBBRENENBETES
68,086,000 17 i# 7 77 15 & B AR 1 - 1R 1%
AARBRAIMEARERE  2TEM
RITENERESSRAQAEINE
768,086,000 A% 3 38 & 38 A% [ ¥71E AR A
681,0007% 7T (F#HE M A R #624,0007T)
(B1TRXZ AL -

(i) The expected volatility, measured as the standard deviation of expected
share price returns, is determined based on the average daily trading price
volatility of the shares of the Company.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement
of fair value.

At the end of the year, the Company had 68,086,000 share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 68,086,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of HK$681,000 (equivalent to RMB624,000) (before issue expenses).
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26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Incentive Scheme of Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd.

On 26 June 2020, the board meeting of Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“Xuanzhu") (a subsidiary of the Group) passed a resolution to adopt an employee
share award plan (“Xuanzhu 2020 Share Incentive Scheme”) and 79,695,000
restricted shares of Xuanzhu were approved for eligible employees to subscribe at
the price of RMB1.57 per share. These restricted shares have a contractual term of
nil to three years.

On 10 September 2021, the board meeting of Xuanzhu passed resolutions to
adopt an employee share award plan (“Xuanzhu 2021 Share Incentive Scheme”)
including:

(1) 49,642,300 restricted shares of Xuanzhu were approved for eligible
employees to subscribe at the price of RMB1.2343 per share with a
contractual term of three years;

(2)  The 29,900,000 shares of Xuanzhu, which were granted to executives
under Xuanzhu 2020 Share Incentive Scheme, were replaced by a new
contractual term of three years and an exercise price of RMB0.263 per
restricted share;

(3)  The 44,045,000 restricted shares of Xuanzhu, which were approved to
eligible employees under Xuanzhu 2020 Share Incentive Scheme, were
modified with an exercise price of RMB0.263 per share; and

(4) 46,888,350 restricted shares of Xuanzhu were approved for eligible
employees to subscribe at the price of RMB0.263 per share with a
contractual term of three years.

On 31 March 2022, Xuanzhu granted 2,733,880 and 124,120 restricted shares
of Xuanzhu to eligible employees at the price of RMB0.263 and RMB1.2343 per
share respectively with a contractual term of three years.

On 21 July 2022 and 30 November 2022, Xuanzhu granted 933,104 and
5,037,630 restricted shares of Xuanzhu, respectively, to eligible employees at the
price of RMBO0.263 per share with a contractual term of three years.

On 17 November 2024, Xuanzhu granted 45,874,000 restricted shares of
Xuanzhu to eligible employees at the price of RMB1 per share with no contractual
term.
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26. LR AERNSR @) 26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

HMEYRBEROERA ARG Share Incentive Scheme of Xuanzhu Biopharmaceutical Co.,
HEEtE (2 Ltd. (continued)
LA B 13 SE AR SR BT AT AR 9 S B = 81 2% The following share awards were outstanding under Xuanzhu Share Incentive
FRREITE Scheme during the year:
S5k —E-=%
2024 2023
SR nwE B hnHE
FHRBEE g =] TR E A& fngx B
AR¥ T TR AR¥ET Tk
Weighted Weighted
average average
subscription Number subscription Number
price of shares price of shares
RMB per share ‘000 RMB per share ‘000
wn—A—AH At 1 January 0.926 156,573 0.921 163,251
REFRFE D Granted during the year 1.000 45,874 - -
RERZIK Forfeited during the year 0.274 (10,792) 0.804 (6,678)
RERTTE Exercised during the year 0.980 (191,655) - -
W+=ZRA=+—H At 31 December - - 0.926 156,573
BE_Z-_NME+_A=1+—HIFE " For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has recorded share-based
REBEGFEAROAERHEERAA compensation expenses of RMB402,896,000 (2023: RMB72,266,000).

R 402,896,000 (ZZT=—=F : AR
#72,266,0007T) °

R BB iEr 8 BE A FE T E A The fair value as at the grant date or the date of modification was determined
MSEEELEE - TR RAERE using the market-value model. The following table lists the inputs to the model
Ry 8 A BUEK used:
—EME
2024
BREHBEAREERS(AREIT) Grant date share price (RMB) 8.65
REE(ARET) Subscription price (RMB) 1.00
B B B 2 B 8 Price-to-R&D expense multiple 3.96
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EAEYHERGER QARG
M@t E

RZZE-ZTF+—A+=H BHFED
HERDERAR ([BHEY] - BEAE
B—RWEAR)REAZ @B —IELE
RURMEERDERTS (EALE
MR E ) BEERAEDIES
B EBUERBRHOARB133THE
1% 2 B8 F+ 4 27,950,000 % R ] 14 B%
17 ZERHIMEROHENHA=ENEF -

VAT B £ 22 D AR 43 S T AR W B AR
SR EFERRETE

26.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Incentive Scheme of Huisheng Biopharmaceutical Co.,

Ltd.

On 13 November 2020, the shareholders’ meeting of Huisheng Biopharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (“Huisheng Biopharm”) (a subsidiary of the Group) passed a resolution
to adopt an employee share award plan (“Huisheng Biopharm Share Incentive
Scheme”) and 27,950,000 restricted shares of Huisheng Biopharm were approved
for eligible employees to subscribe at the price of RMB1.33 per share. These
restricted shares have a contractual term from three to four years.

The following share awards were outstanding under Huisheng Biopharm Share

Incentive Scheme during the year:

—E-IF —E-=F
2024 2023

SR MnE R NHE
FHRBEE gy =] FIREEE Mefn 2t H
AR¥ T TR AR¥ETT TR

Weighted Weighted

average average
subscription Number subscription Number
price of shares price of shares
RMB per share ‘000 RMB per share ‘000
»—A—A8 At 1 January 1.33 21,275 1.33 22,715
RERZIK Forfeited during the year 1.33 (540) 1.33 (1,440)
W+=ZRA=+—H At 31 December 1.33 20,735 1.33 21,275

BE-_Z-_ME+—_A=+—RBILEE -
540,000 % (== — =4 : 1,440,000 f%)
f&in B A& R UL -

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 540,000 (2023: 1,440,000) shares have

been forfeited since the grant date.
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26.

LR BERNT R )

BEAEYHERGER QARG
HEEtE (2
HE_T-_NF+-_A=1+—HILFE -
AEEBCHBURNDAERBEEBRA
AR®12,157,000 L (ZFEZ=F: AR
#8,144,0007T) °

RELBHOAFEDERTSEER
BUESTE o TFRFIRATEE AREL M ABUR :

26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Incentive Scheme of Huisheng Biopharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has recorded share-based
compensation expenses of RMB12,157,000 (2023: RMB8,144,000).

The fair value as at the grant date was determined using the market-value model.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

BEAENRA
BB =t B
Huisheng
Biopharm
Share Incentive
Scheme

B ARREEG (ARET)
REB(ARET)
a5 [ [

R

Grant date share price (RMB) 1.89
Subscription price (RMB) 1.33
Risk-free rate 3.04%
Volatility

38.12%
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R FEEEEAEYEESR AT
B 17 %5 B 51 &1
RZZE-_—_F+A—H  bFEBEEM
EYEEBRAT ([JLFXE] - BARE
BE-—RMEBAGR)ESCLRRBA—IBR
HEURMNEBRG ZEF & (TR
EEARMEERTE]) - B4 REERE
AEREBEEUSKRBRMHARE220TH
EI% R 9,421,690 A% IR HI 1 AR 15 - 7% &
PR HIMEAR D B & HIER B = 2 PU4F -

Share Incentive Scheme of Beijing MeiYan Space Biomedical
Co., Ltd.

On 1 July 2022, the board meeting of Beijing MeiYan Space Biomedical Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing Meiyan”) (a subsidiary of the Group) passed a resolution to adopt
an employee share award plan (“Beijing Meiyan Share Incentive Scheme”)
and 9,421,690 restricted shares of Beijing MeiYan were approved for eligible
employees to subscribe at the price of RMB2.20 per share. These restricted shares
have a contractual term from three to four years.

VO IR B8 SE 9 A &2 B B BR A &) SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.
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ERBAERENBEERAR
Bt BB st & ()
SATR B S AR 9 3L SO 2R AR 17 2 M 3t
Bl PR IEATIE -

B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Share Incentive Scheme of Beijing MeiYan Space Biomedical
Co., Ltd. (continuea)

The following share awards were outstanding under the Beijing Meiyan Share
Incentive Scheme during the year:

—E-ME —E_=fF
2024 2023

BR (=30

hnEF In4E 15
REEE K5 & B RABE Mefn 2t B
AR®T TR AR¥ET TR

Weighted Weighted

average average
subscription Number subscription Number
price of shares price of shares
RMB per share ‘000 RMB per share ‘000
m—A—H At 1 January 2.20 9,422 2.20 9,422
REREH Granted during the year 2.20 1,376 2.20 43
RERZHK Forfeited during the year 2.20 (1,737) 2.20 (43)
R+=ZA=+—8H At 31 December 2.20 9,061 2.20 9,422

REABELORNDEZBHOAFTERA
R # 4,389,000 (B AR¥3.197T)
—T-=%F: AR¥137,0007t) ' H
FAEER T _WNFE+_-_A=+—
BEFERBRBEORBAIAAR
6,046,000 T (ZTE-_=F: ARK
6,983,000 7T) ©

RELBHOAFENERMSEER
ETE o TRIIRATEE ARE M ARUR :

The fair value of the share awards granted during the year was RMB4,389,000
(RMB3.19 each share) (2023:RMB137,000), of which the Group recognised a
share award expense of RMB6,046,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB6,983,000).

The fair value as at the grant date was determined using the market-value model.
The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

EFERERD
BEEE
Beijing Meiyan
Share Incentive

Scheme

REAEBREER(ARET) Grant date share price (RMB) 5.39

REE(ARET) Subscription price (RMB) 2.20
TEEEHRAE  BIE FER Enterprise value to earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation

B 571 Z % ([EV/EBITDA]) fE &1 and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") multiple 12.39
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27. ERRERERR

27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

FEEERES #E A5t REER
PRC statutory Retained
reserve fund Reserves Total earnings
AREFIT AREFIT ARBFIT AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
R-ZE-_=9—HF—H At 1 January 2023 385,005 (913,855) (528,850) 1,306,486
FEEIE Loss for the year - - - (54,017)
B2 (Pt 11) Dividends (note 11) - - - (298,560)
BB IR BZEhE 2l Employee share award scheme
—EERBEE - Value of employee services
(Ff#3%26) (note 26) - 89,084 89,084 -
BEREEESZ Special reserve for maintenance
BiREBNTE and production funds - 3,324 3,324 (3,324)
B /8 A AR FEIE AR Capital contribution by non-
REEE controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries - (7,564) (7,564) -
EREPEAE Transfer to PRC statutory
EES ) reserve fund (i) 4,241 - 4,241 (4,241)
R-ZZE-_NFE—F—H At 1 January 2024 389,246 (829,011) (439,765) 946,344
FEBE Loss for the year - - - (216,662)
S (B EE11) Dividends (note 11) - - - (177,080)
& B & fn SRt & Employee share award scheme
—EBR%ERE — Value of employee services
(Mt 3F26) (note 26) - 418,020 418,020 -
BEREEERZ Special reserve for maintenance
IR BB AT and production funds - 647 647 (647)
Bt A A1 FE AR Capital contribution by non-
AR E controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries - (4,165) (4,165) -
ENGEEHIEEBIERT  Partial disposal of equity
6 B 0 it B A =) A interests in subsidiaries
without change of control - (59,687) (59,687) -
BREREDEE Transfer to PRC statutory
EEE ) reserve fund (i) 53,531 - 53,531 (53,531)
RIZEZNE+ A At 31 December 2024
=+—H 442,777 (474,196) (31,419) 498,424
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EEMEBERMAN - ZE5HE
RNRARE R BEE AR
2L10% 0 REERER BEEZ
EeHBEIEZEEMELAD
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (continued)

The Company’s subsidiaries in the Mainland China are required to follow
the laws and regulations of the Mainland China and their respective articles
of association. These subsidiaries are required to allocate at least 10% of
their net profits for each financial year to the reserve fund until the balance
of such fund has reached 50% of their respective registered capital. The
reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting
or similar authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital. The
reserve fund is not available for distribution to shareholders except in the
case of liquidation.

AR AR K OFREFISN

28. Ht & & 28. OTHER LIABILITIES

—E-IEF —TE=F

2024 2023

B ARETR ARETTT

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

IEFE BT B Deferred government grants (i) 119,346 130,356
H b g Other borrowings (i) 41,543 40,889
EgimE Sale and leaseback (ii) 35,553 33,823
Hith Others (iv) 2,459,007 3,015,527
wEt Total 2,655,449 3,220,595

HIEREEWE BB RZEHTI
B R IEE BT B R aS o B
BMEERAFHRAREGELE
ANFRA BB - BEREFEEPAR
8,686,000 LI =T ZUF+ =
A=+—BoBEARBHEE(ZZ
—ZF+-A=+—8: AR
11,264,000 7T) ©

It represents the deferred revenue of government grants received for the
construction of property, plant and equipment. It will be credited to the
consolidated profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets. RMB8,686,000 of the total deferred amount was
classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
RMB11,264,000).
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HEE

(ii)

(iii)

POER B B E

HMERBEREE=ZFHER
ANER#32,254,000t (Z T - =4
+-RB=+—8:&)(Aite &
HERAR—FRER)  A5EH
— RSB A mFEIE AR AR R B {8 A
R#8,289,000 L (ZE=_=F+=
A=+—8: AK#¥39,889,000
L) (BEFE BEBEREREEL
ERNEB)REZFNERARE
1,000,000 (ZZE==F+= A
=+—H: AR% 1,000,000t (&
FTE - EIKIR AR L FE NS Eﬁ&)
RZZZNF+=—A=+—8"
%E/\Eﬁ%zzmoooﬁ(:;%:z
F+-A=Z+—HB BESEA
/)\L@JEJE\"

J%W EARERE—BrHE
FemaERt AEMABEE
HEFBERHFOF BN B

HwFEMIFE29

ERMAEEENTE=ZANE
HRE ZRENEELAEAR
¥ 42,361,000 7T #) & 1& 78 [ 3% &
EBEMR - R_TE-_mMFE+=A
=+—HB8 ' AR¥2,683,0005 (=
TZ=F+ZA=1+—H ARH
1211500071)“*@%;@@1;0
MEREEHERSNERKE
ol E1E -

Hith BB - A REERER
MERARRGMER A E - KREE
BfE@BEEH AR 1,265,193,000
TR-ZZE-MNF+=ZA=+—8H

NEARBEE - RIBEHEZFIEE
IRARER RIS 2 Wi - EHAEAREE

FOREHINE THAEME - AE

T AE O A R AR o
EREBKEECRBE  HIZER
SREMNFEETNE -

HAR

28. OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Other borrowings consist of borrowings amounting to RMB32,254,000
(31 December 2023: Nil) from third parties, which are interest-
bearing, unsecured and repayable in one year, borrowings amounting
to RMBS8,289,000 (31 December 2023: RMB39,889,000) from a non-
controlling shareholder of a Group's subsidiary, which are interest-
bearing, unsecured and repayable in five to seven years, and, a borrowing
amounting to RMB1,000,000 (31 December 2023: RMB1,000,000) from
a third party, which is interest-bearing, unsecured and repayable in seven
years. As at 31 December 2024, RMB32,254,000 (31 December 2023: nil)
of the total amount was classified as current liabilities.

Certain financial liabilities that are part of the supplier finance arrangements
were included in other current liabilities. Details of the supplier finance
arrangements are included in note 29 to the financial statements.

Sale and leaseback represents long-term payable to a third party which
was secured by mortgage over the sale and leaseback equipment with an
aggregate carrying value of RMB42,361,000. There was RMB2,683,000
classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023:
RMB12,115,000). No gain or loss was recognized on the sale and leaseback
transaction.

Others represent the redemption liabilities in relation to the investments
in subsidiaries' shares by third party investors. Of the total outstanding
liabilities, RMB1,265,193,000 was classified as current liabilities as at
31 December 2024. Pursuant to the agreements with non-controlling
shareholders, capital contribution and related shares being transferred shall
be redeemed by the Group upon the occurrence of certain contingent
events which cannot be controlled by the Group. The redemption
obligations give rise to financial liabilities, which are measured at the net
present value of the redemption amounts.
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29. EF R EMENERR 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EZMEF —E-=F
2024 2023
Bt 5E ARET R AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B SRR Trade payables (i) 241,933 215,150
RS Deposit payables 284,840 359,872
RS R EREE Accrued reimbursement to distributors 333,920 336,784
Uit BE B /8 22 A FE - BR 3k Payable for acquisition of a subsidiary 300,000 300,000
H M E AR SR Other payables 225,085 181,506
BERAK AR K R IR BB FE A AR S Costs of construction and purchase of
equipment payables 109,126 142,757
EREe Salaries payable 65,482 80,584
i 9t R 5 35 5 2 IR S BR K Payable for research and development expenses 78,047 76,113
FERFILE Interest payable 12,613 11,439
ENRE Notes payable 31,244 5,462
FEAT B A RIR IR Amounts due to associates 36 1,234 800
FERRE Dividends payable 4,354 358
#t Total 1,687,878 1,710,825
)y EBIENERBTHE  FHEE (i) The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of

HAE40K -

RER BHENEFRERERMAR

40 days.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the year, based on the

RERERR DTN ¢ invoice date, is as follows:
—ENEF —E-=
2024 2023
AR® T AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
618 A A Within 6 months 138,888 192,203
6MRAZE1EF 6 months to 1 year 91,983 7,069
—&F Mk More than 1 year 11,062 15,878
it Total 241,933 215,150
B REMEMNERNAFEHELRE The fair values of trade and other payables approximate to their carrying amounts.
BEE
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31 DECEMBER 2024

29.

EFREMEMNSERR @

FAEZENERRAEMABDEENS
MAE(RAEEHERRE RN —&
o) R FHREE -

AEEERESIPEAL T 2HER
HERERRERS HEFIETH
BLEBEEZT BETINERE
LEARCWRSHEES  BRRAE
AREBE - REZHHA ZALER
RH R E 2 Nk B & (e IE
MEMBERLT  AREERERER
IR ERERERHE2REAH
MEEHRERNRAGEERER - @4
FER N RIGR L R LA SR BHE
i o AREB IR EVE R R R LR -

ERHERRELZ —BoNMATHE
BEDBIRBBRAER P AEMR
BE - WA ARMERNRB LD

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The financial liabilities that are part of the Group’s supplier finance arrangements
included in other current liabilities are normally settled on 1-year terms.

The Group has established supplier finance arrangements that are offered to some
of the Group’s key suppliers in Mainland China. Participation in the arrangements
is at the suppliers’ own discretion. In order for the finance provider to pay the
invoices, the goods must have been received or supplied and the invoices must
have been approved by the Group. Payments to suppliers ahead of or at the
invoice due date are processed by the finance provider and, in all cases, the Group
settles the original invoice by paying the finance provider in line with the original
invoice maturity date or at a later date as agreed with the finance provider.
Payment terms with suppliers have not been renegotiated in conjunction with the
arrangements. The Group provides no security to the finance provider.

All financial liabilities that are part of the supplier finance arrangements are
included in other current liabilities in the statement of financial position and
within the current portion of other borrowings.

—E_NEF —E=-= —==-=
+=ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+—H —HA—H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
ARBT T ARETR AR®BT R
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
HERMERHE D2 Carrying amount of financial liabilities
TR EREERA that are part of the supplier finance
arrangements included in:
HEtnshaE Other current liabilities
E A e 2 WO R of which suppliers have received
payments 32,254 = =
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30. 5N EE 30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—B-NEF —EC=F
2024 2023
AR®TT ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ERNEEBE-RY Contract liability - current
BEPUEIM B Advances from customers 89,154 118,615
o SHAE MY E W e (i) Deferred revenue for sales of distribution rights (i) 12,183 13,170
5t Total 101,337 131,785
EREBE-FRD Contract Liability - Non-Current
2 SHAE Y IE TE W a= (i) Deferred revenue for sales of distribution rights (i) 202,651 44,190
EHEBERELEEEEMREREM Contract liabilities include advances received for sales of pharmaceutical products
BRI EAR - DA S 9 SR IR A I 2 - and medical aesthetic products, and deferred revenue for sales of distribution
rights.
() HEIRmMS>EBHLELARRLZE (i) It represents the cash advances received for sales of distribution rights of
TEENETEEZEER Y HED certain pharmaceutical products to distributors for a period of five to fifteen
IR S B - years.
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31.

246

i fiE B 18 31. DEFERRED TAX
FRELHEEERABZHOT The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:
EERBEE Deferred tax assets
£ER
Y DREHEN BegE
BRAE AERER EiER  EBEAED @ REEERE HERE @it
The
government
Unrealised subsidies
profit of associated Impairment
Impairment intra-group Accrued with of long-term Lease
of receivables sales expenses fixed assets assets liabilities Total
ARBFT ARBFT AREFT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZBZZ%5-A-H At 1 January 2023 11,150 16,505 68479 607 3 13,089 109,363
EMRFABANZ BN Deferred tax charged to the
EIERE (32 10) consolidated profit or loss
during the year (note 10) (3,742) (5,700) (54,937) (607) (18) (3953) (68,957)
RZE-=F+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2023 7408 10,805 13,542 - 15 9,136 40,906
RZE-RE-A-A At 1 January 2024 7408 10,805 13,542 - 15 9,136 40,906
E REABERAE/ Deferred tax redited/(charged) to
(S 88) MERHE the consolidated profit or loss
(1) during the year (note 10) 1,660 (9,726) 8,440 - (15) (4,949) (4,590)
RZF-ME+ZA=T-A At 31 December 2024 9,068 1,079 21,982 - - 4187 36,316

HARBARRERT SR S IRABERE
BE ARREERAERIAETHE
%“?; EEEA%EW%”ﬂ%%EEﬂEHﬁE
A E
IEA_’?_IZEI¢+ ﬁ + Elﬂﬁﬁ
B TE 5 18 A R 5 5,841,395,000 7T
(Z2==%: AR#¥5,194,860,000 L)
ERMECHIBEE -ZSEBEBANE
HUHERRERTES - BIEARYE
855,600,000 7T * A K #1,198,542,000
T~ AR ¥ 1,197,078,000T * AR
1,110,104,0007C + A K ¥ 1,000,607,000
T AR® 123,132,000t AR
36,062,000 7T + A R # 178,352,000 7T &
/\Eﬁﬁ?141,918,0007EH§’;AEU)‘5A:§:£

F ZE-_AF -ZFZ ‘t¢ -F
“NE B NF —F=FF =
B=—F —F=_FR-T==FIH-

MEREEZEREERFR

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent
that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the future taxable
profits is probable. Due to the fact that losses arising in certain subsidiaries
have continued for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised, the Group
did not recognise deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses amounting to
RMB5,841,395,000 (2023: RMBS5,194,860,000) as at 31 December 2024 that can
be carried forward to offset against future taxable profits. Losses amounting to
RMB855,600,000, RMB1,198,542,000, RMB1,197,078,000, RMB1,110,104,000,
RMB1,000,607,000, RMB123,132,000, RMB36,062,000, RMB178,352,000 and
RMB141,918,000 will expire in 2025, 2026, 2027, 2028, 2029, 2030, 2031, 2032
and 2033, respectively.
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31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

BELEBEEE Deferred tax liabilities
RAVE B2
HABES  BELR
BREEN RE&EMH FELH
AFERS AVERR NYERR BB EREEE @zt
Fair value
adjustment
of Fair value
Fair value investments adjustment
gain at fair value arising from
arising from through recognition Withholding Right-of-use
acquisitions profitorloss  of associates tax assets Total
AR¥ETFT ARETT ARETT AR¥ETFT ARETT AR¥ETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-E-=%—-H-H At 1 January 2023 18,733 1,312 14,995 64,000 13,089 112,129
FARGEERAAR Deferred tax credited to
AR (M510) consolidated profit or loss during
the year (note 10) (13,250) (472) (14,995) - (3,953) (32,670)
MZTZ=F+ZA=+—H At31December 2023 5,483 840 - 64,000 9,136 79,459
RZE-NE—-A—-AH At 1 January 2024 5,483 840 - 64,000 9,136 79,459
ENREGEBRAAR Deferred tax credited to
R RE (fEE10) consolidated profit or loss during
the year (note 10) (773) (289) - (64,000) (4,949) (70,011)
RZZZME+ZA=+—H At31 December 2024 4,710 551 - - 4,187 9,448

BREPRECEMSHE RPEAMBK
RSN EREREIMEEE T IR R
AEMI0%TEMB - WREE —FTTN
F-A-BERER UEAR_-_ZFTTL
FTZA=+—BEZAEN - BENE
B R & 5 B i BLE SR & & A
ERBRFAENBEOZBEATER - 3t
AEEME  BRAKEXR% - AEEER
itk 28 Bt E A B I A L B B B 2 R R
“EENF-A-HRRRZBNAS
R B BN TR ©

HE_T-_NF+_A=1+—HILFE "
AEEVERAEEEFBERNBRAY 2
BB A B 78 B A TE 0 B /0 R BB HE & A
R ZBNHRERECHE -EERA
ZEMB A RN RARKRTKABE DK
ERARH R-ZTE-_mMEF+=—_A=+—
B - B B At E A Rk B B R AR
BRELHEABENEREZERBNA
AR #109,495,000 T (Z T =-—=%F: A
R #41,992,0007T) °

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are
subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB109,495,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB41,992,000).
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31. I|MAEFE (2)
BREREMME  ETEEHELEER
BEE RGN E T - LT AR
B FEE 25 B ) S A 45 [ 403 E BB 4

31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

RO
“E-mEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
RERE MBI R R ERELET IR Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated

BEFE statement of financial position 32,129 31,770

RERE M BARR R ERELET IR Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated
BEFE statement of financial position 5,261 70,323

32. sTERITER 32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

—EomE —T-=F
2024 2023
BRAI=E BB A=
(%) A AR®TR (%) HEAE ARETRT
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB'000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
nE Current
BEPRITER Secured bank borrowings 2.80-4.50 2025 137,037 3.45-4.60 2024 269,680
mENEEE Total - current 137,037 269,680
ERE Non-current
BEPRITER Secured bank borrowings 3.45-4.60  2026-2035 704,747 2.80-490  2025-2035 864,142
FERE B Total - non-current 704,747 864,142
st Total 841,784 1,133,822
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—E-NEFZA=+—H

32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

(continued)

ZE-QNEF —E-=
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARKETT
RMB’'000 RMB’000

DR Analysed into:
AT - Bank borrowings:

E—FNRN Within the first year 137,037 269,680
E_ZERFA Within the second to fifth years 393,900 271,491
HBBERF Beyond the fifth year 310,847 592,651
Bt Total 841,784 1,133,822

(b)

AEBEETRITERBATEE
TR

0

(ii)

(iii)

WA EE B ERERA
R #626,749,000 T (= &
—=ZF+=ZA=+—H: A
R #940,714,0007T) W E
TH A - BRE AR

ERAEEETEHEFR
A R # 56,000,000 ¢ 2 5+ A
RBEETHNEERAER
(ZZBZ=F+=ZA=+—
H:ERBEEAREK
98,000,0007T) : K&

—KMBRARSE DR -

PRAERAARKEFHE -

(@  Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land and property, plant and
equipment with an aggregate carrying value of RMB626,749,000 (31
December 2023: RMB940,714,000);

(i) the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to
RMB56,000,000 included in pledged deposits under current assets

(31 December 2023: a non-current asset of RMB98,000,000); and

(i) a portion of equity interests in a subsidiary.

(b)  All borrowings are denominated in RMB.
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33. REEAMRE

33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

“E-NF —E=F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

bR A ES 18 Loss before tax (428,288) (161,260)

KUATIEE A% : Adjustments for:

—ME BERRENE — Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 182,382 165,447

—BEYENE — Depreciation of investment properties 11,863 9,323

—(ERBEENE — Depreciation of right-of-use assets 28,256 31,125

— BB EEH — Amortisation of intangible assets 35,925 20,338

—WREEE 2R FEE — Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 9,541 11,419
— 8B 5 K E M FE W AR K — Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade and other

BB, (BEERE) receivables 6,347 (7,953)

—DIEAERE AR E S REE - Share of profits and losses of investments accounted

for using the equity method 15,226 53,621
—BIEHEBE AR 2Rk — Gain on deemed disposal of interest in associates (13,198) (21,251)
—NEWE - WERREN — Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (i)

Wz (i) (1,268) (4,378)
—HE-—BEREMEN S — Gain on disposal of an investment property (10,930) -
—HE-—RBE AT E - Gain on disposal of an associate (35,000) -
—HEEFEAENERE — Loss on disposal of intangible assets 7.374 139
—HEFRAREAENKZE — Gain on disposal of right-of-use asset (400) (3,695)
—HEWBRRNEIR — Loss on disposal of subsidiaries - 558
—RATFEFENEVESHNATE — Gain on changes in fair value of wealth management

FE)as products, at fair value (2,284) (2,654)
—BATEFENIFLTRERED — Loss/(gain) on changes in fair value of unlisted equity

AR EEEER, (RE) investments, at fair value 23,376 (129,111)
— A H BERSM K — Share-based payments 418,020 89,084
—FBEFAX — Interest expense 274,931 269,337
—FMEHA — Interest income (175,548) (147,908)
EEEcPHEERERE Operating cash flows before working capital changes 346,325 172,181
EBAERBEES: Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

—-FE — Inventories 130,782 37,740
—B S REMEWIERR — Trade and other receivables (268,548) 265,793
— B 5 REMERRR — Trade and other payables (3,766) (198,812)
—AanaRE — Contract liabilities 128,013 6,382
REEENRE Cash generated from operations 332,806 283,284
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3B.REELENRE ) 33. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (continved)
() REERERERT HEME - (i) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of
WEMEEBNBHRERRE property, plant and equipment comprise:
—B-NEF —E=F
2024 2023
ARET R ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FERE Net book amount 2,445 11,160
HEDE - BERIHEOK R Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,268 4,378
HEWE - BB KRB ATGRIE Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3,713 15,538
3. REBERERMWEE 34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) EXFBREXRS (@) Major non-cash transactions
FR - AEEFERFEEZHEE During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
ZHHNERAEEEREESEN assets and lease liabilities of nil (2023: RMB20,560,000) and nil (2023:
FREREDFABARKES T (Z RMB20,560,000), respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for plant
T_-_=%: AE®20,560,0007T) and equipment.

RARBEL(ZZZ=4F: AR
# 20,560,000 7T) ©
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3. MEBRERERMT 2 34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) MEFEFRELNEE

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

BE
—EB-REF 2024
&
AFRMBz RITEXRR
EAFE HESE RS EOEE Hitnfg &
Redemption
liabilities on Bank
Interest Lease Dividend subsidiaries’ and other
payables liabilities payables shares  borrowings
ARBTRT AR%BTn AR%®Tr AR%Tn AR%Txn
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R-E-m&E—F—8 At 1 January 2024 11,439 42,661 358 3,015527 1174711
BERSREEENE Changes from financing cash flows (43,463) (8,095) (179,431) (785,270) (291,384)
“E-MEPHEE 2024 interim dividend - - 177,080 - -
T 42 AR B BT 1+ B B Dividends to non-controlling shareholders - - 6,347 - _
RAAEHBUEMH & Disposals as a result of contract cancellation - (12,225) - - -
B Interest expense 44,637 1,544 - 228,750 -
RZZZWMF+=A=+—H At31 December 2024 12,613 23,885 4,354 2,459,007 883,327

252 VOB ZIER & E AR A A SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



3. FEBERERMT w0

(b) MEFEFRELNEE

B 1S R M e
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—E-NEFZA=+—H

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

BE () (continued)
—E-=F 2023
bt
DAz  RAERR
FERT IS HEBE FERTAR 2 BO&E HibtgE
Redemption
liabilities on Bank
Interest Lease Dividend  subsidiaries’ and other
payables liabilities payables shares borrowings
ARBTT ARETT AR®TR ARBTT ARETRT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
RZE-_=F—F—H At 1 January 2023 9,921 59,040 353 2,804,261 1,189,640
BEREREELNE Changes from financing cash flows (53,980) (16,453) (298,560) - (14,929)
mHE New leases - 20,560 - - -
TR CERPRS Final 2022 dividend - - 298,560 - -
L Exchange realignment - - 5 - -
EEHEUET L E Disposals as a result of contract cancellation - (23,059) - - -
S Interest expense 55,498 2,573 - 211,266 -
RZEZ=ZF+=ZA=+—H At31December 2023 11,439 42,661 358 3,015,527 1,174,711

() HERSARLAE
SFARAREREROBEERS

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is

MR as follows:

ZECQNEF —E-=
2024 2023
AR TR ARKETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
KEEBA Within operating activities 3,054 4,506
A EENA Within financing activities 8,095 16,453
11,149 20,959
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35. &g 35. COMMITMENTS
(a) EXREIE (a) Capital commitments
RERREE A AT E AR The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the year:
—g-me —F-=%
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BRTAE R B - Contracted, but not provided for:
W - WE KRB Property, plant and equipment 155,035 225,065
BICEE—ETTERME Intangible assets — product development in progress 26,720 110,699
At Total 181,755 335,764
(b) HEFRE (b) Lease commitments
RERRNEBB U THEZARE : The Group had the following lease commitments at the end of the year:
—E-MF —EZ=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
[EEEEE S L= Contracted, but not provided for:
EEAAEREEELAERS Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 195 1,917
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36. BAEE X 5 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
REFRNZETERBRRBESHEE The ultimate controlling shareholders of the Group are Dr. Che Fengsheng, Dr.
R EEE RMEEEMAETELE - Guo Weicheng, Dr. Zhang Jionglong and Mr. Meng Xianhui.

BB RiE LA MR T

Name and relationship with related parties are as follows:

=L B&

Name Relationship

BT ExegxF

Dr. Che Fengsheng Chairman of the board of directors
IERREREAR AR ([HERBE]) REE® B E QT

Beijing Ruiye Drugs Manufacture Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Ruiye”) Associate of the Group
BIERBEREFARAR (CRLEXRE]D REE® B E QT

Tonghua Tianshi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Tonghua Tianshi") Associate of the Group
EMERRRTIREARAA ([HMEE]) REERBE QT

Jilin Zesheng Environmental Protection Engineering Co., Ltd.
("Jilin Zesheng™)
Sihuan Strides (HK) Limited ([ Sihuan Strides])
Sihuan Strides (HK) Limited (”Sihuan Strides”)
IREBREYHEBRBER AR ([HEREE]D)
Beijing Jingyan Biomaterial Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Jingyan")

Associate of the Group

REENEERE
Joint venture of the Group
REENEERE

Joint venture of the Group
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36. BEERR B () 36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
MU HREEMBOAFLANZT S RE In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in the financial
BN REBRFRNEITHRZ SRR statements, the Group had the following transactions during the year and
o NFE+ A=+ BRI ¢ balances as at 31 December 2024:
—EMEF —T-=F
) 2024 2023
Bt ARETR AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
REBE QRO B BA Interest income from associates
—Jb R - Beijing Ruiye 7,170 11,462
—EMER — Jilin Zesheng 3,225 4,728
LN - Tonghua Tianshi 2,681 2,755
13,076 18,945
RE—RAEDTENETERSKUA  Management service income from a joint venture 0]
—Sihuan Strides — Sihuan Strides 926 920
KE -—REERRNFHKA R&D income from a joint venture 0]
—JtRRE - Beijing Jingyan 95 26
BERB-—EVEEER Purchase of service — waste disposal charges (i)
—EHMEE — Jilin Zesheng 2,754 2,096
BEEM Purchases of goods (i)
—@tRE - Tonghua Tianshi 584 182
A& D EK IR Loans to associates — non-current 21
—Jb RS — Beijing Ruiye (i) - 93,000
— L@l — Pharmadax (Foshan) (iii) - 105,000
—EERE — Tonghua Tianshi (iv) - 60,000
- 258,000
M E R EER R Loans to associates — current 23
— bR E — Beijing Ruiye (i) 121,500 150,000
—EHMEE — Jilin Zesheng (iv) 93,188 90,605
—BltRE — Tonghua Tianshi (iv) 62,562 2,920
277,250 243,525
FEU —REG & N RIRIFRIE Amount due from an associate (v)/23
—HWERE — Jilin Zesheng 224 224
U —RE & QRIS Dividends receivable from an associate (V)23
—R{tXRE - Tonghua Tianshi 40,912 40,912
Bl —RELELEREA Amount due from a joint venture (v)/23
—Sihuan Strides — Sihuan Strides 1,193 4,478
JE W — 42 B gt 77 k1B Amount due from a related party (v)/23
—BEAEE - Dr. Che Fengsheng 9,600 9,600
FE B 2 R BRI FRIR Amounts due to associates (v)/29
—E MR — Jilin Zesheng 1,234 595
L N — Tonghua Tianshi = 205
1,234 800
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36. BEERR F ()

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BEERRBINILERATER
BREARBEE -

[AIBE & A RIE R EE NI B R
BHEA - EPh AR 121,500,000
TRR-B-RAFXN - FISEEF
5% E -

REBR_ZT_NF+AHEZ
B nm ﬁﬁuxﬂmﬁzﬁ$%lﬁ’l
FERARE DT

ﬁﬂZ%ﬁ / Tf'ﬁﬁmﬁm
TR AR iW?ZH fljgti
H31% Z248%E -

F”ai#i

% R AEER 2R REEE
S5 -

EEEERAFENMEHBOT

B 75 R B ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8

31 DECEMBER 2024

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

The terms of sales and purchases were mutually agreed between the

parties with reference to the ordinary course of business.

The loan to an associate, Beijing Ruiye, was secured, among which
RMB121,500,000 was payable in 2025. Interest is charged at 5% annually.

The Group disposed of the associate in October 2024 and the entity

became a non-related party to the Group.

The loans to these associates were unsecured and payable in one year.

Interest is charged from 3.1% to 4.8% annually.

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of

repayment.

Details of key management compensation during the year are as follows:

—B-NEF —E-=F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

REEEREN Short term employee benefits 16,257 16,785

LARR D BETEEH R Share-based payment 884 1,712

FENEA BIE A B2 Total compensation paid to key management personnel 17,141 18,497
HE_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HILFE During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has not conducted any

$¢@Iﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂvatmﬁ%E
TEH Eﬁﬁ&igﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ@%ﬁ&i%
RFBEMER S (FRR ETHEA) -

connected transaction or continuing connected transaction (as defined under the

Listing Rules) which is subject to reporting and annual review requirements under

the Listing Rules.
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37. £ T ES M 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CATEGORY
RER SHEAISHITAMNREBEDT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the

end of the year are as follows:

—E-EF 2024
SREE Financial assets
RAFETA
R 8RR A BRAFEFTA Hp 2 mEUk &
STENEREE BENEREE HemEE war
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
Financial fair value  through other
assets at through comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income Total
AR®TT AR¥ T AR®TT AR® T
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
BAFEFABERD Financial assets at fair value
SREE through profit or loss - 281,029 - 281,029
EREER Notes receivable - - 94,283 94,283
B 5 & E A fEWGRIR Trade and other receivables
(TBREFEEMAFH) excluding prepayments 1,211,001 - - 1,211,001
HinIEmeh & & Other non-current assets
(TEEEMNF) excluding prepayments 124,819 - - 124,819
TEHITF K Time deposits 244,000 - - 244,000
[REE RN Pledged deposits 99,423 - - 99,423
BekREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,522,383 - - 3,522,383
5,201,626 281,029 94,283 5,576,938

258  PUMBEE @R[k & @A R 2 8 SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



B 75 R B ot

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EZMF+=RA=+—H
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37. &M I A B 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CATEGORY (continved)
RER SHEAISHITAMNREBEDT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the
(#) end of the year are as follows: (continued)
—E-NEF 2024
SRBeE Financial liabilities
28§ ]2%:S
FTENEmAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AR® T
RMB’000
HAn B3R Other borrowings 41,543
HEARE Lease liabilities 23,885
E&MAE Sale and leaseback 35,553
TRIRTTER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 841,784
WEBARKOHWEREE Redemption liabilities on subsidiaries’ shares 2,459,007
B RHMEMABRR(TEIEIELBEE) Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 1,622,396
5,024,168
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37. M IESE

RER  BRMNEBRTANEEENT

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the

(#) end of the year are as follows: (continued)
—E-=F 2023
SREE Financial assets
BAFERA
RS AR BRATERA H fth 2 E e
AENEREE BROemEE e R EE #B5
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
Financial fair value through other
assets at through comprehensive
amortised cost profit or loss income Total
ARBFTT ARMEFIT ARETIT AREFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
BATFEGFABRD Financial assets at fair value
CRVEE through profit or loss - 943,291 - 943,291
e = 1% Notes receivable - - 60,256 60,256
B 5 REMEWKFRIE Trade and other receivables
(M EETERN ) excluding prepayments 984,883 - - 984,883
HinIEmeh & & Other non-current assets
(M EETERN ) excluding prepayments 319,533 - - 319,533
EHTFR Time deposits 130,000 - - 130,000
EHEMER Pledged deposits 112,756 - - 112,756
ReRkReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 3,778,666 - - 3,778,666
5t Total 5,325,838 943,291 60,256 6,329,385
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EZMF+=RA=+—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the

(#) end of the year are as follows: (continued)
T =F 2023
SRBeE Financial liabilities
bi7& £ o[BWN
ATENSRAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
AREFIT
RMB'000
EHM{ER Other borrowings 40,889
HEARE Lease liabilities 42,661
E&MAE Sale and leaseback 33,823
FRERITIER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 1,133,822
WBARKRNWEREE Redemption liabilities on subsidiaries’ shares 3,015,527
B RHMEMABRR(TEIEIELBEE) Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities 1,630,241
wEt Total 5,896,963
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3. 2RI TEMAFERAYF 38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

B8 & FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
REMEEAAFEGEMEERIEAF The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other
B ENHERIAN AEESRT than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values or
EMEERERATFENT : those measured at fair value, are as follows:
REE AYE
Carrying amounts Fair values
—E-mE —E-=4% —E-mE —E-=4%
2024 2023 2024 2023
AR®BT R AREFT ARET R AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SRMEE Financial assets
mEEE AT ER (FERE) Loans to associates (non-current) - 258,000 - 250,343
Hith EUBR X (GETRED) Other receivables (non-current)

(BEMEZHFER) (including loans to third parties) 123,068 58,533 127,768 58,037
EEt Total 123,068 316,533 127,768 308,380
cRas Financial liabilities
EEGR(RERERN) Other borrowings (other than lease

liabilities) 77,096 74,712 77,738 86,228
FTERRITER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 841,784 1,133,822 875,274 1,159,567
HEt Total 918,880 1,208,534 953,012 1,245,795
EREDGEReRREEFEY A Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
B NEMEWEREARN SR E E NN financial assets included in trade and other receivables, financial liabilities included
ABSREMENERNEREEND in trade and other payables approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
FEEAREAEMRS  FTZHRZET the short-term maturities of these instruments.

BEHIR®E -

CREERBENATENEBERS A The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount
CRAYFREHERIN EENRZH A at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
RHGWZIESEAR - B AT willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods
B ERBRAT and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values.
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38. SMTEMNATERAT

BRE& =

MEE QR ERBERRIEREH A
FEMBR K - B E IR - 5T BHBRITERD
AFEERBAMBEEHRRESRE -
FRAGEUFE EERRLFESGH
RO T AR SO ERETTE - R
—TE_ME+-_A=+—HB A£EA
BWEFRRBEHER BN D FEEE
WRHEBTERK -

ARBRERIELTRE  BF AN
ROTBITHITHES - ARBEEE AR
RRELREHEHY  RBELEHR
BROHTANTHHEEERFFLT
BANATAE -

BRAFEFABEOIFELTRERED
NEEDNRBEWIEHATRMESR L ES
BrBRE FEATSBEEAREERN - F
BEREERETE HE- - BELE
BMETANELBEARAR  WHt#AE
WEAELRARAAFESBERS
BoPmrEEBEERAE HE T
ERBar&F ([EV/EBITDAD) SH & (B
BE AR ([PEDEE - FHIIARTELL
BARNCEEERINARFNESAER
e R GBEASATELBERABRER
RIBEARAZRERANZREZ  flandk
TEBMRBEZE TR - BHBEG
BARFELITRERENAERFEGS
Nt EATFE EFRAMBELEZGBD
st A FE (REREEHBRRE)
MEEATEEZS RENGEEDR) B
A8 WAFREABEMER -

HRRATFEFARMEEREHNIE L
MRERENATE BEECDHE
RERATMBERITAERGEERES
BOBEZE

B 1S R M e
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NEFZA=+—H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of non-current loans to associates and non-current other
receivables, notes receivables, interest-bearing bank borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
borrowings as at 31 December 2024 were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth management
products issued by banks in Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair
value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation
model based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and
risks.

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated at fair value through
profit or loss have been estimated using a market-based valuation technique
based on assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices or rates.
The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable public companies
based on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate
price multiple, such as enterprise value to earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") multiple and price to earnings (“P/E")
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated by
dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by an earnings measure.
The trading multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and
size differences between the comparable companies based on company-specific
facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the corresponding
earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments to measure the fair value.
The directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in the consolidated
profit or loss, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at
the end of the year.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income, management has estimated the potential effect of using
reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation model.
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3. 2RI TEMAFERAYF 38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

BEEHR = FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
NEEER Fair value hierarchy
TRINGFAEESRIANATENE The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s
B - financial instruments:
ERTFEFENEE - Assets measured at fair value:
R-ZB-WFE+=—A=+—H As at 31 December 2024
BRUTREFEAFE
Fair value measurement using
RERT 5 BXTH BEAFRH
ZRE BE2Y BE2Y
(B—%) (B=4) (B=#4) st
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Tota
AR®T R AR®T AR®T R AR®T
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BATEFABEN Financial assets at fair value through
FRBE: profit or loss:
BATEFENFLT Unlisted equity investments,

RiE&RE at fair value - - 170,451 170,451
BHE® Wealth management products - 110,578 - 110,578
BATEFAEMZE Debt instruments at fair value

WEHHERTIA through other comprehensive

income:
ERRE Notes receivable - 94,283 - 94,283
@t Total - 204,861 170,451 375,312

264 DU 35 58 ZEPR AR & B 5 fR 2 & SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.



3. £ MTEMNAFERAYF
EEAR =
NFEER#)

HAFEFENEE  (8)
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)
As at 31 December 2023
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BUATREGEATE

Fair value measurement using

31 DECEMBER 2024

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

KBRS EyNGl] BEANT]
ZRE BE28 BE24
(B—&) (B=®) (B=&) w@st
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BATEFABEN Financial assets at fair value through
SREE: profit or loss:
BATEFENFLT Unlisted equity investments,

RiERE at fair value - - 354,275 354,275
BHE® Wealth management products - 589,016 - 589,016
BATEFAEMZE Debt instruments at fair value

haEmEETIA: through other comprehensive

income:
LR E Notes receivable - 60,256 - 60,256
gt Total - 649,272 354,275 1,003,547
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TATEMENTS

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of financial
instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December

2024 and 2023:

SREE DAVEER fhER % EXTABEZY HE ATLEHSHNHBE
Fair value Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value

Financial assets hierarchy technique unobservable input Range to the input

FETRERE F=/ ERE RIFTH)F 9T Bk R fE 81 0.24-3.52 LN, AL 5% (ZEZ=5F
TZA=+—H:5%) §EHR
FEEMHD5% (2T ==
F+ZA=+—H:5%)

Unlisted equity Level 3 Valuation multiples  Average price-to-book ratio ~ 0.24-3.52 5% (31 December 2023: 5%)

investment multiple of peers increase/decrease in multiple

266 DU 35 58 ZEPR AR & B 5 fR 2 & SIHUAN PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS GROUP LTD.

would result in increase/decrease
in fair value by 5%
(31 December 2023: 5%)



3. £ MTEMNAFERAYF

BRE& =
ATEEBR @

BAFEHEHAE
TR

(#)

E=RANATEFEZIHNT :

B 75 R B ot

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—EZMF+=RA=+—H
31 DECEMBER 2024

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year are as

follows:

—B-NEF —ET-=F
2024 2023
ARET R ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB'000
TH’A$Equ)\TEmE']HﬂZ£&§ : Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss:

R—A— At 1 January 354,275 225,169
NE Addition 110,867 -

RE Disposal (271,315)
NEEESHHF (B1B) WE Net (loss)/gain from change in fair value (23,376) 129,106
R+=—A=+—H At 31 December 170,451 354,275

BAFEIENALME
W-F-mFR-F-=F+=

A

=t—H AEEHEEMELTER

EMTRARE-

TR BEATHEFEESE—
%&ZF&L%’? HZMES
BEmMsMEAFE=
TEF ) e

REALEH (—

WMAE =
%ﬁ?&é@

Liabilities measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31

December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets

and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

FZ 34 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 267



B 05 R 2R P 5
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NE+-A=1+—H

3. 2RI TEMAFERAYF 38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

BEE&K 2 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
NFEER#) Fair value hierarchy (continued)
BELNFENEE - Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

R-E-_NME+=-RA=+—H As at 31 December 2024

BUTREFEATE
Fair value measurement using

RERTE BEXA BEART

ZHE B2y 522y
(B-&) (B=®) (B=®) st

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥T AR% TR AR¥ TR AR% TR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

A FE MR IE (FERED) Other receivables (non-current)
(BERE=ZFER) (including loans to third parties) - 127,768 - 127,768
R-ZTE-_=F+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023
BATEEFEATE
Fair value measurement using

K& T % BRA BRIA

(B BR2H BR2H
(%) (B=R) (F=R) f@st

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
mEE QR ERGERE) Loans to associates (non-current) = 250,343 = 250,343

Hfth FEURIE (GERED) Other receivables (non-current)

(BEME=FER) (including loans to third parties) = 58,037 = 58,037
wt Total - 308,380 - 308,380
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2024

31 DECEMBER 2024

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

BUTHEFEDFE
Fair value measurement using

RERTE BAA BEART

ZHE B2y B2y
(B—#) (B=#) (B=#) et

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥ T AR% TR AR¥ TR AR%®T
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

BR(AEBERKRIN Other borrowings
(other than lease liabilities) - 77,738 - 77,738
FHESRITER Interest-bearing bank
borrowings - 875,274 - 875,274
FE Total - 953,012 - 953,012
R-B-=F+-"A=+—H As at 31 December 2023
BATEEGFEATE
Fair value measurement using

&R T5 EAA] BARA

2B BR2% BR2Y
(B—%) (B=4) (B=#) HEt

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETTT ARBT T ARETT ARKETT
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

HiE R (REEERIN Other borrowings
(other than lease liabilities) - 86,228 - 86,228
FTERITIER Interest-bearing bank

borrowings - 1,159,567 - 1,159,567
it Total - 1,245,795 = 1,245,795
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

39.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
is RMB. Most of the revenues of the Group are derived
from operations in the PRC. The financial instruments of
the Group are mainly denominated in RMB. The conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
PRC government. The main foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities of the Group were certain cash and cash
equivalents (note 24), which were denominated in United
States dollars (“USD"), Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and Euro
("EUR"). In the opinion of the executive directors of the
board of the Company, the Group does not have significant
exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedge
policy.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/strengthened
by 3% (31 December 2023: 3%) against USD with all other
variables held constant, the loss before tax for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would have been approximately
RMB22,777,000 (2023: RMB8,177,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of
the USD-denominated cash and cash equivalents.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

()

(i)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/strengthened
by 3% (31 December 2023: 3%) against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, the loss before tax for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would have been approximately
RMB757,000 (2023: RMB1,030,000) lower/higher, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of the
HKD-denominated cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2024, if RMB had weakened/strengthened
by 3% (31 December 2023: 3%) against EUR with all other
variables held constant, the loss before tax for the year ended
31 December 2024 would have been nil (2023: RMB51,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of the EUR-denominated cash and cash
equivalents.

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to any significant equity market
risk, nor exposed to any commodity price risk.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@)

(b)

Market risk (continued)

(iii)  Interest rate risk
The interest-bearing assets and liabilities of the Group mainly
include the wealth management products, cash and cash
equivalents, other borrowings and interest-bearing bank
borrowings, details of which have been disclosed in notes 20,
24, 28 and 32 to the financial statements, respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables,
notes receivable, wealth management products and other
receivables.

All the cash equivalents and bank deposits are placed in certain
PRC reputable financial institutions and high-quality international
financial institutions outside Mainland China. All those irrevocable
bank bills, classified as notes receivable (note 23), are issued by the
banks in the PRC with high credit rating. There was no recent history
of default of cash equivalents and bank deposits in relation to these
financial institutions.

In relation to trade receivables, the Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk and has policies in place to ensure that
certain cash advance has been received upon the agreement of the
related sales orders with customers. For those with credit periods
granted, the credit quality of the counterparties is assessed by taking
into account their financial position, credit history and other factors.
The Group also undertakes certain monitoring procedures to ensure
that proper follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group regularly performs ageing analysis, assesses credit risks
and estimates the recoverability regarding such receivables based
on historical date and cash collection history of groups of trade
receivables bearing similar credit risk.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Wealth management products are the bank financial products
issued by certain PRC reputable banking institutions. There was no
recent history of default and the executive directors of the board of
the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk related to the
investments is low.

In relation to other receivables, the credit quality of the debtors is
assessed by taking into account their financial position, relationship
with the Group, credit history and other factors. Management will
also regularly review the recoverability of these other receivables and
follow up on the disputes or amounts overdue, if any. The executive
directors of the board of the Company are of the opinion that the
default by counterparties is low.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on ageing information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amount presented is gross carrying amount for
financial assets.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
39.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

12188
BEHEEESE 2HENEERR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
ER 12 EIRER EIWER k[P st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
mEEEREER Loans to associates 277,250 - - - 277,250
F’ﬂﬁlé%ﬁ%*ﬂ B Amount due from a joint
venture 1,193 - - - 1,193
FENREE = R EIFRIE Amount due from an associate 224 - - - 224
B 5 MR > Trade receivables* - - - 561,940 561,940
JEWEIE — IEH ** Notes receivable — normal** 94,283 - - - 94,283
FEH IR B Dividends receivable 40,912 - - - 40,912
FTATEZIE - EMEK  Financial assets included in
BRAREMEED prepayments,
imﬂﬁ? EF** other receivables and
other assets — normal** 543,318 - - - 543,318
EHTF R —RaE Time deposits — not yet
past due 244,000 - - - 244,000
BEERTER—REH Pledged deposits — not yet
past due 99,423 - - - 99,423
RekBReEEY Cash and cash equivalents —
— K@ 5 not yet past due 3,522,383 - - - 3,522,383
et Total 4,822,986 - - 561,940 5,384,926
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) EEREE#) (b) Credit risk (continued)
AR R FE K5 R (E) Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
RIZEZ=F+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2023
1218 A
HHEEEE 2 HEBEEEE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F1RBR F2ME R F3MRE GEapzs Bt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
MEEERRER Loans to associates 501,525 - - - 501,525
%”é%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ Amount due from a joint
venture 4,478 - - - 4,478
JE Y Hsk i X R R IE Amount due from an associate 224 - - - 224
H SRR * Trade receivables* - - 393,211 393,211
JEWE I —IEH ** Notes receivable — normal** 60,256 - - - 60,256
U B2 Dividends receivable 40,912 - - - 40,912
FPAJERFIE - B Financial assets included in
BRAREMEED prepayments,
EREE-ER* other receivables and
other assets — normal** 448,027 - - - 448,027
T HTF Time deposits — not yet
—RBH past due 130,000 - - - 130,000
BEHEMREFER Pledged deposits — not yet
—RBH past due 112,756 - - - 112,756
RekBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents —
— KRB H not yet past due 3,778,666 - - - 3,778,666
st Total 5,076,844 - - 393,211 5,470,055
* MEAZE S EWEZTN * For financial assets included in trade receivables to which the Group
CREEMmMS ' AEH applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on
RS AERE the provision matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.
BIERHBERNEH R
BTSRRI FE 23 1R EE ©
*% MEt ATBR B - Hh =5 The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other
FEWERERHEMBEER receivables and other assets, and notes receivable is considered to be
FEREENSBEET “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information
KimEl - B mER @ indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit
RZESMEBEENEE risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
B2 B ¥ 44 7 7R LA 2R 78 financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
ZEm-AEERER
WREIEE] - B E'l
RECREENEEE
RWARIEIAIBE] -
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39. I ARERE @
39.1 I REEE &)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

() mEMERE (c) Liquidity risk
EEORDECEIERER Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient cash.
BHREG NEBHEFZTEH The Group maintains sufficient cash balances to provide flexibility in
MEEER UAEAEN meeting its day to day funding requirements.
BomRIBHEEN -
RZZE-_WMF+_A=+— The Group had net current assets of RMB2,407,147,000 which
H KREBEBRHEEF included cash and cash equivalents of RMB3,522,383,000 as at
B AR¥2,407,147,000 7T - 31 December 2024. The executive directors of the board of the
BEREMRESEEDAR Company are of the opinion that the Group maintains an adequate
#3,522,383,000 7T ° AN A A liquidity reserve.
EEQNTEFRAR AE
B @ mmnEE R
REBRERBEDIINOAL The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
IR FEAE S HARE of the year, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as
BRI - follows:
DPR—F 1255 BiB5F et
Less than
1 year 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
ARBTR ARBTT AR®BT AREBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—E-lmE 2024
B 5 I H & BR 5K Trade and other payables 1,622,396 - - 1,622,396
MEBARRNOERSRE Redemption liabilities on a
subsidiary’s shares 1,265,193 1,193,814 - 2,459,007
E&MmE Sale-leaseback 2,683 32,870 - 35,553
HERRE Lease liabilities 14,202 13,363 - 27,565
H Other borrowings 32,254 9,289 = 41,543
FTESRITER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 137,037 393,900 310,847 841,784
st Total 3,073,765 1,643,236 310,847 5,027,848
—E-=F 2023
B 5 I H A JE A BR5X Trade and other payables 1,630,241 - = 1,630,241
MEBARRNDOERS K Redemption liabilities on a
subsidiary’s shares 1,914,543 1,100,984 - 3,015,527
E1&HE Sale-leaseback 12,115 21,708 — 33,823
HEBE Lease liabilities 14,219 38,152 — 52,371
H g Other borrowings - - 40,889 40,889
FTESRITER Interest-bearing bank borrowings 269,680 271,491 592,651 1,133,822
fEt Total 3,840,798 1,432,335 633,540 5,906,673
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—E-mMFE+=-A=+—8
31 DECEMBER 2024

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

39.2 Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payments to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a debt to capital ratio, which is a
percentage of borrowings divided by equity attributable to owners of the
Company. Borrowings includes bank loans and other borrowings. The debt
to capital ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

—E-mE —E-=f

2024 2023

AR¥T T AREFTT

RMB’'000 RMB'000

H b R (ML 28) Other borrowings (note 28) 41,543 40,889
T RIBITER (M 32) Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 32) 841,784 1,133,822
883,327 1,174,711

AR AEL R Equity attributable to owners of the parent 4,372,258 4,432,130
BERENREE Debt to capital ratio 20.20% 26.50%

40. REMREE

AEERBERREZARE QML E

BEREMH-

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

this report.

The Group had no significant events after the reporting period up to the date of
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41. X E BRI K

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
—EMEF =%
2024 2023

B 5 AR®T T ARETTT

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
W - BB R Property, plant and equipment 3 3
R B RARIMIE Investments in subsidiaries 18 225,066 229,262
ERBEELRE Total non-current assets 225,069 229,265
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
E B AR 3R Other receivables 561 479
FEW S BB Rl kI8 Amounts due from subsidiaries 7,358,796 7,462,025
RekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 115,179 102,639
MBEERSE Total current assets 7,474,536 7,565,143
REBEME CURRENT LIABILITIES
E M ETRR SR Other payables 1,603,070 1,520,131
MBI EERRE Total current liabilities 1,603,070 1,520,131
BRBEE NET CURRENT ASSETS 5,871,466 6,045,012
HWEERRBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,096,535 6,274,277
R EQUITY
(N Share capital 77,058 77,058
=R g Treasury shares (11,297) (33,811)
&7 % B Share premium 3,882,304 3,882,304
w1 ) Reserves (i) 50,257 53,336
REB & F (i) Retained earnings (i) 2,098,213 2,295,390
iR TOTAL EQUITY 6,095,535 6,274,277
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41. XA 8 B AR T ) 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (continued)
() ARABFEERRBAFNEZHOT - (i) A summary of the Company’s reserves and retained earnings is as follows:
NRGHER
B 2 3% *E REER
Share-based
payment Retained
reserve Reserves earnings
AREFIT AREFIT ARBFT
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-ZE-_=9—HF—H At 1 January 2023 29,037 22,608 2,614,568
FEEIE Loss for the year - - (20,618)
B B IR BEEhE 2l Employee share award scheme
—EERBEE — value of employee services 1,691 - -
BB (BsE11) Dividends (note 11) - - (298,560)
RZZEZ=F+=ZRA=+—H
EZZ-mMFE—A—H At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 30,728 22,608 2,295,390
FEEBEER Loss for the year - - (20,097)
1B B iR 1 S2Eh =t 8l Employee share award scheme
—EERBKEE — value of employee services (3,079) - -
BRB (FzE11) Dividends (note 11) - - (177,080)
R-ZE-_WFE+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2024 27,649 22,608 2,098,213

42, #t M IS | R

42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RZZEZRF=A=+N\B MEHRE The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

MESGHERRERD -

directors on 28 March 2025.
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ih 26 Az HEH FERNEEENER
Location Use Lease term Attributable interest of the Group
BERREWE

Completed investment properties

BEREFEEB 15 [HES R HERTE A 100%
ERESHAKNE

4307 £4312F

Room 4307-4312 Commercial Medium term lease

Office Tower, Convention Plaza
1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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